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To Qur Stockholders

Varian, Inc. fiscal year 2008 revenue grew by 10% over fiscal year 2007, giving us a
compound annual growth rate of approximately 8% since our fiscal year 2000.
Operating margins were ralatively flaz in the year, but we generated cash flow from
operations of $79 million, which was 120% of net ezrnings.

Healthy demand for scientific instrumentation and vacuum products, in particular in
three applications we serve - environmental, energy and life science - was key 16 our
growth. The new produsts we released in fiscal 2008, as well as ones released in 2007,
spurred additional orders ahead of the typical purchasing cycle. Qur global sales team
continues to evolve to serve our customers; and in fiscal 2008, we added infrastructure
or staff in China, India, Mexico, Russia and Brazil to take advantage of these growing
econamies.

Total Sales*
(in millions) $1,013
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New Products Position Us Well For the Future
Research and developmant is at the core of the company, and it continues to be a

cornerstone for our growth.

We launched four news preduct platforms this year in: liquid chromatography, Fourier
transform mass spectrometry, Fourier transform infrared, and gas chromatography.
Each platform is offerec in a variety of configurations to fit our diverse customer needs.

In zddition to the new products from our research and development group, we gained
two new proguct platferms through acquisitions, We acquired Oxford Diffraction,
which added x-ray crystallography preducts alongside our nuclear magnetic
resonance, Fourier transform infrared and imaging products. Now we have a full
complement of scientific instrumentation for structural elucidation in drug discovery.
From the acguisition ol Analogix we gained flash chromatography products, which
means we now offer the most complete lineup of preparative to process scale liquid
chromatography instruments,

We launched a numter of new consumable products in the yvear. Three of the new

products are line extensions of very successful, existing products.

P The VF-Ent low blecd gas chromatography column extends our best-in-class
FactarFour line inta high temperature applications,

P Bond Elut™ Plexa™ PCX polymeric SPE extends the Plexa name into more
applications for simplified, high performance sample processing. |

D The Pursuit™ line o7 liquid chromatography columns now offers "fast LC* columns
in 2.4p and 2.8y particle sizes.

Lastly, we released new accessories for NMR and vacuum products that are designed
to expand the application reach for those products, such as the OneNMR™ probe for
double resonance applications, and a portable turbomolecular pumping system that
delvers oil-free high vacuum.

In fiscal 2008, almost 8086 of our revenues came from fife science and drug discovery,
environmental and f01d safety, of energy and raw materials.

There was increased demand for certain praducts in life science research, in particular

high-field nuclear magnetic resonance systems, and small ticket consumable products.
The nuclear magnetic resonance orders taken last year should ship in fiscal years 2009
and 2010.

Continued attention to environmental pollutants, from soil, water and air purity, to food
and toy safety, contributed to growth in environmental applications in all geographies,
especially in the “BRIC* countries.

Energy has been a factor in our growth over the fast few years, but in fiscal 2008, we
saw more energy applications in the form of solar energy, bio-fuels and fuel cells. We

have a range of technologies to support these new applications as they grow.

Sales by Region
FY 2008
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Major Steps in Our Initiative to Change Our Manufacturing Profile
In fiscal 2008 we took some major steps in our plan to change our manufacturing

O North America {32%}
@ Europe {40%)

) asia Pacific (22%)

Latin America (6%)

profile. Many of our gas chromategraphs and liguid chromatography systems are now
manufactured in Singapore and Malaysia. The transfer process was painful at times,
but we learned from it and now we are more confident in our ability to transfer other
routine products inte lower cost and lower taxed regions of the world. At the same
time, we shrank or closed several facilities in the US., including the infrared product
facility outside of Boston.

Consolidation of our twa facilities in northern California continues. At least 80% of our
NMR activities in Palo Alto have now moved to our mass spectrometry facility in Walnut
Creek. There is real excitement in the research and development groups s our nuclear
magnetic rescnance and mass spectrometry scientists combine reseurces and ideas, This
should create powerful synergies as well as reduce costs.

From the beginning, we have seen this change in manufacturing strategy as not only
critical to competing more effectively in the marketplace, but alsa to creating a culture

where we innovate and design everywhere, and manufacture anywhere.

Looking Forward

Fiscal 2009 wilt clearly be 2 challenging and difficult environment for us to work in. We
know that Varizn and our custemers are not immune to the global economic slowdawn.
However, we are in a good position to weather the downturn because we have:

* A broad porifolio of products and applications

* Many new major products

* An agile global distribution network

* A balance sheet with little debt

* Strong cash generating ability

* Steady recurring after-sales revenue

By continving to focus on our customers and carefully controliing our costs, we remain

confident in our prospects for the future.

474«

Garry W. Rogerson, President ond CEQ
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PART ]

Caution Regarding Forward-Laooking Statements

Throughout this Report, and particularly in frem [—Business. Item [A~Risk Factors and ltem 7—
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, there are
forward-looking statements that are based upon our current expectations, estimates and projections, and
that reflect our beliefs and assumptions based on information available to us at the date of this Report. In
some cases, you can idenlify these statements by words such as “may,” “might.” “will,” “should.”
“expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” or “‘continue,” and other
similar terms. These for'ward-looking statements include (but are not limited to) those relating to the timing
and amount of anticipated restructuring costs and related cost savings, whether and when backlog will
result in actual sales, and our expected effective annual tax rate and anticipated capital expenditures in
fiscal year 2009.

ALY Mo LY LI LI

We caution investors that forward-looking statements are only our current expectations about future
events. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Our actual results, performance or achievements
could differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Some of the
important factors that could cause our results to differ are discussed in frem [A—Risk Factors. We
encourage you to read that section carefully.

Other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from these in our
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to. the following: whether we will succeed in new
product development, release, commercialization, performance and acceptance; whether we can achieve
continued growth in sales for life science, environmental, energy. and/or applied research and other
applications; whether we can achieve continued sales growth in Europe, Asia Pacific and/or the U.S.; risks
arising from the timing of shipments, installations and the recognition of revenues on certain research
products, including nuclear magnetic resonance (“NMR™) spectroscopy systems, magnetic resonance
(“MR’} imaging systems and fourier transform mass spectrometry (“FTMS”) systems and superconducting
magnets; the impact of shifting product mix on profit margins; competitive products and pricing; economic
conditions in our product and geographic markets; whether we will see continued and timely delivery of
key raw.materials and components by suppliers; foreign currency fluctuations that could adversely impact
revenue growth and earnings; whether we will see continued investment in capital equipment. in particular
given the global liquidity and credit crisis; whether we will see reduced demand from customers that
operate in cyclical industries; the impact of any delay or reduction in government funding for research; our
ability to successfully evaluate, negotiate and integrate acquisitions, in particular given the greater
difficulty to borrow in the current credit environment; the actual costs, timing and benefits of restructuring
activities {such as our Northern California facilities consolidation) and other efficiency improvement
activities {such as our global procurement, lower-cost manufacturing and outsourcing initiative), the
variability in our effective income 1ax rate (due to factors including the timing and amount of discrete tax
everts and changes to the unrecognized tax benefits); the timing and amount of share-based compensation;
and other risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”). We undertake no special obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether in
response 10 new information, future events or otherwise.

Item 1. Business
GENERAL

Overview and History

Varian, Inc., together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company™), designs, develops,
manufactures, markets, sells and services scientific instruments (including analytical instruments, research
products and related software, consumable products. accessories and services) and vacuum products (and
related accessories and services), For financial reporting purposes, our operations are grouped into two
corresponding segments: Scientific Instruments and Vacuum Technologies. These segments, their products
and the applications in which they are used are described below.
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Varian, Inc. became a separate, public company on Apri] 2, 1999, Until that date, our business was
operated as the Instruments business of Varian Associates, Inc, (“VAI™). The Instruments business (which
included the business units that designed, developed, manufactured, marketed, sold and serviced scientific
instruments and vacvum products, and a business unit that provided contract electrenics manufacturing
services) was contributed by VAI to us, On that date, VAI distributed to holders of its common stock one
share of our common stock and one share of common stock of Varian Semiconductor Equipment
Associates, Inc. (“VSEA”), which was formerly operated as the Semiconductor Equipment business of
VAL, for each share of VAI common stock outstanding on April 2, 1999 (the “Distribution™). VAl retained
its Health Care Systems business and changed its name to Varian Medical Systems, Inc. (“VMS"). These
transactions were accomplished under the terms of an Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement
dated as of January 14, 1999 by and among us, VAl and VSEA (the “Distribution Agreement™).

Business Segments and Products

For financial reporting purposes, we have two business segments: Scientific Instruments and Vacuum
Technologies, which are described below.

The products and activities of these two segments are related in certain imporiant respects, particularly
product applications. In many ways, we view, manage, operate and describe our Company as being
comprised of a single business. Described below are our products by segment, but then separately
described are the primary applications for those products. '

Scientific Instruments Products

Our Scientific Instruments segment designs, develops, manufactures, markets, sells and services
products used in a broad range of life science (such as pharmaceutical), environmental, energy, and applied
research and other applications requiring identification, quantification and analysis of the elemental,
molecular, physical or biological composition or structure of liquids, solids or gases. These products
include analytical instruments (primarily mass spectrometers, chromatography instruments, optical
spectroscopy instruments -and dissolution testing equipment), research products (including nuclear
magnetic resonance {“NMR™)) spectroscopy systems. magnetic resonance {(“MR”) imaging sysiems,
Fourter Transform mass spectromeury (“FTMS™) systems, X-ray crysiallography systems and
superconducting magnets used in certain of these and other scientific instruments), consumable products
(including columns for gas and liquid chromatography and products for the preparation of samples prior to
analysis by gas and liquid chromatography) and related software, accessories and services.

Mass spectrometry (“MS™) is a technique for analyzing the individual chemical components of
substances by ionizing them and determining their mass-to-charge ratios. Our MS products incorporate
various technologies for measuring mass, including single-quadrupole, triple-quadrupole and ion trap mass
spectrometers, FTMS systems and .mass spectrometer leak detection systems. We combine our mass
spectrometers with other instruments to create high-performance instruments such as liquid chromatograph
mass spectrometers (“LC/MS™), liquid chromatograph nuclear magnetic resonance mass spectrometers
("LC-NMR/MS™), gas chromatograph mass spectrometers (“GC/MS™) and inductively coupled plasma
mass spectrometers (“ICP-MS”). We also offer related software and accessories for these and other similar
instruments.

Chromatography is a technique for separating, identifying and quantifying the individual chemical
components of substances based on the physical and chemical characteristics specific to each component.
Our chromatography instruments include gas chromatographs (*GC™), high-performance liguid
chromatographs (“HPL.C”), gel permeation chromatographs (“GPC”). flash chromatography instruments
and sample automation products. For certain applications, mass spectrometers are sold as a detector for GC
or HPLC systems. We also offer related software and accessories for these and other similar instruments.

Optical spectroscopy is a technique for analyzing the individual chemical components of substances
based on the absorption or emission of electromagnetic radiation of specific wavelengths of light. Our
optical spectroscopy instruments include atomic absorption (*AA”) spectrometers, inductively coupled
plasma-optical emissions spectrometers (“ICP-OES”),. inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometers




(“ICP-MS"). fluorescence spectrophotometers, ultraviolet-visible (“UV-Vis”) spectrophotometers, Fourier
Transform infrared (“FT-IR") spectrophotometers, near-infrared (“NIR"} spectrophotometers, Raman
spectrometers and sample automation products. We also offer related software and accessories for these
and other similar instruments.

Dissolution testing is a technique for in-vitro analysis of the rate of release of a drug under controlled
conditions. Our dissolution products include dissolution apparatus and other testers. software and
accessories used in analyzing the rate of release and testing the physical characteristics of different dosage
forms. Qur UV-Vis spectrophotometers are often used with these products. '

Our software products’ are used to automate, process, collect, manage, analyze and’store data
generated by anatytical instruments, and are often used for regulatory compliance purposes with respect to
such data. These products include chromatography data systems that allow users to control LC and GC
instruments from multipte suppliers on a smgle platforin and other software products tailored to specific
instruments and applications.

Magnetic resonance is a non-destructive instrumental technique that uses electromagnetic fields 1o
interact ‘'with the magnetic property of atomic nuclei in order to determine and analyze the molecular
content and structure of liquids and solids. Our NMR spectroscopy systems are used in the study of liquids
containing chemical substances, including proteins, ‘nucleic acids (DNA and RNA) and carbohydrates.
They are also used for the analysis of solid materials such as membranes, crystals, plastics, rubbers,
ceramics and polymers. Our MR imaging systems are used to obtain non-invasive images of primarily
biological materials and to probe the chemical processes within these materials. Our MR imaging systems
include human and other imaging systems used in research. We also offer probes, imaging gradient coils,
consoles, sofiware and other accessories to customers seeking to enhance NMR and MR imaging
performance. Our research products also include Fourier Transform mass spectrometer (“FTMS”) systems,
which is a technique for determining the function and stru¢tural characterization of proteins and other
biomolecules. Superconducting magnets are used in our NMR spectroscopy, MR imaging, FTMS and other
scientific (including life science) systems. We also sell these magnets directly to original equipment
manufacturers (“OEMSs”) (such as manufacturers of high-field MR imaging systems) and end-users.

X-ray crystallography is an analytical technique that uses a beam of X-rays to determine the
arrangement of atoms within a crystal. X-ray crystallography is used in ‘pharmaceutical and other research
laboratories to determine the structure of both small and large molecules (such as proteins). We also offer
related software, accessories and consumable products for these systems.

‘Our software products are used to automate, process, collect, manage and store data generated by
research products. These products include NMR and MR imaging data acquisition, processing, analysis and
display software for our complete’ line of NMR and MR imaging systems, FTMS and X-ray

crystallography systems, and other software products tailored to specific instruments and applications.
i - ‘

Our. consumable products are used in numerous laboratory applications and include: sample
preparation consumables such as solid phase. extraction (“SPE™) and filtration products used in tube
formats ¢o .clean up and extract complex samples for toxicology and environmental applications and in
96-well plate formats for drug discovery and clinical research applications; micro volume SPE pipette tips
used in protein research; polymeric particles used in the synthesis and purification of therapeutic
compounds, and for clinical diagnostic applications; HPLC and GC columns used to separate target
analytes prior to UV.detection or mass spectrometry analysis; HPLC columns and media used in health
science applications for the analysis of thermally labile compounds; GC columns used in various
applications for the analysis and purification of thermally stabile compounds; GPC columns and standards
for the analysis of polymers; flash chromatography consumables used in early stage drug research; and
other HPLC and GC stationary phase chemistries and column dimensions for a wide range of life science
and other applications. Consumable products also include scientific instrument parts and supplies such as
filters and fittings for GC .and HPLC systems: xenon' lamps and cuvettes for UV-Vis-NIR, fluorescence,
FT-IR and' Raman spectroscopy. instruments: and graphite furnace tubes, hollow cathode lamps and
specialized sample introduction glassware for our AA. ICP-OES and ICP-MS products, Other consumable
products include on-site screening and laboratory-based kits for drugs of abuse testing (“DAT™) on urine or
saliva samples, such as in pre-employment screening, criminal justice and toxicology testing.
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Vacuum Technologies Products

Our Vacuum Téchnologies segment designs, develops, manufactures, markets, sells and services a
broad range of products used to create, control, measure and test vacuum environments in life science,
environmental, energy, and applied research and other applications where ultra-clean, high-vacuum
environments are needed. Vacuum Technologies’ customers are typically OEMs that manufacture
equipment for these applications. Products include a wide range of high and ulira-high vacuum pumps

(diffusion, turbomolecular and ion getter), intermediate vacuum pumps (rotary vane, sorption and dry
scroll), vacuum instrumentation (vacuum control instruments, sensor gauges and meters) and vacuum
components (valves, flanges and other mechanical hardware). lis products also include helium mass
spectrometry and helium-sensing leak detection instruments used to identify and measure leaks in hermetic
or vacuum environments. In addition to product sales, we also offer a wide range of services including an
exchange and rebuild program, assistance with the design and integration of vacuum systems, applications
support and training in basic and advanced vacuum technologies.

Information Rich Detection Products

We refer to certain of the products described above as “information rich detectors” (*IRD™). IRD
products include mass spectrometers, NMR systems, MR imaging. systems, X-ray crystallography systems
and FT-IR instruments. All of these products provide users with multi-dimensional layers of information
andfor higher sensitivity, which are critical to the ability to optimize analyses and processes. IRD
instruments typically provide broad-based gqualitative capabilities for screening of compounds in complex
mixiures, precise quantitative information for determining the relative concentrations of the compounds
and dimensions of structural information for confirming the identity of the analytes. Our IRD products also
include superconducting magnets and vacuum pumps, consumables and other components and products
used either in or with our IRD instruments or sold directly to OEMs and end-users for use in IRD products;
we also provide various services in connection with our IRD products.

Customers and Applications

Qur preducts are sold principally for use in life science applications (including the study of biological
processes and the testing of biological materials), environmental applications (including food safety and
testing of air, water and soil), energy applications (including raw materials), and applied research and other
applications. Many of our products are used in more than one of these applications.

Almost all of the Scientific Instruments products described above are or can be used in life science
applications, such as by pharmaceutical companies in drug development, manufacturing (including process
control) and quality control; and by research hospitals and universities in basic chemistry, biological,
biochemistry and health care research. Life science customers include branded and generic pharmaceutical
companies, biotechnology and toxicology companies, governmental agencies and numerous academic
institutions and research hospitals. The Vacuum Technologies products described above similarly are or
can be used in a broad range of life science applications, such as in mass spectrometers for analytical
analysis and in linear accelerators for cancer therapy. In fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, sales into life
science applications accounted for approximately 40% 10 45% of our total sales (these are estimates based
on assumptions of how our products are likely to be used by customers, and are provided only as an
indication of a historical trend). '

Almost all of the Scientific Instruments products described above are or can also be used in
environmental, energy, applied research and other applications, such as by environmental laboratories in
performing chemical- analyses of water, soil; air, solids, and food and other products; by petroleum and
natural gas companies in performing chemical -analyses in exploration, refining, quality control,
distribution and research; in alternative energy, such as biofuels and solar energy; by agricultural,
chemical. mining and metallurgy and food and beverage processing companies in conducting research and
quality control; and by governmental, academic and other research laboratories in forensic analysis,
materials science and general research. The Vacuum Technologies products described above are or can be
used in a broad range of applications, such as in the manufacture of flai-panel displays, solar energy panels,
CRT tubes, decorative coating, functional coatings, disks for memory storage, architectural glass, optical
lenses and automobile components; in food packaging; in the testing of aircraft components, automaobile




airbags, refrigeration components and industrial processing equipment; in high-energy physics research and
medical devices (such as linear accelerators); in various nuclear energy applications: in nanotechnology
applications such as surface scanning and nanomaterials fabrication; and in the manufacture and test of
semiconductors and fabrication of metrology equipment.

Marketing and Sales

We market and sell most of our products through our own direct sales organizations, although in
certain countries and for certain products and services, sales are made through various sales representative
and distributor arrangements. To support this marketing and sales structure, we have sales and service
offices in numerous locations around the world.

We sell our products on a global basis. Sales outside of North America accounted for 68%, 66% and
61% of sales for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As a result, our customers increasingly
require service and support on a worldwide basis. We have sales and service offices located throughout
North America, Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America. We have invested substantial financial and
management resources to develop an international infrastructure to meet the needs of our customers
worldwide.

;

Demand for our products depends on many factors, including the level of capital expenditures of our
customers, the rate of economic growth in applications and geographies where we sell our products and
competitive considerations. No single customer accounted for 10% or more of our sales in fiscal year 2008,
2007 or 2006.

We experience some cyclical patterns in sales of our products. Generally, sales and earnings in the
first quarter of our fiscal year are lower when compared to the preceding fourth fiscal quarter, in part
because there are fewer working days in the first fiscal quarter (October to December). Sales and earnings
in our third fiscal quarter are usually flat to down sequentially compared to the second fiscal quarter,
primarily because there are a number of holidays in the early part of the quarter, especially in Europe, and
the June quarter-end has no significant customer year ends to influence orders. Our fourth fiscal quarter
sales and earnings are often the highest in the fiscal year compared to the other three quarters, primarily
because many government- and research-related customers spend budgeted money before their own fiscal
years end. This cyclical pattern can be influenced by other factors, including the timing of revenue
recognition on large systems, general economic conditions, acquisitions, new product introductions and
products requiring long manufacturing and installation lead times (such as NMR, MR imaging and FTMS
systems and superconducting magnets).

We believe that we differentiate our products from those of our competitors by our responsiveness to
customer requirements, as determined through market research. Although specific customer requirements
can vary depending on applications, customers generally demand superior performance, ease of use, high
quality, high productivity and low cost of ownership, We have responded to these customer demands by
regularly introducing new products focused on these requirements.

Backlog

Our recorded backiog was $235 million at October 3, 2008, $241 million at September 28, 2007 and
$247 million at September 29, 2006. The decrease in backlog from.September 28, 2007 to October 3, 2008
was primarily due to a net reduction in unfulfilled orders for magnets from third-party OEMs, even though
orders for these magnets increased in fiscal year 2008 compared to the prior year. The decrease in backlog
from September 29, 2006 to September 28, 2007 was primarily due to a net reduction in unfulfilled orders
for MR imaging systems and to a lesser extent for vacuum products. These decreases were partiatly offset
by strong order volume for analytical instruments and to a lesser extent the impact of the weaker U.S.
dollar on orders denominated in other currencies,

We include in backlog purchase orders or production releases under blanket purchase orders that have
firm delivery dates. Recorded backlog in U.S. dotlars is impacted by foreign currency fluctuations. In
addition, recorded backlog might not result in sales because of cancellations or other factors,

Most of our products are shipped soon after they are ordered by customers, with the time between
order receipt and shipment being as short as a few days for some products and less than a fiscal quarter for
most others. However, other products, in particular certain magnet-based products, can have significantly
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longer lead times, sometimes in excess of one year. Significant shipments often occur in the last month of
each quarter, in part because of how customers place orders and schedule shipments.

We believe that approximately 90% of orders included in our backlog at October 3, 2008 will result in
revenue before the end of fiscal year 2009,

Competition

Competition in our industries is primarily based upon the performance capabilities of products,
technical support and after-sales service, the manufacturer’s reputation as a technological leader and
product pricing. We believe that performance capabilities are the most important of these criteria.

The markets in which we compete are highly competitive and are characterized by the application of
advanced technology. There are numerous companies that specialize in, and a number of larger companies
that devote a significant portion of their resources to, the development, manufacture, sale and service of
products that compete with those that we manufacture, sell or service. Many of our competitors are well-
known manufacturers with a high degree of technical proficiency. In addition, competition is intensified by
the ever-changing nature of the technologies in the industries in which we are engaged. The markets for our
products are characterized by specialized manufacturers that often have strength in segments or niches of
these markets. While the absence of reliable statistics makes it difficult to determine our relative market
position in our industry segments, we are one of the principal manufacturers in our primary fields.

We compete with many companies. Our Scientific Instruments segment competes primarily with
Agilent, Bruker, JEOL, PerkinElmer, Shimadzu, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waters and other smaller
suppliers. Our Vacuum Technologies segment competes primarily with Adixen {Alcatel), Edwards,
INFICON, Oerlikon Leybold, Pfeiffer, Ulvac and other smaller suppliers.

Manufacturing

Our principal manufacturing activities consist of precision assembly, test, calibration and certain
specialized machining activities. For most of our products, we subcontract a portion of the assembly and
machining, but perform all other assembly, test and calibration functions. For some products, we have
subcontracted all manufacturing operations.

We believe that the ability to manufacture reliable products in a cost-effective manner is critical to
meeting the “just-in-time” delivery and other demanding requirements of our OEM and end-user
customers. We monitor and analyze product lead times, warranty data, process yields, supplier
performance, field data on mean time between failures, inventory turns, repair response times and other
indicators so that we can continuously improve our manufacturing processes.

We are continuously looking for opportunities to outsource manufacturing to third parties who can
provide the same quality at lower costs, and to consolidate our own manufacturing into fewer and lower-
cost locations. These initiatives raise certain risks and uncertainties, which are discussed in frem 1A—Risk
Factors—Restructuring and Other Efficiency Improvement Activities.

As of October 3, 2008, we operated 13 significant manufacturing facilities located throughout the
world. Our Scientific Instruments segment had manufacturing facilities in Palo Alto, California; Walnut
Creek, California; Lake Forest, California; Ft. Collins, Colorado; Cary, North Carolina; Melbourne,
Australia; Grenoble, France; Middelburg, Netherlands; Wroclaw, Poland; Church Stretton, United
Kingdom; and Yarnton, United Kingdom. Our Vacuum Technologies segment had manufacturing facilities
in Lexington, Massachusetts, and Turin, ltaly,

All of our significant manufacturing facilities, other than our facility in Wroclaw, Poland, have been
certified as complying with the International Organization for Standardization Series 9000 Quality
Standards (“ISO 9000™).

Raw Materials

Our manufacturing operations require a wide variety of raw materials, electronic and mechanical
components, chemical and biochemical materials and other supplies, some of which are occasionatly in




short supply. In addition, use of certain of our products requires reliable and cost- effective supply of certain
raw materials. For example, end-users of our magnet-based products require helium to operate those
products. Helium can be, and at various times has been, difficult to source and is becoming more
expensive. If we or our customers cannot obtain sufficient quantities of_helium, it could prevent us from
shipping and installing superconducting magnets, which could result in our inability to recognize revenues
on magnet-based products. Although we have taken and will continue to take steps to reduce the volume of
helium required for the manufacture and use of these products, shortages of helium could result in even
higher helium prices, and thus higher operating costs for magnet-based products, which could impact
demand for those products as well as our profit margins on those products and related services. Changes in
the avallablllty or price of certain other key raw materials (such as copper) or components could increase
our costs or our ciistomers’ cdsts to acquire and operate our products, which could have an adverse effect
on our ﬁnanc:lal condition or results of operations. "

! 1

We manufdclurc some components used in our products. Other. componems, including certain
consumables materials and .electronic components and subassemblies, are. purchased from other
manufacturers. Most of the raw materials, components and supplies we purchase are available from a
number of different suppliers; however, a number of items—such as wire used in superconducting
magnets, electronic subassemblies and final assemblies used in scientific instruments—are purchased from
limited or single sources of supply. Disruption of these sources could cause delays or reductions in
shipment of our products or increases in our'costs, which could have an adverse effect on our financial

condition or-résults of operations.’- b i i

Research and Development

We are actively engaged in basic and applied research, development and eng{néering programs
designed to develop new products and to improve existing products. During fiscal years 2008, 2007 and
2006, we spent $71.8 million, $65.2 million and $59.7 million, respectively, on research. development and
related engineering activities. Over this period, the focus of our research and development aclivities has
been shifting more toward IRD and consumable products. We intend to continue to conduct extensive
research and development activities, with a continued emphasis on IRD products such as magnet-based
products, mass spectrometers (including:vacuum products for use in our mass spectrometers and those of
other OEMs) and certain, consumable products. There can be no assurance that we will be able to develop
and market new products on a cost-effective and, timely basis, that such products will compete favorably
with products developed by others or that our exnstmg technology will not be %uperseded by new
dlscoverles or developments.

1

Customer Service and Support

.

We beheve that our customer service and quppon are an mlegrdl part of our competitive strategy. As
part of our support services, our applications and technical suppott staff provides individual assistance in
supporting customers’ specific applications needs, solving analysis problems and integrating vacuum
components, We offer training courses and periodically send our customers information on applications
development ’ _ .

Our products generally include a 90-day to one-year warranty, but in some countries and for some
products we offer longer warranties. For most of our products, service contracts may be purchased by
customers to cover equipment no longer under warranty. Service work not performed under warranty or
service contract is generally performed on a time-and-materials basis. We install and service our products
prlmanly through our own field service organization, although certain djstributors and sales representatives
are contracted to perform some field services.

Patent and Other Intellectual Property Rights

We have a policy of seeking patent, copyright, 'tradem‘ark and trade secret protection in the U.S. and
other countries for developments, improvements and inventions originating within our organization that are
incorporated in our products or that fall within our fields of interest. As of October 3, 2008, we owned over
340 patents in the U.S. and over 600 patents’in other countries, and had numerous patent applications on
file with various patent agencies worldwide. We intend to continue to file patent applications as we deem
appropriate. oo
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Certain of our magnet-based products (including NMR, MR imaging and FTMS systems, NMR
probes, superconducting magnets and other related components) sell on long lead-times, somenmes in
excess of one year. Certain of these systems and componems sell for hlgh prices; are complex reqmre
development of new lechnologles and, therefore, significant research and development resources; are often
intended for evolving research _applications; often have, customer- -specific features, capabilities and
acceptance criteria; and can be d:fﬁcult to manufacture and require long lead times, If we are unable 0
meet these challenges, it could have an adverse effect on our financial condmon or resuits of operatlons 'In
addition, all of these factors can make it difficult for us 10 forecast the ummg of revenue recognition and
the gross profit on these products.

‘s -

Changes in our effective tax rate can also create variability in our operating results. Our effective tax
rate can be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries having lower statutory
rates and higher than anticipated in countries having higher statutory rates, by changes in the valuation of
deferred tax assets or liabilities, by changes in tax laws or interpretations thereof or by other discrete tax
events. In addition, we are subject to examination of our-income tax returns by the U.S. Intérnal Revenue
Service and other tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from
these examinations to determine the adequacy of our income tax reserves and expense. Should .actual
events or results differ from our current expectations, charges against or credits to our income tax reserves
and/or expense may become' fiecessary or changes in our'tinrecognized tax benefits could result” Any such
ddjustments or changes could have an adverse effect on our fi nanmal condmon or results of operauons All
of this can make it difficult for us to forecast our effective tax rale

- . . - : e

Competition.” "The industries: in which we.’operaté :jre highly competitive.” We compete against
numerous companies, both U.S. and non-U.S., most with global operations, Somé of our competitors have
greater financial resources than we have, which may enable them to respond more quickly 10 new or
emerging technologies, take advantage of acquisition opportunities, achieve economies of scdle dnd other
cost reductions, compete ‘on price or devote greater resources to research and development engineering,
manulacturmg, marketing, sales or managerml activities. Some also have greater nidme recognition’ and
geographic and market presence or lower cost structures than wé do. In addition. weaker demand and
excess capacity in our industries could cause greater price competition as our competitors seek to maintain
sales volumes and market share. For the foregoing reasons, competition could result in lower revenues due
to lost sales or” prlce reducuons, lower margins and loss of market share Wthh could have an adverse
effect on our ﬁnancml condition or results of operations. . ‘

Although no smgle customer accounted for 10% or more of our qalee in fiscal year 2008 ,we do have
important customers, the loss of which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

New Product Development.  Technological innovation and new product development are important
to maintain.the competitive position of cur products and to grow our sales and, profit margins.. We have
historically dedicated a significant portion of our resources to research and development efforts as a means
of generating new products and improving existing products, and intend to continue.to conduct extensive
research and development activities, with an emphasis on information rich detection products such as

magnet-based products, mass spectrometers (including vacuum products for useiin mass spectrometers)

and.-certain consumable products. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able,to improve
ex15t1ng products and/or develop new products on a cost-effeciive and timely basis, that such products will
compete favorably, with products developed by others or that our existing technology will mot be
superseded by new discoveries or developments. If we fail to improve existing products and/or develop
new_products on a timely basis, we could experience lower revenues and/or Jower profit margins, which
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operationsr ., . e

Key Suppliers uand Raw Matetials. Some items we purchase for the manufacture of our products,
including wire ,used in superconducting, magnets. and electronic, subassemblies used in scientific

instruments,. are purchased from limited. or single sources. of supply. We are undertaking to,further

outsource manufacturing of certain parts, components, subsystems and even finished products, often to
single sources. Disruption of these sources could cause delays or reductions in shipments of our products or
increases' in .our costs, which could have an adverse effect on our: ‘financial. conditjon or results of
operations. N A LA Ty
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Investor Information : : '

Financial and other infoﬁnaﬁon relating’to us can be accessed on the Investors page at our website.
This can be reached from our main Internet website (http /fwww varianinc.com) by clicking on “Investors.”
On the Investors page at our website, we make’ available, free of charge, copies of our annual reports on
| Form 10-K, quanerly reports on Form 10- Q. cuirent reportq on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as redsonably practlcable
after filing them with or fumlshlng them to the SEC. '

) -

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Overall Economic Conditions. ~ As a result of current economic uncertainties, including .with respect
to global capital and credit markets and overal) ecénomic growth, our.customers could experience financial '
difficulties and'as a result modify, delay or cancel plans to purchase our products or services or be unable
10 pay us on accounts receivable. that are owed to the Company. In addition, our suppliers {including our
key suppliers, discussed below), could experience credit or other financial difficulties that could result in
delays in their ability to supply us with necessary raw materials, components or finished products. Any of
these factors could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, we might find it more difficult or expensive in the current economic, environment to
secure additional capital or credit to pursue actions.we would consider beneficial 1o the Company or our
stockholders, such as acquisiticns, capital investments and/or repurchases of our common stock. Although
we believe our cash and surplus funds are appropriately invested or in depository accounts, we could also

_ experience losses on those investments or accounts. Any of these factors could have an adverse effect on
' our financial cond_ition or results of opefations.

Customer Demand. Demand for our products depends upon, among other factors, the level of capital
expendrtures by current and prospectwe customers the. rate of economic growth in the markets in which
we compete, the level of government fundmg for research and the competitiveness of our products and
services. Changes in any of these factors could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or results
of operations,.

We must continue to assess and predrct customer needs, regulatory requrremems and evolving
technologies,” We must develop new products, including enhancements to existing products new services
and new applications, successfu]ly commercialize, manufacture, market and sell these products and protect
our intellectual property in these products. If we are unsuccessful in these areas, our fmancml condition or
results of operatlons could be adversely affected Tk

Variability of Operating Results. We experience some cyclical patterns in sales of our products.
Generally, sales and edrnings in the first quarter of our fiscal vear are lowér when compared to the
preceding fourth fiscal quarter, in part, because there are fewer working days in our first fiscal quarter
{October to December). Sales and earnings in ourthird fiscal quarter are usually flat'to down sequentially
compared to the second fiscal quarter, primarily because there are a number of holidays in the early part of
the quarter, especially in Europe, and the June' quarteér-end has no significant customer vear ends to
influence orders. Our fourth fiscal quarter sales and earnings are often the ‘highest in the fiscal year
compared to the other thrée quarters, primarily because many government- and research-related customers
spend budgeted money before their own fiscal years end. This cyclical pattern can be influenced by other
factors, including the timing of revenue récognition on large systems, general economic conditions,
acquisitions, new product introductions and products requiring long manufacturing and installation lead
times (such as NMR, MR imaging and FTMS systems and superconducting magnets). Consequently, our
results of operations may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter, which ¢an make it difficult to
anticipate, compare and measure our results of operations on a quarterly basis,

Most of our products are shipped soon after they are ordered by. customers, with the time between
order receipt and shipment being as short as a few days for some products and less than a fiscal quarter for
most others. However, other products, in particular certain magnet-based products, can have significantly
longer lead times, sometimes in excess of one year, Significant shipments often occur in the last month of
each .quarter, in part because of how customers place orders and schedule shipments. This can make it
difficult for us to forecast our results of operations. .
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equity mvesiments of our fallure to successiully evaluate, negotiate and integraie acquisiions could have
an adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations:

Restructuring and Orther Efficiency Improvement Activities. We have undertaken restructaring
activities (such as our Northern California manufacturing consolidation) and other efficiency improvement
activities (such as ourglobal procurement, lower-cost manufacturing and outsourcing initiatives), and have
announced and' may undertake similar activities in the future, that we expect to result in certain costs and
eventual cost savings. These costs and cost savings are based on estimates at the time of plan commitment
as to the timing of activities to be completed and the timing and amount of related:costs 10 be incurred. We
could experience delays, business disruptions and empldyee turnover in connection with festructuring and
other efficiency improvement activities and our estimates of the costs to complete and savings achieved by
these activities could change. As a result, these activities could have an adverse impact on.our fi nanma]
condition or results of operatmns' ' “ , . ot

' . . s oo L8 . .

Non-U.S. Operations. 'A-signiﬁcant portion of our manufacturing activities, customers, suppliers and
employees are outside of the U.S. As a result, we are subject to various risks, including the following:
duties, tariffs and taxes; restrictions on currency conversions, fund transfers or profit repatriations; import,
export and other trade restrictions; protective labor regulations and union coniracts; compliance with local
laws and regulations, as well as U.S. laws and regulations (such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act) .as
they relate to our non-U.S. operations; travel and transportation difficulties; and adverse developments in
political or economic environments in countries where we operate. These risks: could have an adverse effect
on our financial condition or results of operations.- ‘ : v . - o

* ' . - .. . !

Currency Exchange Rates. The U.S. dollar vajue of our sales and product and operating costs varies
with currency exchange rate fluctuations. In order of magnitude, our sales are mainly denominated in U.S.
dollars, Euros, British pounds and Japanese yen, while our costs are mainly denominated in U.S. dollars,
Euros, Australian dollars and British pounds. Because we manufacture and sell in the U.S. and many other
countrtes, tie impact that‘currency exchange rate fluctuations have on us is dependent on the interaction of
a number of variables. These.variables include, but are not limited to, the relationships between various
foreign currencies, the relative amount of our revenues and costs that are denominated in U.S. dollars or in
U.S. dollar-linked currencies, customer resistance to currency-driven price changes and the suddenness and
severity of changes in'certain foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, we hedge most of our balance
sheet exposures denominated in other-than-local currencies based upon forecasts of those exposures; in the
event that these forecasts are overstated or understated during periods of currency volatility, foreign
exchange losses could result. For all of these reasons, currency exchange fluctuations could have an
adverse effect on our financial condition or resulis of operations.

| I ' e S i A - .

Credit Risk. We extend trade credit to many of our customers. We generally perform credit
evaluations of these customers before extending credit. To some extent, we utilize letters of credit to
mitigate credit risks. While we believe that we take appropriate steps to manage customer credit risk, our
customers could experience. financial difficulties, in particular given current-economic conditions, that
could result in delays or difficulties in collecting on accounts receivable that are owed.to the Company
This could have an adverse effect on our financial LOndlthIl or results of operations,

We have cash and surplus funds that we invest, primarily in demand deposits, short-term U.S.
Treasury securities and money market funds. We also purchase foreign exchange forward contracts in
order 'to minimize the short-term’ impact of foreign currency fluctuations, which contracts are placed
primarily witht major financial institutions. We also -accept letters of credit from financial institutions to
ensure payment for salés of our products. Although we.believe that our cash and cash eguivalents, our
foreign exchange forward contracts and letters of.credit provided to us, are invested or placed with secure
financial institutions, there is no assurance that these financial institutions will.not default on their
obligations to us, especially given global financial market conditions. Loss of principal on demand deposits
or invested funds or a default on a foreign exchange forward contract or letier.of ‘credit could have an
adverse effect on our financial condmon or results of operanons © - -

Key Personnel. Our success depends upon the efforts and abilities of key personnel, including
research and development; engineering, manufacturing, finance, administrative, -marketing, sales and
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management personnel. The availability of qualified personnel and the cost to attract, motivate and retain
them can vary significantly based on factors such as the strength of the general economy. However, even in
weak economic periods, there is still intense competition for personnel with certain expertise in the
geographic areas where we compete for personnel. In addition, certain employees have significant
institutional and proprietary technical knowledge, which could be difficult to quickly replace. Failure to
attract, motivate and retain qualified personnel, who generally do not have employment agreements or
post-employment non-competition agreements, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations.

Certain Employee Benefit Plans. Many of our U.S. employees participate in health care plans under
which we are self-insured. We maintain a stop-loss insurance policy that covers the cost of certain
individually large claims under these plans. Each year, our expenses under these plans are recorded based
on actuarial estimates of the number and costs of expected claims, administrative costs and stop-loss
premiums. These estimates are then adjusted at the end of each plan year to reflect actual costs incurred.
Actual costs under these plans are subject to variability depending primarily upon participant enrollment
and demographics, the actual number and costs of claims made and whether and how much the stop-loss
insurance we purchase covers the cost of these claims. In the event that our cost estimates differ from
actual costs, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted,

We also maintain defined benefit pension plans for our employees in several countries outside of the
U.S. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. (“SFAS™) 87, Employers’
Accounting for Pensions, we utilize a number of assumptions including the expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets and the discount rate in order to determine our defined benefit pension plan costs each
year. These assumptions are set based on relevant long-term debt, equity and other market conditions in the
countries in which the plans are maintained. We adjust these assumptions each year in response to
corresponding changes in underlying market conditions and expectations. Changes in these market
conditions and expectations result in corresponding changes in our defined benefit pension plan
assumptions, liabilities and costs. We could also curtail these plans, which could result in us incurring
curtailment/settlement charges. In addition, changes in relevant government regulations in the countries in
which our defined benefit pension plans are located and/or changes in the accounting rules applicable to
these plans (including SFAS 87) could also impact our defined benefit pension plan liabilities and costs.
Any such changes could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Environmental Matters. Our operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws in the
U.S., as well as laws in other countries, regulating the discharge of materials into the environment or
otherwise relating to the protection of the environment. These regulations increase the costs and potential
liabilities of our operations. However, we do not currently anticipate that our compliance with these
regulations will have a material effect on our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position.

As is described in frem J—Business, we and VSEA are each obligated (under the terms of the
Distribution Agreement) to indemnify VMS for one-third of certain costs (after adjusting for any insurance
proceeds and tax benefits recognized or realized by VMS for such costs) relating to (a) environmental
investigation, monitoring and/or remediation activities at certain facilities previously operated by VAI and
third-party claims made in connection with environmental conditions at those facilities, and (b) U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency or third-party claims alleging that VAI or VMS is a potentially
responsible party under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended (“CERCLA™) in connection with certain sites to which VAl allegedly shipped
manufacturing waste for recycling, treatment or disposal (the “CERCLA sites”). With respect to the
facilities formerly operated by VAI, VMS is overseeing the environmental investigation, monitoring and/or
remediation activities, in most cases under the direction of, or in consultation with, federal, state and/or
local agencies, and handling third-party claims. VMS is also handling claims relating to the CERCLA sites.
We are also undertaking environmental investigation, and/or monitoring activities at one of our facilities
under the direction of or in consultation with governmental agencies.

Various- uncertainties make it difficult to estimate future costs for certain of these environmental-
related activities, specifically external legal expenses, VMS’ internal oversight costs, third-party claims and
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a former VAI facility where the likelihood and scope of further environmental-related activities are
difficult to assess. As of October 3, 2008, it was nonetheless estimated that our future exposure for these
environmental-related costs ranged in the aggregate from $1.2 million to $2.6 million. The time frame over
which these costs are expected to be incurred varies with each type of cost, ranging up to approximately 30
years as of October 3, 2008. No amount in the foregoing range of estimated future costs is discounted, and
no amount in the range is believed to be more probable of being incurred than any other amount in such
range. We therefore had an accrual of $1.2 million as of Qctober 3, 2008 for these future environmental-
related costs.

Sufficient knowledge. has been gained to be able to better estimate other costs of future
environmental-related activities. As of October 3, 2008, it was estimated that our future costs for these
env1r0nmenld] related activities ranged in the aggregate from $2.3 million to $13.1 million. The time frame
over which these costs are expected to be incurred varies, ranging up to approximately 30 years as of
October 3, 2008. As to each of these ranges of cost estimates, it was determined that a particular amount
within the range was a better estimate than any other amount within the range. Together, these amounts
totaled $5.8 million at October 3, 2008. Because both the amount and timing of the recurring portion of
these costs were reliably determinable, that portion is discounted at 4%, net of inflation. We therefore had
an accrual of $4.0 million as of October 3, 2008, which represents our best estimate of these future
environmental-related costs after discounting estimated recurring future costs. This accrual is in addition to
the $1.2 million described in the preceding paragraph.

At October 3, 2008, our reserve for environmental-related costs, based upon future envnronmental-
related costs estimated by us as of that date, was calculated as follows:

Non- Total
Recurring Recurring - Anticipated
Costs Costs Future Cost
(in millions)
" Fiscal Year
2009 ... EEET PP e 503 $03 $0.6
2000 . e e 0.2 03 0.5
122 0 1 0.2 0.3 0.5
2002 . 0.3 0.4 0.7 °
2003 . 03 0.2 0.5
Thereafter . .. ... . i e 36 0.5 4.1
Total COSIS o vttt e e $ 49 $20 6.9
Less Imputed iNterest . . . ..o v u it it e e e e e (.7
Reserve amount . ... ... . e 5.2
Less current portion . .. ............ .. e 0.6)
Long-term (included in Other liabilities) ................. PN $46

The foregoing amounts are only estimates of anticipated future environmental-related costs, and the
amounts actually spent in the years indicated may be greater or less than such estimates. The aggregate
range of cost estimates reflects various uncerainties inherent in many environmental investigation,
monitoring and remediation activities and the large number of sites where such investigation, momtormg
and remedlauon activities are being unclertaken

We ‘have not reduced any environmental-related liability in anticipation of recoveries from third
parties. However, an inserance company has agreed to pay a portion of certain of VAI's (now VMS’)
future environmental-related costs, for which we have an indemnification obligation, and we therefore have
a long-term receivable of $1.0 million (discounted at 4%, net of inflation) in other assets as of October 3,
2008 for our share of that insurance recovery.

Management believes that our reserves for the foregoing and other environmental-related matters are

adequate, but as the scope of our obligation becomes more clearly defined, these reserves may be modified
and related charges against or credits to earnings may be made. Although any ultimate liability arising from
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environmental-related matters could result in significant expenditures that, if aggregated and assumed to
occur within a single fiscal year, would be material to our financial statements. the likelihood of such
occurrence is considered remote. Based on information currently available and our best assessment of the
ultimate amount and timing of environmental-related events, management believes that the costs of
environmental-related matters are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations.

Governmental Regulations.  Our businesses are subject to many governmental regufations in the U.S.
and other countries, including with respect to protection of the environment, employee health and safety,
labor matters, product safety, medical devices, import, export, competition and sales to governmental
entities. These regulations are complex and change frequently. We incur significant costs to comply with
governmental regulations, costs to comply with new or changed regulations could be significant, and
failure to comply could result in suspension of or restrictions on our operations, product recalls, fines, other
civil and criminal penalties, private party litigation and damage to our reputation, which could have an
adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

In January 2003, the European Union (“EU”) adopted Directive 2002/96/EC on Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment (the “WEEE Directive”) and Directive 2002/95/EC on Restriction on the Certain
Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electronic Equipment (the “RoHS Directive”). The WEEE
Directive requires EU-member countries to adopt implementing legislation imposing certain
responsibilities on producers {manufacturers and importers) in the EU of electrical and electronic
equipment with respect to the collection and disposal of waste from that equipment and the RoHS Directive
bans in the EU the use of certain hazardous materials in electrical and electronic equipment. All
EU-member countries where we manufacture or import products have adopted implementing legislation
under these Directives. As a resuh of the WEEE Directive, we are incurring {or will incur) waste collection
and disposal costs to comply with implementing legislation under the WEEE Directive; these costs have
not been significant to-date and we do not expect them to be significant in the future, but if they are, our
financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. As a resuit of the RoHS
Directive, certain raw materials and components sourced from third parties are no longer available, or will
in the future become unavailable, for use in the manufacture of the Company’s products; we have not
experienced significant supply disruptions and have not incurred significant costs as a result of the RoHS
Directive and we do not expect such disruptions or costs to be significant in the future, but if they are, our
financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In addition, legislation
similar to the WEEE and RoHS Directives have been or could be enacted in other countries outside the EU
(such as China), which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

As of October 3, 2008, we had manufacturing, warchouse, research and development, sales, service
and administrative facilities that had an aggregate floor space of approximately 550,000 square feet in the
U.S. and 882,000 square feet outside of the U.S., for a total of approximately 1,432,000 square feet
worldwide. Of these facilities, aggregate floor space of approximately 571,000 square feet was leased. and
we owned the remainder. We believe that our facilities and equipment generally are well maintained, in
good operating condition, suitable for our purposes and adequate for current operations. In the first quarter
of fiscal year 2009, we entered into an agreement with VMS under which we agreed to surrender to them
the sublease for our facility in Palo Alto, California, which has a total floor space of approximately 210,000
square feet. We expect to fully vacate this facility in the third quarter of fiscal year 2010.

As of Qctober 3, 2008, we owned or leased 13 significant manufacturing facilities located throughout
the world. Our Scientific Instruments segment had manufacturing facilities in Palo Alto, California; Walnut
Creek, California; Lake Forest, California; Fi. Collins, Colorado; Cary, North Carolina; Melbourne,
Australia; Grenoble, France: Middelburg, Netherlands; Wroclaw, Poland; Church Stretton, United
Kingdom; and Yarnton, United Kingdom. Our Vacuum Technologies segment had manufacturing facilities
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in Lexington, Massachusetts; and Turin, Italy. We also owned or leased 55 sales and service facilities
located throughout the world, 49 of which were located outside of the U.S., including in Argentina,
Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, France, Germany, Hong Kong, India, Italy, Japan, Korea, Mexico,
Netherlands, Russia, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan and the United Kingdom.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in pending legal proceedings that are ordinary, routine and incidental to our business.
While the ultimate outcome of these and other legal matters is not determinable, we believe that these
matters are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.




PART I
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

(a) Our high and low common stock selling prices in each of the four quarters of fiscal years 2008 and
2007 follow:

Fiscal Year 2008 Common Stock Selling Prices

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter

High . ... .. . $ 7389 $ 6794 $ 5976 §$ 5442
Low ... e $ 6421 3 5061 $ 4915 § 40.95
Fiscal Year 2007 Common Stock Selling Prices

First Second - Third Fourth

Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter

High ... ... $ 4838 § 59.61 % 59.81 § 65.39
Low ... e . $4351 $ 4462 $ 5379 % 5564

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the trading symbol VARI.

We have never paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not currently anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

There were 2,504 holders of record of our common stock on November 21, 2008.
(b) Not applicable.

(c) Stock Repurchases. The following table summarizes information relating to stock repurchases
during the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 2008.

Total Value of Shares  Maximum Total YValue
Average Repurchased as Part  of Shares that May Yet

Shares Price Per  of Publicly Announced Be Purchased Under

Fiscal Month : Repurchased®?  Share(V Plan' D3 the Plan'?
(in thousands, except per share amount)
Balance - June 27,2008 ............ . ' $ 69,505
June 28, 2008 - July 25,2008 ........ — $ — $ — - § 69,505
July 26, 2008 — August 22,2008 . . . . .. © 319 $4939 15,674 $ 53,831
August 23, 2008 - October 3, 2008 . . . . 186 $ 49.51 9,182 S 44,649

Total shares repurchased ........ 505 $ 4925 $ 24,856

(1) Includes two thousand shares tendered to the Company by employees in settlement of employee tax
withholding obligations due from those employees upon the vesting of restricted stock.

(2) In February 2008. our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program under which we were
authorized to utilize up to $100 million to repurchase shares of our common stock. This repurchase
program is effective through December 31, 2009.

(3) Excludes commissions on repurchases.



Item 6. Selected Financial Data

(in mitlions, excepr per share amounts)
Statement of Earnings Data

Sales
Earnings from continuing operations before income

1O

Income tax €xpense

Earnings from continuing operations . . . ..............

Earnings from discontinued operations
Net earnings
Net earnings per basic share: ~
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Netearnings ............o. ... e

Net earnings per diluted share:

Continuing operations . ....... .. ... .. .c...0..

Discontinued operations

Netearnings .......cooo i,

Balance Sheet Data

Total assets .. ... .. e

Long-term debt {excluding current portion)

Fiscal Year Ended

Oct. 3,

Sept. 28, Sept.29, Sept. 30, O«t. ],

2008 200710 20061 2005121 200412

$1,012.5 $920.6 $834.7 $772.8 $7244

$ 1027 $968 $ 747 $ 635 % 684

$ 363 $332 $£246 % i68 % 23.1

$ 664 $636 $501 %467 % 453

— _— — $ 793 _$ 14,2

$ 664 $636 %501 %1260 §$ 595

$ 224 $209 $162 $139 %131

— — — 2.35 0.41

$ 224 $209 $162 $374 § L72

$ 221 $205 $1.59 $1.36 $1.27

— — — 2.31 0.39

$ 221 $205 $159 3$367. % 166
Fiscal Year End

Oct. 3, Sept. 28,  Sept. 29, Sept. 30, QOect. 1.

2008t 20070 20060 2008 2004

$ 903.2 %£936.8 38616 $796.0 $830.7

$ 188 %188 §$ 250 %275 $ 300

(1) The results for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006 reflect share-based compensation expense as a result
of the adoption of SFAS [23(R) on a prospective basis in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006.
Accordingly, the results for prior periods do not reflect such expense.

(2

Until March 11, 2005, we operated an electronics manufacturing business, which was a contract

manufacturer of electronic assemblies and subsystems such as printed circuit boards for OEMs. On
that date, we sold our Electronics Manufacturing business to Jabil Circuit, Inc. As a result, this
business has been treated as a discontinued operation in the fiscal years ended September 30, 2005 and

October 1, 2004,
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our fiscal years reported are the 52- or 53-week periods that ended on the Friday nearest September 30.
Fiscal year 2008 was comprised of the 53-week period that ended on October 3, 2008. Fiscal year 2007
was comprised of the 52-week period that ended on September 28, 2007. Fiscal year 2006 was comprised
of the 52-week period that ended on September 29, 2006. While fiscal year 2008 revenue and earnings
benefited from the exira week, the benefit was substantially less than a proportionate amount.

The discussion below should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements and the accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements included in Item 15 of this report. In
addition, this discussion contains forward- tooking statements and should be read together with the risks to
our, busmeht‘. as de%crlbed in Part I—Cautum Regarding F(mvard-lx)()kmg Sra!emen!s and Item 1A—Risk
Facmrs

Results of Operations
Fiscal Year 2008 Compared 1o Fiscal Year 2007
. Segment Resulis

For financial reporting purposes, our operations are grouped into two reportable business segments:
Scientific Instruments and Vacuum Technologies. The following table presents comparisons of our sales
and operating earnings for each of those segments and in total for fiscal years 2008 and 2007:

Fiscal Year Ended

QOctober 3, September 28, Increase
2008 2007 (Decrease)
% of % of ,
$ Sales $ Sales $ %
{dollars in millions) |
Sales by Segment:’ .
Scientific Instruments .............. § 8387 82.8% $7615 82.7% $77.2 10.1%
Vacuum Technologies .............. 173.8 17.2 159.1 17.3 14.7 9.3
Total COMPANY . . ... ooererernnnn. $1,012.5  100.0% $920.6° 100.0%  $91.9 10.0%
Operating Earningslby Segment: -
Scientific Instruments . ............. $ 807 96% $ 794 104% $ 1.3 1.5%
Vacuum Technologies .............. 34.4 19.8 320 20.1 2.4 7.6
Total segments .................... 115.1 1t.4 114 12.1 3.7 3.3
General corporate ................. ‘ (13.6) (1.4} (18.8) (2.1) 5.2 279
$ 89 9.6%

Totalcompany .................... $ 1015 100% § 92.6 10.1%

Scientific Instruments. The increase in Scientific Instruments sales was primarily attributable to
higher sales volume across a broad range of our analytical instruments and consumable products, partiatly
offset by lower sales of research products. Sales increased for environmental, energy and life science
applications. During fiscal year 2008, the U.S. dollar weakened compared to most other foreign currencies
in which the Company sells products and services, which also contributed to the increase in sales.
Excluding sales from businesses acquired in fiscal year 2008, Scientific Instruments sales in the fiscal year
increased by approximately 9% compared to fiscal year 2007. '

Scientific Instruments operating earnings for fiscal year 2008 include an acquisition-related in-process
research and development, charge of $t.7 million, acquisition-related intangible amortization of $8.4
million, amortization of $!.4 million related to inventory written up to fair value .in connection with
acquisitions, restructuring and other related costs of $5.5 million and share-based compensation expense of
$3.5 million. In comparison, Scientific Instruments operating earnings for fiscal year 2007 include
acquisition-related intangible amortization of $7.9 million, amortization of $1.3 million related to inventory
written up to fair value in connection with an acquisition, restructuring and other related costs of $4.3
million and share-based compensation expense of $3.4 million. Excluding the impact of these items,
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FORM 10-K

operaling ‘earnings were lower as a perceniage of sales due to higher transition costs related to the
relocation of manufacturing activities for certain products, the weaker 1J.S. dollar (which was favorable to

reported sales but unfavorable to reported operating margins) and higher costs relating to new product
introductions. These factors more than offset the positive impact of sales volume leverage.

Vacuum Technologies. The increase in Vacuum Technologies sales was driven by higher sales
volume over a broad range of products and services and the positive impact of the weaker U.S. dollar.

Vacuum Technologies operating earnings for fiscal years 2008 and 2007 include share-based
compensation expense of $0.9 million and $1.1 million, respectively. Excluding the impact of this item, the
decrease in Vacuum Technologies operating earnings as a percentage of sales was primarily the result of
the weaker U.S. dollar, which was only partially offset by the positive impact of sales volume leverage.

Consolidated Results

The following table presents comparisons of our sales and other selected consolidated financial results
for fiscal years 2008 and 2007:

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28, Increase
2008 2007 (Decrease)
% of % of
$ Sales $ Sales $ %o

(dollars in millions, except per share data)
Sales ... ... .. $1,012.5 100.0% $920.6 100.0% $91.9 10.0%
Grossprofit ....... .. ... ... .. ... ... ... 4524 447 _tﬂ§_5 45.1 369 3.9
Operating expenses: '
Selling, general and administrative ............. 2774 274 2578 280 19.6 7.7
Research and development ................... 71.8 7.1 65.2 7.0 6.6 10.2
Purchased in-process research and development . . . 1.7 0.2 — — 1.7 100.0
Total operating expenses . .................... __ 3509 347 ﬂ 350 219 8.7
Operatingearnings ........................ 1015 100 92.5 10.1 9.0 9.6
Impairment of private company equity

INVESIMEND . ..ottt e 3.0y (0.3 — — 3.0y (100.0)
INEETeSTINCOME ..ottt vt innaeeen s 59 06 6.2 0.7 (0.3) (3.6)
Interestexpense .......... ... iviiiiian. (1LY (. 1.9y O 0.2 11.8
Income taxexpense ...... .......... .. .. ..., 363y 3.6y (332) (37D (3.1 9.2
Netearnings ...............ocovviiiineann.. $ 664 - 6.6% $ 63.6 69% $ 2.8 4.4%
Net earnings per diluted'share .............. $ 221 $ 205 $0.16

|

Sales.  As discussed under the heading Segment Results above, sales by the Scientific Instruments
and Vacuum Technologies segments in fiscal year 2008 increased by 10.1% and 9.3%, respectively,
compared 1o fiscal year 2007. The growth in consolidated sales was broad-based, with increases in sales of
products for environmental, energy and life science applications. The weaker U.S. dollar and acquisitions
also had a positive effect on the reported sales increases. Excluding sales from businesses acquired in fiscal
year 2008, sales in fiscal year 2008 increased by approximately 9% compared to fiscal year 2007.

For geographic reporting purposes, we refer to four regions—North America (excluding Mexico),
Europe (including the Middle East and Africa), Asia Pacific (including India) and Latin America
{including Mexico). .




Sales by geographic region in fiscal years 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3. September 28, Increase
2008 2007 {Decrease)
% of % of
$ Sales $ Sales $ Y%

(dollars in millions)
Sales by Geographic Region: _
North America .................... $ 32438 32.1%  $312.1 33.9% $12.7 4.1%
Burope ...t 409.0 40.4 376.8 40.9 322 8.6
AsiaPacific .......... .. ... . .. 216.6 214 185.6 20.2 31.0 16.7
Latin America .................... 62.1 6.1 46,1 50 16.0 344
Total company . ................... $1,012.5 100.0% $920.6 100.0% $9_]9 10.0%

The increases in sales in Europe, Asia Pacific and North America were attributable to higher sales by
both the Scientific Instruments and Vacuum Technotogies segments. The sales increase in Latin America
was driven by higher Scientific Instruments sales, with Vacuum Technologies sales essentially flat in that
region.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit for fiscal year 2008 includes $6.5 million in amortization expense relating
to acquisition-related intangible assets, $1.4 million in amortization expense related to inventory written up
to fair value in connection with recent acquisitions, $1.6 million in restructuring and other related costs and
share-based compensation expense of $0.4 million. In comparison, gross profit for fiscal year 2007
includes $5.3 million in amortization expense relating to acquisition-related intangible assets, $1.3 million
in amortization expense relatéd to inventory written up to fair value in connection with an acquisition, $1.2
million in restructuring and other related costs and share-based compensation expense of $0.4 million.
Excluding the impact of these items, gross profit as a percentage of sales decreased slightly due to higher
transition costs related to the relocation of manufacturing activities for certain products and the weaker
U.S. dollar (which was favorable to reported sales but unfavorable to reported gross profit margins).

Selling, General and Administrative.  Selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal year
2008 include $1.8 million in amortization expense relating to acquisition-related intangible assets, $2.6
million in restructuring and other related costs and $8.5 million in share-based compensation expense. In
comparison, selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal year 2007 include $2.6 million in
amortization expense relating to acquisition-related intangible assets, $2.4 million in restructuring and
other related costs and $8.9 million in share-based compensation expense. Excluding the impact of these
items, the slight decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales was
primarily the result of sales volume leverage and lower employee bonus accruals, largely offset by the
weaker U.S. dollar and higher costs relating to new product introductions.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses for fiscal year 2008 include §1.3
million in restructuring and other related costs and share-based compensation expense of $0.4 million. In
comparison, research and development expenses for fiscal year 2007 include $0.8 million in restructuring
and other related costs and share-based compensation expense of $0.5 million. Excluding the impact of
these items, research and development expenses were flat as a percentage of sales.

Purchased In-Process Research and Development. In connection with the Oxford Diffraction
acquisition in the third quarter of fiscal year 2008, we recorded a one-time charge of $1.7 million to
immediately expense acquired in-process research and development related to projects that were in process
but incomplete at the time of the acquisition.

Restructuring Activities. Between fiscal years 2003 and 2007, we committed to several restructuring
plans in order to adjust our organizational structure, improve operational efficiencies and/or eliminate
redundant or excess costs resulting from acquisitions or dispositions during those periods. We have
incurred a total of $19.7 million in restructuring expense under these restructuring plans.

23




The following table sets forth changes in our aggregate liability during fiscal year 2008 relating to all
restrucluring plans:

Employee-  Facilities-
Related Related Total

(in thousands)

Balance at September 28,2007 ... ... ... ..l $2222 % 707 §2929
Chargestoexpense, et ...........iiinrnnnnnanenannn,, 1,291 761 2,052
Cashpayments ........ ... ... ... . .. S (1,702) (408) (2,110)
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments ............... 29 (16) 13

Balance at Qctober 3, 2008 .. .. ... .. ... $1,840 $1,044 $ 2,884

In addition, we have also recorded other costs related directly to these plans (comprised primarily of
employee retention and relocation costs and accelerated depreciation of assets to be disposed upon the
closure of facilities) totaling $8.8 million. Of this amount, a total of $3.4 million was recorded during fiscal
year 2008.

Fiscal Year 2007 Plan. During the third quarter of fiscal year 2007, we committed to a plan to
combine and optimize the development and assembly of most of our nuclear magnetic resonance (“NMR™)
and mass spectrometry products, to further centralize related administration and other functions and to
reallocate certain resources toward more rapidly growing product lines and geographies. As part of the
plan, we are creating an information rich detection (“IRD™) center in Walnut Creek. California, where
certain NMR operations located in Palo Alto, California will be integrated with mass spectrometry
operations already located in Walnut Creek. Merging our IRD talent base into this single location will
capitalize on our strength in NMR and mass spectrometry, and enhance our ability to develop innovative
IRD solutions that are mere powerful, complementary, routine and user-friendly. Underscoring our
commitment to IRD and the benefits that a combined location and organization will provide, we are
investing in a new 45,000 square foot building and a substantial remodel of an existing building there to
house the IRD center.

As a result of the plan, a number of employee positions have been or will be relocated or eliminated
and certain facilities will be consolidated. These actions primarily impact the Scientific Instruments
segment and involve the elimination of between approximately 40 and 60 positions. We expect these
activities to be completed by the end of fiscal year 2009.

Restructuring and other related costs associated with this plan include one-time termination benefits,
retention payments, costs to relocate facilities (including decommissioning costs, moving costs and
temporary facility/storage costs), accelerated depreciation of fixed assets to be disposed as a result of
facilities actions and lease termination costs. These costs are currently estimated to be between $12.5
million and $15.5 million, of which $5.5 million was incurred in fiscal year 2008 and $4.3 million was
incurred in fiscal year 2007. The estimated remaining costs are expected to be settled through the second
quarter of fiscal year 2010 except for certain Jease termination-related costs, which might be settled as late
as the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2012. Costs relating to restructuring activities recorded under this plan
have been included in cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses and research and
development expenses.

The following table sets forth changes in our restructuring liability during fiscal year 2008 relating to
the foregoing plan:

Employee-  Facilities-

Related Related Total

(in thousands)

Balance at September 28,2007 ... ... ... ... .. $ 2,222 } — $2222
Churges to BXpense, MET ...\ v vt ee e et iineeearnnns 1,291 761 2,052
Cash payments ........ e e (1,702) (252) (1,954)
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments ., ............. 29 42 ' 71

Balance at October 3,2008 . .............oooooieeoo . $1840 $551  $239




The restructuring charges of $2.1 million recorded during fiscal year 2008 related to employee
termination benefits and costs associated with the closure of leased facilities. We also incurred $3.4 million
in other related costs during fiscal year 2008, which were comprised of $2.2'million in employee retention
costs and $1.2 miltion in facilities-related costs including decommissioning costs and a non-cash charge for
accelerated depreciation of assets to be disposed upon the closure of facilities.

Since the inception of this plan, we have recorded $4.4 million in related restructuring expense and
$5.4 million of other related costs. Upon its completion, the plan is expected to result in certain operational
improvements and efficiencies, which we anticipate will result in a reduction of our overall cost structure
and annual operating expenses.

Fiscal Year 2009 Plan. During the first quarter of fiscal year 2009, we committed to a plan to reduce
our employee headcount in order to reduce operating costs and increase margins. The plan involves the
termination of approximately 35 employees, mostly located in Europe. and will result in pretax
restructuring and other related costs totaling between $2.5 million and $3.5 million. These costs will relate
primarily to one-time termination benefits. We currently anticipate that these costs will be recorded and
that the related actions will be substantially completed in the first half of fiscal year 2009. The restructuring
costs include no non-cash components and are expected to be settled by the end of fiscal year 2011.

Restructuring Cost Savings. When they were initiated, each of the foregoing restructuring plans was
expected to eventually result in a reduction in annual operating expenses. The following table sets forth the
estimated annual cost savings for each plan as well as where those cost savings were expected to be realized:

Estimated Annual
Restructuring Plan Cost Savings

Fiscal Year 2007 Plan (Scientific Instruments—to combine and optimize the
development and assembly on certain products and to centralize functions

and reallocate resources to rapidly growing product lines) ............. $3.0 million - $5.0 million
Fiscal Year 2009 Plan (Scientific Instruments—to reduce headcount and
operating costs and increase operating margins) .............. o oo $2.0 million - $3.0 million

These estimated cost savings are expected to impact cost of sales, selling, general and administrative
expenses and research and development expenses. Some of these cost savings have been and will continue
to be reinvested in other parts of our business, for example, as part of our continued emphasis on IRD and
consumable products. In addition, unrelated cost increases in other areas of our operations have and could
in the future offset some or all of these cost savings. Although it is difficult to quantify with any precision
our actual cost savings to date from these activities. many of which are still ongoing, we currently believe
that the ultimate savings realized will not differ materially from these estimates.

Impairment of Private Company Equity Investment. During fiscal year 2008, we became aware of
information which raised substantial doubt about the ability of a small, private company in which we hold a
cost-method equity investment to continue as a going concern. Based on this information, we determined that
the fair value of our investment had declined and that the decline was other-than-temporary. As a result, we
wrote off the entire $3.0 million carrying value via an impairment charge during fiscal year 2008.

Income Tax Expense. The effective income tax rate was 35.3% for fiscal year 2008, compared to 34.3%
for fiscal year 2007. The higher effective income tax rate in fiscal year 2008 was primarily due to higher U.S.
state taxes, higher U.S. taxes on distributable foreign earnings. higher non-deductible compensation expense
and a nen-deductibie in-process research and development charge related to an acquisition. These factors were
partially offset by the benefit from a reduction in unrecognized tax benefits due to the lapse of certain statutes
of limitations in fiscal year 2008 and lower taxes on retained foreign earnings.

Net Earnings. Net earnings for fiscal year 2008 included a non-deductible in-process research and
development charge of $1.7 million and the after-tax impacts of an impairment of a private company equity
investment of $3.0 million, $8.4 million in acquisition-related intangible amortization, $1.4 million in
amortization related to inventory written up to fair value in connection with recent acquisitions, $5.5
million in restructuring and other related costs and $9.3 million in share-based compensation expense. Net
earnings for fiscal year 2007 included the after-tax impacts of $7.9 million in acquisition-related intangible
amortization, $1.3 million in amortization related to inventory written up to fair value in connection with
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the acquisition of fonSpec, $4.3 million in restructuring and other related costs and $9.8 million in share-
based compensation expense. Excluding the after-tax impact of these items, the increase in net earnings in
fiscal year 2008 was primarily attributable to higher sales volume (including sales volume leverage on
operating expenses), partially offset by higher transition costs related to the relocation of manufacturing
activities for certain products and higher costs relating to new product introductions.

Fiscal Year 2007 Compared 10 Fiscal Year 2006
Segment Results

The following table presents comparisons of cur sales and operating earnings for each of our segments
and in total for fiscal years 2007 and 2006:

Fiscal Year Ended

September 28, September 29, Increase
2007 2006 (Decrease)
e of %o of
$ Sales $ Sales $ %
{(dollars in millions)
Sales by Segment:
Scientific Instruments ....................... §761.5 82.7% $686.0 82.2% $75.5 11.0%
Vacuum Technologies ............. ... ..... 159.1 17.3 148.7 17.8 10.4 7.0
Total company ............ ... ... .. ...t $920.6 100.0% $834.7 100.0% $85.9 10.3%

Operating Earnings by Segment:
Scientiftc Instruments ....................... $ 794 104% % 60.3 8.8% $19.1 31.8%
Vacuum Technologies . ................... ... 320 201 29.1 19.6 29 9.8
1114
(18.8)

Total segments ......... . il 12.1 894 Q.7 220 24.7
General corporate . ......... .. oo, 2.1y (16.6) (2.0 (2.2) (13.9)

Total company ...........cooviiinniiinnn $926 1010% 8% 728 87% $198 27.1%

Scientific Instruments.  The increase in Scientific Instruments sales was primarily attributable 1o
higher sales volume, in particular from mass spectrometers and other analytical instruments. Sales into
environmental and energy applications increased strongly, while sales into life science applications
increased modestly. Scientific Instruments revenues for fiscal year 2006 do not include sales for the full
period from PL International Limited (“Polymer Labs™), which was acquired in November 2005. Excluding
the impact of Polymer Labs, Scientific Instruments sales in fiscal year 2007 increased by approximately
10.7% compared to fiscal year 2006.

Scientific Instruments operating earnings for fiscal year 2007 include restructuring and other related
costs of $4.3 million, acquisition-related intangible amortization of $7.9 million, share-based compensation
expense of $3.4 million and amortization of $1.3 million relaled to inveniory written up 10 fair value in
connection with acquisitions. In comparison, Scientific Instruments operating earnings for tiscal year 2006
include restructuring and other related costs of $0.2 million, an in-process research and development
charge of $0.8 million relating to the acquisition of Polymer Labs, acquisition-related intangible
amortization of $8.3 million, share-based compensation expense of $3.5 million and amortization of $4.3
million related to inventory written up to fair value in connection with acquisitions. Excluding the impact
of these items, the increase in operating earnings as a percentage of sales resulted primarily from sales
volume leverage and efficiency improvements benefiting selling, general and administrative expenses as
well as the transition to internally sourced magnets for certain of our research products.

Vacuum Technologies. Vacuum Technologies sales increased primarily as a result of higher sales
volume of products for life science applications.

Vacuum Technologies operating earnings for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 include the impact of share-
based compensation expense of $1.1 million in both periods. Excluding the impact of these items, the
increase in operating earnings as a percentage of sales was primarily attributable to the impact of sales
volume leverage on research and development expenses and, to a lesser extent, selling, general and
administrative expenses.
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Consolidated Results

The following table presents comparisons of our sales and other selected consolidated financial results
for fiscal years 2007 and 2006:

Fiscal Year Ended .
September 28, September 29, Increase

2007 2006 ' (Decrease)
% of % of
$ Sales $ Sales $ ¥
(dollars in millions, except per share data)
Sales ... $920.6 100.0% $834.7 100.09% $85.9 10.3%
Grossprofit ................. ... ........ (4155 451 3743 448 412 11.0
Operating expenses: .
Selling, general and administrative ............. 257.8 280 2410 289 16.8 6.9
Research and development .................. . 65.2 7.0 59.7 7.1 55 9.1
Purchased in-process research and development . . . — —_ 0.8 0.1 (0.8) (100.0)
Total operating expenses ..................... 3230 350 3015 361 215 7.1
Operatingearnings ........................ 925 10.1 728 ° 8.7 19.7 27.1
Interest iNCOME ... ...t ieerennninnns, 6.2 0.7 4.0 0.5 2.2 53.0
Interest eXpense . ...l (1.9) (0.2) 22y (03 03 (13.6)
Income tax expense ................ ... ... (33 @37 @45 @9 (87 35.0
Net earnings ......... e $ 63.6 6.9% $ 50.1 6.0% $13.5  27.1%
Net earnings per diluted share .............. $ 205 3 159 $0.46

Sales. As discussed under the heading Segment Results above, sales by the Scientific Instruments
and Vacuum Technologies segments in fiscal year 2007 increased by 11.09% and 7.0%, respectively,
compared to fiscal year 2006. On a consolidated basis, sales grew 10.3% in fiscal year 2007, with strong
growth into environmental, energy, and applied research and other applications and modest growth into life
science applications. Revenues for fiscal year 2006 do not include sales for the full twelve months from
Polymer Labs, which was acquired in November 2005. Excluding the impact of Polymer Labs, sales in
fiscal year 2007 increased by approximatety 10.1% compared to fiscal year 2006.

Sales by geographic region in fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

September 28, September 29, Increase
2007 2006 {Decrease)
% of % of '
$ Sales $ Sales $ %

(dollars in millions)
Sales by Geographic Region: ' '
NorthAmerica ................cciiiivnnn.. $312.1 33.9% $325.5 39.0% $(13.4) (4.0%
Europe ..... .. .. 0. 376.8 40.9 309.6 371 67.2 287
AsiaPacific .......... ... ... ... ... . ... .... 185.6 202 163.6 19.6 220 134
Latin America ......... ... ..., 46.1 5.0 36.0 4.3 10.1 28.1
Totalcompany ........................ B $920.6 100.0% $834.7 100.0% §$ 83.9 10.3%

The increases in sales in Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America were primarily attributable to
stronger demand across a broad range of our products, in particular analytical instruments and vacuum
products. The weaker U.S. dollar also had a positive effect on the reported sales increases in these regions,
In Europe, higher sales of research products also contributed to the increase.

We believe the reduction in sales in North America was primarly due to a general trend in many
industries of manufacturing moving out of the U.S. for cost and tax reasons, which was in part due to
consolidations and a shift in pharmaceutical research and manufacturing to the Asia Pacific region. While this
trend negatively impacted sales in North America in fiscal year 2007, it probably benefited us in Asid Pacific.
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In addition to the factors described above, the sales decrease in North America and increase in Europe
compared to fiscal year 2006 were both more pronounced, and the sales increase in Asia Pacific was less
pronounced, due to the timing of sales of certain low-volume, high-selling price research products. We do
not consider these geographic shifts to be indicative of any particular trend for research products as a
whole, but rather to be reflective of the variability in results that these low-volume, high-selling price
research products can create. ‘

Gmss Profit.  Gross profit for fiscal year 2007 reflects the impact of $5.3 million in amortization
expense relating to acquisition-related intangible assets, $1.3 million in amortization expense related to
inventory written up to fair value in connection with the fonSpec acquisition. share-based’ compensauon
expense of $0.4 million and $1.2 million in restructuring and other related costs. In comparison, gross
profit for fiscal year 2006 reflects the impact of $5.1 million -in amortization expense relating to
acquisition-related intangible assets, $4.3 million in amortization expense related to inventory written up to
fair value in connection with the lonSpec, Polymer Labs and Magnex acquisitions and share-based
compensation expense of $0.4 million. Excluding the impact of these items, gross prof“ t'as a percentage of
sales in fiscal year 2007 was unchanged from fiscal year 2006, -

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal year
2007 included $2.6 million in amortization expense relating to acquisition-relafed intangible assets, $2.4
million in restructuring and other related costs and $8.9 miilion in share-based compensation expense. In
comparison, selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal year 2006 included $3.3 million in
acquisition-related intangible amortization, $0.2 million in restructuring and other related costs and $7.7
million in share-based compensation expense. Excluding the impact of these items, selling, general and
administrative expenses were lower as a percentage of sales in fiscal year 2007 primarily as a result of sales
volume leverage and efficiency improvements resulting from cost reduction activities.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses for fiscal year 2()07 include $O 8
million in restructuring and other related costs and $0.5 million in share-based compensation expeme In
comparison, research and development expenses for fiscal, year 2006 include share-based compensation
expense of $0.5 million. Excluding the impact of these items, research and development expenses were
slightly lower as a percentage of sales due to sales volume leverage. In absolute doliars, the increase in
research and development expenses resulted primarily from the acquisitions of Polymer Labs in the first
quarter of fiscal year 2006 and lonSpec in the second quarter of fiscal year 2006 and higher spending on
new product development primarily for information rich detection products.

Restructuring Activities. Between fiscal years 2003 and 2007, we committed to several restructuring
plans in order to adjust our organizational structure, improve operational efficiencies andfor eliminate
redundant or excess costs resulting from acquisitions or dispesitions during those periods. We have
incurred a total of $17.6 million in restructuring expense under these restructuring plans.

The following table sets forth ch.mge&; in our aggregate liability during fiscal year 2007 relating to all
restructurmg plans:

Employee-  Facilities-

Related Related * Total

(in thousands) . '

Balance at September 29,2006 .. ....................... e $ 233 $ 818 % 1,051
Charges lo expense, nel .. ... ... .. .ot 2,321 — 2,321
Cashpayments ...... ... it P . (393 - (127D .. (520)
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustmcms ............... . 61 - 16 77

Balance at September 28,2007 ... ... ..., .. PPN $2,222 $ 707 %2929

In addition, we have also recorded other costs related directly to these plans (comprised primarily of
employee retention and relocation costs and -acceleratéd depreciation of assets. to be disposed upon the
closure of facilities) totaling $5.4 million. Of this amount, a total of $2.0 million was recorded during fi scal
year 2007. :
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Fiscal Year 2007 Plan. The following table sets forth changes in our restructuring liability relating
to the fiscal year 2007 Plan: '

. Employee-  Facilities-
Related Related Total

(in thousands)

Balance at September 29,2006 . ... . ... .. i e $ = $— 5 —
Charges to expense, Nt .. ... ... .. ittt 2,301 — 2,301
Cashpayments .............. .. ... i L. (145) —_ {145)
'Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments ......... e 66 — 66

Balance at September 28, 2007 e $ 2,222 $ — $ 2222

The restructuring charges of $2.3 million recorded during fiscal year 2007 related to employee
termination benefits. In addition, we incurred $2.0 million in other costs relating directly to this
restructuring plan during fiscal year 2007, These costs were comprised of a $0.7 million non-cash charge
for accelerated depreciation of assets to be disposed upon the closure of facilities as well as $0.8 million in
employee retention costs and $0.5 million in other facility-related costs, both of which will be seitled in
cash,

Interest Income. The increase in interest income was primarily due to higher average invested cash
balances and higher. rates of interest on those balances during fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year
2006. ,

Income Tax Expense. The effective income tax rate was 34.3% for fiscal year 2007, compared to
32.9% for fiscal year 2006. The lower effective income tax rate in fiscal year 2006 was primarily due to a
net reduction of $1.8 million in tax reserves resulting from the positive outcome of tax uncertainties during
that period, partially offset by the negative impact of a $0.8 million non-deductible in-process research and
development charge recorded during the same period.

Net Earnings. Net earnings for fiscal year 2007 include $9.8 million in share-based compensation
expense, $7.9 mllllon in acquisition-related intangible amortization, $4.3 million in restructuring and other
related cosls and $1.3 million in amortization related to inventory written up to fair value in connection
with recent acqumnons Net earnings for fiscal year 2006 include $8.7 million in share-based
compensatlon expense, $8.3 million in acquisition-related intangible ameortization, $4.3 million in
amortization related to inventory written up to fair value in connection with recent acquisitions, $0.2
million in restructuring and other related costs and an in-process research and development charge of $0.8
million. Excluding the impact of these items, the increase in net earnings in fiscal year 2007 resulted
primarily from higher sales volume and lower selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of sales.

Outlook

We completed our fourth quarter and fiscal year 2008 with sound orders, revenues, net earnings and
cash flow, and believe that we are well positioned, with a broad portfolic of products and applications,
several recently released new products, an agile global distribution network, a recurring stream of after-
sales revenue and. if they hold, favorable currency exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar. However, we
are concerned by increasingly negative economic indicators and the likelihood that economic conditions
will get significantly worse and have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and/
or cash flows. These conditions presént significant uncertainties that make it difficult for us to project our
near-term results of operanons

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. requires us to exercise certain judgments in selecting and applying
accounting policies and methods. The following is a summary of what we consider to be our most critical
accounting policies-—those that ar¢ most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of.
operations and that require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments—the effecis of thosc
accounting policies applied and the judgments made in their application. :
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Revenue Recognition. We derive revenues from product sales (including accessory sales) and
services. We recognize revenue on product sales and accessory sales when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, the contract price is fixed or determinable, the product or accessory has been delivered,
title and risk of loss have passed to the customer and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonabty
assured. Our sales are typically not subject to rights of return and, historically, actual sales returns have not
been significant. Product sales that do not involve unique customer acceptance terms or new specifications
or technology with customer acceptance provisions, but that do involve instatlation services, are accounted
for as multiple-element arrangements, where the larger of the contractual billing holdback or the fair value
of the installation service is deferred when the product is delivered and subsequently recognized when the
installation is complete. For certain other product sales that do involve unique customer acceptance terms
or new specifications or technology with customer acceptance provisions, all revenue is déferred until all
contractually required customer acceptance provisions and product specifications have been satisfied.
Revenue related to -service contracts is recognized ratably over the term of the contracts, Unearned
maintenance and service contract revenue is included in accrued liabilities on the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Revenue related to incident-based paid service and training services is
recognized when the related services are provided to the customer.

In all cases, the fair value of undelivered elements is deferred until those items are delivered to the
customer. Sales arrangements invelving undelivered elements are primarily confined to the Scientific
Instruments segment and involve product accessories, installation services and/or training services that are
delivered after the related product has been deliveréd. Product accessories generally enhance the
functionality of the product but are not essential to the functionality of the product. In determining relative
fair values for product accessories and training services, we utilize published price list values as the basis
for allocating the overall arrangement consideration. List prices are representative of fair value, as stand-
alone sales of products, product accessories and training have occurred at list price. The fair value of
instalflation services is calculated by applying standard service billing rates to the’eétimatc of the number of
hours to install a specific product based on historical experience. Estimates of installation hours have
historically been accurate. '

In limited cases, produ'cl accessories ordered by customers may not have an established list price as
the item may be a new or slightly modified accessory with no prior sales history. In these limited cases, we
consider whether a comparable or substitute accessory that provides similar functionality exists for which
fair value has been established and then use that comparable or substitute accessory’s list price in
estimating the fair value of the undelivered elements, If such conditions do not exist, all arrangement
revenue is deferred until the undelivered element is delivered; however, such cases are infrequent and arise
from a significant technological advance that creates products or product accessories without a suitable
comparable or substitute accessory from which to derive fair value,

We determine when and how much revenue may be recognized on a particular transaction in a
particular period based on our best estimates of the fair value of undelivered elements and our judgment of
when our performance obligations have been met as outlined above. These judgments and estimates impact
reported revenues. : .

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts Receivable. - We sell our products and extend trade credit to a
large number of customers. These customers are dispersed across many different industries and
geographles and, historically, no qmgle customer has accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues or
trade accounts, receivable. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally do not
require collateral from them. Although bad debt write- offs have hlstoncally been insignificant, allowances
are established for amounts that are considered to be uncollectible. These allowances represent our best
estimates and are based on our judgment afier considering a number of factors including third-party credit
reports, actual payment history, customer-specific financial information and broader market and economic
trends and conditions. In the event that actual uncollectible amounts differ from these best estimates,
change% in allowances for doubtful accounts might become necessary.

Inventory Valuation. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being computed
on an average-cost basis. Provisions are made to write down potentially excess, obsolete or slow-moving
inventories 1o their net realizable value. These provisions are based on our best estimates after considering
historical demand, projected future demand (including current backlog), inventory purchase commitments,

30




industry and market trends and conditions and other factors. In the event that actual excess, obsolete or
slow-moving inventories differ from these best estimates, increases to inventory reserves might become
necessary.

Product Warranry. Qur products are generally subject to warranties and liabilities are therefore
established for the estimated future costs of repair or replacement through charges to cost of sales at the
time the related sale is recognized. These liabilities are adjusted based on our best estimates of future
warranty costs after considering historical and projected product failure rates and product repair costs. In
the event that actual experience differs from these best estimates, changes in our warranty liabilities might
become necessary.

Environmental Liabilities. As discussed more fully in Item I—Business and Item IA—Risk Factors—
Environmental Matters, we enlered into a Distribution Agreement in connection with becoming a separate,
public company on April 2, 1999, Under the terms of that Distribution Agreement, we are obligated to
indemnify Varian Medical Systems, Inc. (“VMS") for one-third of certain environmental investigation,
monitoring and/or remediation costs (after adjusting for any insurance proceeds and tax benefits recognized or
realized by VMS for such costs). The liabilities recorded by us relating to these matters are based on our best
estimates after considering currently available information regarding the cost and timing of remediation
efforts, related legal matters, insurance recoveries and other environmental-related events. As additional
information becomes available, these amounts are adjusted accordingly. Should the cost or timing of
remediation efforts, legal matters, insurance recoveries or other environmental-related events (including any
which may be currently unidentified) differ from our current expectations and best estimates, changes to our
reserves for environmental matiers might become necessary.

Share-based Compensation. We adopted SFAS 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006. SFAS
123(R} requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment
awards including employee stock options and shares issued under our employee stock purchase plan based
on estimated fair values. Under SFAS 123(R), we estimate the value of share-based payments on the date
of grant using the Black-Scholes model, which was also used previously for the purpose of providing pro
forma financiai information as required under SFAS 123. The determination of the fair value of, and the
timing of expense relating to, share-based payment awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of variables including the
expected term of awards, expected stock price volatility and expected forfeitures.

In determining the Company's expected stock price volatility assumption, the Company reviews both
the historical and implied volatility of the Company’s common stock, with implied volatitity based on
publicly traded options on the Company’s common stock. Unless the volume or maturity of these publicly
traded options does not satisfy the conditions to use implied volatility under SAB 107, we determine the
expected stock price volatility assumptions using a combination of historical and implied volatility. SFAS
123(R) also requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeiwres differ from those estimates. We estimate expected forfeitures, as well as the
expected term of awards, based on historical experience. Future changes in these assumptions, our stock price
or certain other factors could result in changes in our share-based compensation expense in future periods.

Income Taxes. We are subject (o income taxes in the U.S. and numerous jurisdictions outside of the
U.S. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for
income taxes as well as in assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets. During the ordinary course
of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. We establish liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits, as well as reserves for related potential
penalties and interest, based on the technical merits of our tax positions and the extent to which, additional
taxes, penalties and interest will be due. These unrecognized tax benefits are established when, despite our
belief that our tax return positions are fully supportable, certain positions can be challenged and may not be
sustained on review by tax authorities. These balances are adjusted in light of changing facts and
circumstances. Our income tax expense includes the impact of new unrecognized tax benefits recorded as
well as changes to existing unrecognized tax benefits that are considered appropriate. Should the ultimate
resolution of any tax-related uncertainties (including any which may be currently unidentified) differ from
those we used to determine our recorded liabilities, charges against or credits to our unrecognized tax
benefits and/or income tax provision will become necessary.
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Our judgments regarding the realizability of deferred tax assets are based on. among other things, the
relative weight of both positive and negative evidence regarding future taxable income, and may change
due to changes in market conditions, tax laws, tax planning strategies or other factors, Should our
assumptions and consequently our estimates in this area change in the future, the amount of valuation
allowances recorded relating to our deferred tax assets may be increased or decreased, which would result
in charges against or credits to our income tax provision.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We generated $79.0 million of cash from operating activities in fiscal year 2008, compared 10 $99.9
million generated in fiscal year 2007, Cash generated from operating activities decreased primarily due to
relative increases in inventories ($19.8 million) and accounts receivable ($13.3 million). The relative
increase in inventories was primarily due to a build- -up of inventory 1o support increased orders, new
product intreductions and the transition of certain products to new manufacturing locations, while the
relative increase in accounts receivable was primarily due to a higher sales volume during fiscal year 2008.

We used $77.4 million of cash for investing activities in fiscal year 2008, which compares to $24.5
million used for investing activities in fiscal year 2007, The increase in cash used for investing activities'in
fiscal year 2008 was primai’ily the result of the acquisitions of the Analogix Business in November 2007
and Oxford Diffraction in April 2008 as well as higher net capital expenditures due pnmarlly to the
construction of our IRD center in Walnut Creek, California.

We used $94.6 million of cash for financing activities in fiscal year 2008, which compares to $48.9
million used for financing activities in fiscal year 2007. The increase in cash used for financing activities in
fiscal year 2008 was primarily due to higher expenditures to repurchase and retire common stock (such
expendifures were made in both periods as a result of a continued effort to utilize excess cash to reduce the
number of outstanding common shares), lower proceeds from the issuance of common stock (due to lower
stock option exercise volume) and higher repayments of debt.

- We maintain relationships with banks in many countries from which we sometimes obtain bank
guarantees and short-term standby letters of credit. These guarantees and letters of credit relate primarily to
advance payments and deposits made 1o our subsidiaries by customers for which separate liabilities are
recorded in the consolidated financial statements. As of October 3. 2008. a total of $21.2 million of these
bank guarantees,and letters of credit were outstanding. No amounts had been drawn by beneficiaries under
these or any other outstanding guarantees or letters of credit as of that date.

As of October 3, 2008, we had an $18.8 million term loan outstanding with a U.S. financial institution.
The balance outstanding under this term loan was $25.0 million at September 28, 2007. As of both
October 3, 2008 and September 28, 2007, the fixed interest rate on the term loan was 6.7%. The term loan
contains certain covenants that limit future borrowings and the payment of cash dividends and require the
maintenance of certain levels of working capital and operating results. We were in compliance with ail
restrictive covenants of the term loan agreement at October 3, 2008.

In connection with cértain acquisitions, we have accrued a portion of the purchase price that has been
retained to secure the respective sellers’ -indemnification obligations. As of October 3, 2008, we had
retained an aggregate of $1.6 million, which will become payable (net of-any indemnification ¢laims)
between April and November 2009. In addition to the above amounts, the final $0.7 million retained in
connection with the acquisition of lonSpec in February 2006 was paid during fiscal year 2008.

As of October 3, 2008, we had several outstanding contingent consideration arrangements relating to
acquired businesses. Amounts subject to these arrangements can be earned over the respective
measurement period. depending on the pertormancc of the acquired business relative to certain financial
and/or operational targets.
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The following table summarizes contingent consideration arrangements as of October 3, 2008:

Remaining
Amount
Available Measurement . .
Acquired Business (maximum) Period Measurement Period End Date

{in millions)

PL International Ltd. .......... C 3153 3 years December 2008
IonSpec Corporation .......... i4.0 3 years April 2009
Oxford Diffraction ........ O L A 3 years ' April 2011
Analogix Business ........ ... 4.0 3 yéars December 2010
Other ............ ... ... ... 0.6 2 years July 2010
Total .........coviiiiniin, C$439 ,

During fiscal year 2008, we paid $4.0 million for the final contingent consideration payment related to
Magnex Scientific Limited, which we acquired in November 2004.

The Distribution Agreement provides that we are responsible for certain litigation to which VAI was a
party, and further provides that we will indemnify VMS and VSEA for one-third of the costs, expenses and
other liabilities relating to certain discontinued, former and corporate operations of VAL, including certain
environmental liabilities (see Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

As of October 3, 2008, we had cancelable commitments to a contractor for capital expenditures
totaling approximately $17.9 million relating to the construction of our IRD center in Walnut Creek,
California. In the event that these commitments are canceled for reasons other than the contractor’s default,
we may be responsnble for reimbursement of actual costs incurred by the contractor. We had no material
non-cancelable commitments for capital expenditures as of October 3, 2008, In the aggregate, we currently
anticipate that our capital expenditures will be approximately 2.5% to 3.0% of sales in fiscal year 2009.

As discussed above under the heading Restructuring Activities, in April 2007, we committed to a plan
to combine and optimize the development and assembly of most of our NMR and mass spectrometry
products, to further centralize related administration and other functions and to reallocate certain resources
toward more rapidly growing product lines and geographies. In connection with this plan, we expect to
make capital expenditures of up to $30.7 miilion, of which $9.8 million has been spent through October 3,
2008. These capital expenditures began in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007 and wilt continue through
fiscal year 2009. We also expect to incur total restructuring and other related costs associated with this plan
of between $12.0 million and $15.0 million, of which $5.5 million was incurred in fiscal year 2008 and
$4.3 million was incurred in fiscal year 2007. Some portion of these costs is expected to be settled through
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009, except for certain lease termination-related costs, which might be
settled as late as the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2012, A rtotal of $10.5 million to $13.0 million of these
costs are expected (o result in cash expenditures, of which a total of $5.2 million was paid in fiscal year
2008 and $0.2 million was paid in fiscal year 2007. o

In October QOOé, we entered into an agreement with VMS under which we agreed to surrender to
them for $21 million the sublease for our facility in Palo Alto, California. We received $5 million of the
amount payable under this agreement in the first quarter of fiscal year 2009 and will receive the remaining
$16 million when we fully vacate the facility in the third quarter of fiscal year 2010.

In February 2008, our Board of Directors approved a new stock repurchase program under which we
are authorized to utilize up to $100 million to repurchase shares of our common stock. This repurchase
program is effective through December 31, 2009. During fiscal year 2008, we repurchased and retired
1,070,000 shares under this .1uthor|zatlon at an aggregate cost of $55.4 million. As of October 3, 2008, we
had remaining authorization to repurcbase $44.6 million of our common stock under this repurchase
program.

¢

In January 2007, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program under which we were
authorized to utilize up to $100 million to repurchase shares of our common stock. This repurchase
program was effective until December 31, 2008. During fiscal year 2008, we repurchased and retired
876,000 shares under this repurchase program at an aggregate cost of $50.4 million, which completed this
repurchase prograr. : : ‘
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QOur liquidity is affected by many other factors, some based on the normal ongoing operations of our
business and others related to the uncertainties of the industries and economies i which we operate. Our
liquidity has not been materially affected by the recent deterioration in the global financial markets or
global economic conditions in general. However, this deterioration has adversely impacted the availability
and cost of credit to us as well as our customers and suppliers.

.

We have no material exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates or investment valuations,
We invest our excess cash primarily in depository accounts, short-term U.S. Treasury securities and money
market funds. Our outstanding debt carries a fixed interest rate. While we have not historically needed to
borrow to support working capital or capital expenditure requirements, there is no assurance that we might
not need to borrow to support these requirements given global economic uncertainties. This could also
adversely affect our ability to complete acquisitions and repurchase our common stock.

Notwithstanding the above, we believe that cash generated from operations. together with our current
cash and cash equivalents balances and current borrowing capability, will be sufficient to satisfy our cash
requirements for the next 12 months. There can be no assurance, however, that our business will continue
to generate cash flows at current levels or that credit will be available to us if and when needed. Future
operating performance and our ability to obtain credit will be subject to future economic conditions and to
financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The following labl'e summarizes the amount and estimated timing of future cash expenditures relating
to principal payments-on outstanding long-term debt, minimum rentals due for certain facilities and other
leased assets under long-term, non-cancelable operating leases and other long-term liabilities as of
October 3, 2008:

N

Fiscal Years
2009 2010 . 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter  Total

{in thousands) .
Operating leases .............. $8,602 $ 6473 $3303 $ 2,040 $1.621 $ 3380 325419
Long-term debt

(including current portion) . ... — 6,250 — 6,250 — 6,250 18,750
Other long-term liabilities ... ... — 5468 4,197 3,593 2,785 27389 43432
Total ...............0oo.... $8,602 $18,191 §7,500 $11,883 $4,406 $37.019 387,601

As of October 3, 2008, we did not have any off-balance sheet commercial commitments that could
result in a significant cash cutflow upon the occurrence of some coatingent event, except for contingent
payments of up to a maximum of $43.9 million related to acquisitions as discussed under Liquidity and
Capital Resources above, the specific amounts of which are not currently determinable.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements |

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 137, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies to previous accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after November-15, 2007, with certain exceptions which are described below. In February 2008,
the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP™) 157-1, Application of FASB Statement No. 157 10 FASB
Statement No. 13 and Other Accounting Pronouncements That Address Fair Value Measurements for
Purposes of Lease Classification or Measurement under Statement 13, which amends SFAS 157 to exclude
certain leasing transactions from its scope. Also in February 2008, the FASB issued FSP 157-2, Effective
Date of FASB Statement No. 157, which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for all nonfinancial assets
and nonfinancial liabilities to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, except for items that are
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recognized or disclosed. at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). In
QOctober 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 157-3, Derermining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the
Marker for That Asset is Not Active. FSP 157-3 provides an-example to illustrate key considerations in
determining the fair value of a financial asset when the market for that financial asset is not active. We do
not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of
operations. ' >

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 1539, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities-~Including an amendment of FASB Statement 115, which provides companies with an
option to measure eligible financial assets and liabilities in their entirety at fair value. The fair value option
may be applied instrument by instrument, and may be applied only to entire instruments. If a company
elects the fair value option for an eligible item, changes in the item's fair value must be reporied as
unrealized gains and losses in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are evaluating the options provided under SFAS 159 and
their potential impact on our financial condition and results of operations if implemented.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations, (“SFAS
141(RY"). SFAS 141(R) retains the fundamental requirements of the original pronouncement requiring that
the purchase method be used for all business combinations but also provides revised guidance for
recognizing and measuring identifiable assets and goodwill acquired, liabilities assumed, and any
nonconirolling interest in the acquiree. It also requires the recognition of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed arising from contingencies, the capitalization of in-process research and development at fair
value, and the expensing of acquisition-related costs as incurred. SFAS 141(R) also requires that certain tax
contingencies and adjustments to valuation allowances related to business combinations, which previously
were adjusted to goodwill, must be adjusted to income tax expense, regardless of the date of the original
business combination. SFAS [41(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We
are currently evaluating the i’equirements of SFAS 141(R) and do not expect its adoption in the first quarter
of fiscal year 2010 to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations. However,
in the event that we complete acquisitions subsequent to our adoption of SFAS 141(R), the application of
its provisions will likely have a material impact on our results of operations, although we are not currently
able to estimate that impact.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements—-an amendment of ARB No, 51, SFAS 160 requires that ownership interests in subsidiaries held
by parties other than the parent and the amount of consolidated net income be clearty identified, labeled
and presented in the consolidated financial statements. It also requires once a subsidiary is deconsolidated,
any retained noncontrolling equity investment in the former subsidiary be initially measured at fair value.
Sufficient disclosures are required to clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and
the interests of the noncontrolling owners. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008, and requires retroactive adoption of the presentation and disclosure requirements for
existing minority interests. All other requirements are applied prospectively. We do not expect the adoption
of SFAS 160 to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, an amendment of FASB Siatement No. 133, which requires additional disclosures about the
objectives and strategies of the derivative instruments and hedging activities, the method of accounting for
such instruments under SFAS 133 and its related interpretations, and a tabular disclosure of the effects of
such instruments and related hedged items on our financial condition and results of operations. SFAS 161
is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS
161 to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intungible Assets,
which amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used
to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset. The intent of FSP 142-3 is to improve the
consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the asset under
SFAS 141(R), Business Combinations, and other accounting literature. FSP 142-3 is effective for fiscal

35

-
1=

o -
= .
[

-~




years beginning after December 15, 2008 and must be applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired
after the effective date. Early adoption is prohibited. Given that FSP 142-3 applies to intangible assets
acquired after the effective date, we are not able to determine whether its adoption will have a material
impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk. We enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to minimize the
short-term impact of foreign currency fluctuations on assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional
currencies. From time to time, we also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to minimize the
impact of foreign currency fluctuations on forecasted transactions. The success of our hedging activities
depends on our ability to forecast balance sheet exposures and transaction activity in various foreign
currencies. To the extent that these forecasts are overstated or understated during periods of currency
volatility, we could experience unanticipated currency gains or losses. However, we believe that in most
cases any such gains or losses would be substantially offset by losses or gains from the related foreign
exchange forward contracts. We therefore believe that the direct effect of an immediate [0% change in the
exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and all other currencies i$ not reasonably likely to have a material
adverse effect on ouvr financial condition or results of operations.

At October 3, 2008, there were no outstanding forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges of
forecasted transactions. During the fiscal year ended October 3, 2008, no foreign exchange gains or losses
from cash flow hedge ineffectiveness were recognized. .

QOur foreign exchange forward contracts generally range from one 1o 12 months in original maturity. A
summary of all foreign exchange forward contracts that were outstanding as of October 3, 2008 follows:

Notional Notional
Value VYalue
Sold Purchased

' ¥

(in thousands)

Australiandollar . .. ... ... . ... $ — $§ 46,334
Buro oL e e e e — 39907 -
Britishpound ....... ... ... i — 17,374
Japanese yen ... ... e 4,822 —
Swedish krona ... .... P — 2,788
'Canadi‘andollar.........................._ ............ 2,460 —
Koreanwon ................ e e s 1,895 —
Total .o e e $ 9.177. $ 106,403

Interest Rate Risk. We have no material exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates. We
invest our excess cash primarily in short-term U.S. Treasury securities and money market funds, and
changes in interest rates would not be material to our financial condition or results of operations. We enter
into debt obligations principally to support general corporate purposes, including working capital
requirements, capital expenditures and acquisitions. At October 3, 2008, our debt obligations had fixed
interest rates. :

Based upon rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities, the
carrying amount of long-term debt approximates the estimated fair value.

Although payments under certain operating leases for our facilities are tied to market indices, we are
not exposed to material interest rate risk associated with our operating leases. '

Debt Obligations.
Principal Amounts and Related Weighted-Average Interest Rates By Year of Maturity
Fiscal Years
2005 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

(in thousands}
Long-term debt

(including current portion) ... $ — $6250 $— $6250 % — 3% 6250 $ 18,750
Average interestrate .......... —% 0.7% —% 67% —% 6.7% 6.7%
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Defined Benefit Retirement Plans. Most of our retirement plans, including all' U.S.-based plans, are
defined contribution plans. However, we also provide defined benefit pension plans in certain countries
outside of the U.5: Our obligations under these defined benefit plans will ultimately- be settled in the future
and are therefore subject to estimation. Defined- benefit pension accounting under SFAS 87, Employers’
Accounting for.Pensions, as amended, is intended to reflect the recognition of future benefit costs over the
employees’ estimated service periods based on the terms of the pension plans and the investment and
funding decisions made by us. - o . : .

For our defined bcneﬁt pension plans, we make assumptions regarding several variables including the
expected long:term rate of return on plan assets and the discount rate in order to determine defined benefit
pension plan expense for the year. This expense is referred to as “net periodic pension cost.” We assess the
expected long-term rate.of return on plan assets and discount rate assumption for each defined benefit plan
based on relevant market conditions as prescribed by SFAS 87 and make adjustments to the assumptions as
appropriate. On an annual basis, we analyze the rates of return on plan assets and discount rates used and
determine that.these rates are reasonable. For rates of return, this analysis is based on a review of the nature
of the underlying. assets, the allocation of those assets and their historical performance relative to the
overall markets in the countries where the related plans are effective. Historically, our assumed asset
allocations have not varied significantly from the actual allocations. Discount rates are based on the
prevailing market long-term interest rates in the countries where the related plans are effective. As of
October 3, 2008,.the estimated long-term rate of return on our defined benefit pension plan assets ranged
from 0.8%. to 7.1% (weighted-average of 5.8%), and the assumed discount rate for our defined benefit
pension plan obligations ranged from 2.0% to 6.1% (weighted-average of 6.0%).

If any of these assumptions were to change, our net periodic pension cost would also change. We
incurred net periodic pension cost relating to our defined benefit pension plans of $1.5 million in fiscal year
2008, $2.3 million in fiscal year 2007 and $2.3 million in fiscal year 2006, and expect our net periodic
pension cost to be approximately $1.6 million in fiscal year 2009. A one percent decrease in the weighted-
average estimated return on plan assets or assumed discount rate would increase our net periodic pension
cost for fiscal year 2009 by $1.0 million or $0.4 million, respectively. As of October 3, 2008, our projected
benefit obligation relating to defined benefit pension plans was $47.7 million. A one percent decrease in
the weighted-average estimated discount rate would increase this obligation by $9.8 million.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item is submitted as a separate section to this Report. See Item /5—
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures {as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act™)) required by Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, our Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of the end of the period covered
by this Annual Report on Form 10-K (October 3, 2008), our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective.

Inherent Limitations on the FEffectiveness of Controls. Our management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal
control over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well
designed and operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s
objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
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have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can
be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons or by collusion of two or more people. The design of
any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential
future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or
deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in
a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting. Qur management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Our management (including the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer) evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of October 3, 2008 based on the framework defined in Internal Control —. Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on
that evaluation under this framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of October 3, 2008. -

Antestation report of independent registered public accounting firm. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has also audited the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of October 3, 2008, as stated in their attestation report included on page F-2 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. '

Changes in internal control over financial reporting. ‘There was no change in our internal control
over financial reporting that occurred during our fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materiatly affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART 111

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item with respect to our executive officers is incorporated herein by
reference from the corresponding information contained in [tem | of Part I of this Report under the heading
Executive Officers.

The information required by this ltem with respect to our directors and nominees for director is
incorporated herein by reference from the correspondling information provided under the heading Proposal
One—FElection of Directors in our Proxy Statement.

The information required by this Item with respect to our audit committee financial expert is
incorporated herein by reference from the corresponding information provided under the heading Meetings
and Committees of the Board—Audit Committee in our Proxy Statement.

The information required by Item 405 of Regulation 5-K is incorporated herein by reference from the
corresponding information provided under the heading Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance in our Proxy Statement.

Our Corporate Governance Guidefines and the charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation
Committee, Nominating and Govemance Committee and Stock Committee of .our Board of Directors are
available at our main Internei website, at http://www.varianinc.com, and can be accessed by clicking on
“Investors” and then on “Corporate Governance”. Upon request, we will provide to any person, at no
charge, a copy of any of these materials. Such a request must be made in writing to our Secretary, at
Varian, Inc., 3120 Hansen Way, Paio Alto, CA 94304-1030.

We have adopted a code of ethics that aprlies to our Chief Executive Officer. Chief Financial Officer
and Controller. This code of ethics, which is included in our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that
applies to all officers, directors and employees, is posted on our website. The Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics may be found as follows: '

1. From our main website, click on “Investors.”
2. Next, click on “Corporate Governance.”

3. Finally, click on “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.”

. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under ftem 10 of Form 8-K, regarding any amendment
to, or waiver from, a provision of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics with respect to directors and
executive officers, by posting such information on our website, at the address and location specified above,

Item 11, Executive Compensation

. +

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the corresponding
information provided under the headings Executive Compensation Information and Compensation
Committee Report in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the corresponding
information provided under the headings Equity Compensation Plan Information and Stock Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners in our Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the corresponding
information provided under the headings Board Structure and Nominees and Related Party Transactions in
our Proxy Statement. '

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item with respect to our principal accounting firm is incorporated
herein by reference from the corresponding information provided under the heading Proposal Two—
Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

‘Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(2) (1) Consolidated Financial Statements: {see Index on.page F-1 of this Report)

Report of Independent Reglstered Public Accounting Firm
Consolldated Statement of Earnings for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006
Consolidated Balance Sheet at fiscal year end 2008 and 2007

- Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equlty and Comprehenswe Income for ﬁscal

years 2008, 2007 and 2006 .
Consolidated Stat_ement of Cash Flows for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule: (see Index on page F-1 of this Report)

‘The following Financial Statement Schedule for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006 is

filed as a part of this Report and should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated
Financial Statements. o

Schedule

II Valuation and Qnalifying Accounts.

]

All other réquired schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are
required or because the required information is glven in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the
Notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit " . ; ‘ Exhibit Filed
No. Exhibit Description + Form’, Date Filed - Number(s) .Herewith
2.1 Amended and Restated Distribution 10-Q -~ May 17,1999 2.1
Agreement, dated as of January 14, 1999,
among Varian Associates, Inc., Varian . v
Semiconductor Equipment Associates, Inc. . )
and Varian, Inc. : - : o oo
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of 10-Q May 17, 1999 3.1,32
Varian, Inc. | - ) : . .
3.2 By-Laws of Varian, Inc. 10-Q ’ May ]7,’1999 © 337
4.1  Specimen Common Stock Certificate. ' 10/A  March 8, 1999 4l
42  Rights Agreement, dated as of February 18, 10/A March 8, 1999 42
1999, between Varian, Inc. and First Chicago :
Trust Company of New York.
' 43 Flrst Amendment to nghts Agreement ) S-A/A_ ‘ I\‘onember 21,2001 2
dated as of November 2, 2001, between
Varian, Inc. and First Chicago Trust '
Company of New York. B : -
4.4

Second Amendment to Rights Agreement, 10-Q Miy 17, 2004 44
dated as of May 12, 2004, between Varian,. . . .
Inc. and'EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. - .- : : U
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Exhibit
No.

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form Date Filed

Exhibit
Number(s})

Filed
Herewith

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5%

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*
10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10,12%*

10.13*

10.14*

Intellectual Property Agreement, dated as of
April 2, 1999, among Varian Associates, Inc.,
Varian Semiconductor Equipment Associates,
Inc. and Varian, Inc.

Varian, Inc. Amended and Restated Note
Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement and
Assumption dated as of April 2, 1999,

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of
February 4, 2005, between Varian, Inc. and
Jabil Circuit, Inc.

Form of Indemnity Agreement between
Varian, Inc. and its Directors and Officers.

Varian, Inc. Omnibus Stock Plan, as amended
and restated as of November 8, 2007.

Varian, Inc. Management Incentive Plan, as
amended and restated as of November 8,
2007.

Varian, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Pan,
as amended and restated effective
November 13, 2008.

Varian, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan,

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement between Varian, Inc. and
Executive Officers (used beginning April 2,
1999 and prior to November 10, 2003).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement between Varian, Inc. and
Executive Officers (used beginning
November 10, 2003 and prior to
November 11, 2004).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement between Varian, Inc. and
Executive Officers (used beginning
November 11, 2004 and prior to December 4,
2006).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement between Varian, Inc. and
Executive Officers (used beginning
December 4, 2006 and prior 1o November §,
2007).

Form of Nonquatified Stock Option
Agreement between Varian, Inc. and
Executive Officers (used beginning
November 8, 2007).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option'
Agreement between Varian, Inc. and Non-
Employee Directors. '
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10-Q  May 17, 1999

10-Q May 17, 1999

8K March 17, 2005

10-K  December 9, 2004
8-K February 1, 2008

8-K  November 13, 2007

10-Q May 10, 2000
10-K  December 7, 2006

10-K  December 7, 2006

10-K  December 7, 2006

10-K  December 7, 2006

8-K  November 13, 2007

10-K  December 9, 2004

10.2

10.6
21

10.5
10.1

10.9

10.1
10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.3

10.12




FORM 10-K

Exhibit
No.

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

Date Filed

Exhibit Filed
Number(s) Herewith

10.15*

10.16*

10,17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22+*

10.23#*

10.24*

10.25%

10.26%

10.27*

10.28*

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement between Varian, Inc. and Non- -
Employee Directors—For New Director/
Chairman Grants (used beginning February I,
2008).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option

Agreement between Varian, Inc. and Non-
Employee Directors—For Annual Director
Grants (used beginning February 1, 2008).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement between
Varian, Inc. and Executive Officers (used
prior to December 4, 2006).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement between
Varian, Inc. and Executive Officers (used
beginning December 4, 2006 and prior to
November 8, 2007).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement between
Varian, Inc. and Executive Officers (used
beginning November 8, 2007).

Form of Performance Share Agreement
between Varian, Inc. and Executive Officers
{used beginning November 8, 2007).

Form of Performance Share Agreement
between Varian, Inc. and Executive Officers
(used beginning October 6, 2008)

Form of Stock Unit Agreement between
Varian, Inc. and Non-Employee Directors.

Change n Control Agreement, as amended
and restated as of November 8, 2007,
between Varian, Inc. and Garry W. Rogerson.

Change in Control Agreement, as amended
and restated as of November 8, 2007,
between Varian, Inc. and G. Edward
McClammy.

Change in Control Agreement, as amended
and restated as of November 8, 2007.
between Varian, Inc. and Martin

O’ Donoghue.

Change in Control Agreement, as amended -
and restated as of November 8, 2007.
between Varian, Inc. and Sergio Piras.

Change in Control Agreement, as amended
and restated as of November 8, 2007,
between Varian, Inc. and Arthur W. Homan,

Change in Control Agreement, as aménded
and restated as of November 8, 2007,
between Varian, Inc. and Sean M. Wirtjes.
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10-Q

10-Q

10-K

10-K

10-Q

10-Q

3-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

10-K

May 6, 2008
May 6. 2008
December 7, 2006
December 7, 2006

February 5, 2008

November 13, 2007

<September 15, 2008

February 8, 2005

"November 13, 2007

_November 13, 2007

v

November 13, 2007

November 13, 2007

November 13, 2007

lNovember 21,2007

10.29 .

1030

10.14

10.15

10.17

10,1

10.2

10.23

104

10.5
10.6

10.7
10.8 .

10.25




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed
Form Date Filed Number{s)y Herewith

10.29%

10.30*

10.31*

10.32*

10.33*

18.1

21
23

312

32.1

322

Change in Control Agreement, dated as of
September 15, 2008, between Varian, Inc.
and Robert W. Dean II.

Change in Control Agreement, dated as of
October 6, 2008, between Varian, Inc. and
Gordon B. Tredger.

Description of Compensatory Arrangements
between Varian, Inc. and Non-Employee
Directors.

Description of Certain Compensatory
Arrangements between Varian, Inc. and
Executive Officers.

Description of Certain Compensatory
Arrangements between Varian S.p.A. and
Sergio Piras.

Preferability letter regarding inventory
accounting principle change.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant,

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.
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8-K  September 15, 2008 10.1

8-K  February 1, 2008 10.26

10-K  November 21, 2007 10.27

10-Q  February 5, 2008 10.28
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10-K  December 7, 2000 18.1

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements- of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.
VARIAN, INC,
(Registrant)
Dated; November 26, 2008 ' By: Isf G. EDWARD MCCLAMMY

G. Edward McClammy
Senior-Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title ) Date
/s/ GARRY W. ROGERSON - President and Chief Executive Officer November 26, 2008
Garry W. Rogerson (Principal Executive Officer), Director
fs/ G. EDWARD McCLAMMY Senior Vice President and Chief Finz;ncial November 26, 2008
G. Edward McClammy Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ RoBERT W. DEAN 1] Controller November 26, 2008
Robert W. Dean 11 (Principal Accounting Officer)

/sf ALLEN J. LAUER Chairman of the Board ' '~ - November 26, 2008
Allen J. Lauer ‘

fs/ RicHARD U. DE SCHUTTER Director . November 26, 2008
Richard U. De Schutter !

/sf JIamEs T. GLOVER Director November 26, 2008

James T. Glover

/s/ JoHUN G. MCDONALD Director ' November 26, 2008
John G. McDonald '

]

/s/ WaynNe R. MooN Director ) November 26, 2008

Wayne R. Moon

/s/ ELIZABETH E. TALLETT Director November 26, 2008
Elizabeth E. Tallett




VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULE

The following Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and its subsidiaries are required to
be included in Item §:

Page
Rep'On of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . ..., ... it F-2
Consolidated Statement of Earnings for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006 .............. pee e E-3
Consolidated Balance Sheet at fiscal year end 2008 and 2007 ................... T F-4
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders™ Equity and Comprehensive Income for fiscal years 2008,
2007 and 2006 . . .o e e F-5
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006 ... ............... .. F-6
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements .. ... ............ .. il F-7

The following Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule of the Registrant and its subsidiaries for
fiscal years 2008. 2007 and 2006 is filed as a par of this Report as required to be included in ltem 15(a)
and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and
its subsidiaries: ’

Schedule ' Page

II Valuation and Qualifying ACCOUNIS . .. ... . i i i F-35

All other required schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are
required or because the required information is given in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the
Notes thereto.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Varian, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15{a)(1},
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Varian, Inc. and its subsidiaries at
October 3, 2008 and September 28, 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended October 3, 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our option, the financial statement schedule
listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of October 3, 2008, based on critéria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Trcadway Commission (COSO). The
Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule, for
maintaining effective internal contro! over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in Item 9A. ‘Our responsibility is to express opinions on
these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {(United States).. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Qur audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internai control based on the assessed
risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, effective September 28, 2007, the
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™} No. 158, Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R), and changed its method of accounting for defined benefit plans.

As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, effective September 29, 2007, the
Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, and changed its method of
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes,

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iil) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or-detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may detericrate.

s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
November 25, 2008




VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28, September 29,
2008 2007 2006
Sales
Products . ....ocir e e $ 869,556 § 796983 $ 720,689
IVICES oottt e e 142,959 123,615 114016
Totalsales ........ ... ... . ... .. 1,012,515 920,598 834,705
Cost of sales ‘
Products ...... e e e e 476,555 435,397 398,465
S BIVICES . vttt e 83,506 69,724 61,891
Totalcostofsales ........................... 560,061 505,121 460,356
Grossprofit _....... .. ... i 452,454 415,477 374,349
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative .................. 277,478 257,754 241,049
Research and development ........................ 71,810 65,169 59,730
Purchased in-process research and development . . ... ... 1,703 — 756
Total operatingexpenses . .................... 350,991 322,923 - 301,535
Operating earnings . ............ .00 urrrnnnneiennn. 101,463 92,554 72,814
Impairment of private company equity investment (Note 2) .. (3,018) — —
TNEETESL INCOMIE .+ o ot ittt ettt et ettt aaens 5,930 6,152 4022
INEErESt EXPENSE . . oottt et e e (1,656) (1,878) (2,172)
Earnings before income taxes ... ...... .. ... .. ........ 102,719 96,828 74,664
INCOME LAX EXPENSE . .. ..ottt ittt 36,274 33,212 24,595
Netearnings ............. 0o iiiinrineinnninnan. $ 66445 $ 63,616 $ 50,069
Net earnings per share:
BasiC ....... . e 3 224§ 209 % 1.62
Diluted . ... e b 221 % 205 § 1.59
Shares used in per share calculation: . .
Basic ... e e 29,620 30,457 30,929
Diluted . ...... ... . . 30,072 31,004 31,424

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(In thousands, except par value amounts)

QOctober 3, September 28,

- 2008 2007
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cashequivalents . ....... ... ... ... . ... ... ..o.... $ 103,895 % 196,396
Accounts receivable. net .. ... ... 199,420 187,429
Inventories . ... . 161,039 140,533
Defermed taxes . . ..o i it 33,618 38.068
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ......................... 15,663 17,332
o Total current assets ......................cooiiiiiiiiiii., 513,635 579,758
& Property, plant and equipment,net. .................... ... L 110,343 116,792
= Goodwill . ... . . . e 218,208 193,760
;":, Intangible assets, net. . ..... e 36,972 - 31,572
e- Other asSelS . ... ... ottt et et e 24,089 20,951
' Total as8eds . ... .. e $ 903,247 % 936,833

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-termdebt ... ... ... .. ... ... ..., $ — $ 6250

Accounts payable .. ... P 70,923 72,588

Deferred profit ........ ... . . i e e 10,957 13,641

Accrued Habilities ... ... . i e 167,173 159,109

Total current liabilities . .. ......... ... ... ... .. ... ... . ... .. 249,053 251,588
Long-termdebt . ... ... .. . . . . 18,750 18,750
Deferred taxes . .. ... it i e 4,341 4,050
Other liabilities . ....................... e 43,431 44,358
Total liabilities . ....... ... ... . ... . . 315,575 318,746
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 4, 5,7, 8,9, 10, 11, 12 and 14)
Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock—par value $0.01, authorized—1,000 shares;

issued—none ....... LA — C—

Common stock—par value $0.01, authorized—99,000 shares; issued and
outstanding—28,917 shares at October 3, 2008 and 30,345 shares at

September 28, 2007 . ... ... i 356,192 351,330
Retained earnings . ... ... ...t e 186,009 199,471
Accumulated other comprehensiveincome ........ ... ... ... 45471 67.286
Total stockholders’ equity ......... ... ... ... ... . .. .o il 587,672 618,087

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............................ $ 903,247 3% 936,833

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)

RET et R . Acczl)mulated Total
. reasur ther otal
- Common Stock Retained 'l;mt:iuaty Comprehensive Comprehensive
Shares Amount  Earnings Cost Income Total Income
Balance, September 30, 2005 ... ... © 31,016 $282923 $202,318 § — - $14281  § 499522
Net earnings .. ..ovvvrvrrennnna... — — ' 50,069 — — 50,069  $ 50,069
Other comprehensive income: :
Currency translation adjusunent ... 7 — —_ — — . 14381 14,381 14,381
Minimum pension liability, net of . ) , e
tax of ($121) ... — — —_ - 06 106 106
Total comprehensive income ...... ., ; $ 64,556
Issuance of common stock and stock - .
UDHS 7o e . 1,369 34,060 - — — 34,060
Shd.l‘t.. bascd compeqqatlon expense ... 4 — 8.712 — — . — , 8,712
Tax benefit from share-based plans .. . — 8,245 —_ — — 8,245
Repurchase of common stock ........ (1.515) — = (63,055) - (63.055)
Retirement of treasury stock ... ...... — (14,850) - (48,205) 63.055 — —
Balance, September 29,2006 ....... 30,870 319,090 204,182 — 28,768 552,040
Net &amings . ....vvvviernnaenn... — . — 63,616 —_ T = - 46”- 616 $ 63,616
Other comprehensive income: . .
Currency translation adjustment . . . — — - — 38,264 38 264 38,264
Minimum pension fability, net of )
tax of ($1,198) ... — — —_ — 2,504 2,504 2,504
Touwl comprehensive income . ... . . ' $104,384
[} frre———nam—
Adjustment for initial adoption of ! T - )
SFAS 158, netof tax of $649 ... ... — — — — (2.250) - (2.250)
Issuance of common stock and stock :
UMHIS oo ee e e e 1156 31.897 — s — 31897
Share-based compensition expense . .. — 9.946 — — et 9946
Tax benefit from share-based plans ... — 8,769 —_ — R 8,769
Repurchase of common stock . ....... (1.681) ce— el (B6,699) - - ' (86.699) "
Retirement of treasury'stock ... ..... — (18.372) (68,327) 86699 ;, + -— . =
Balance, Scptember 28, 2007 ....... 30,345 351,330 199471 — 67,286 618,087 v -
Neteamings ...... .....:...0v0es — — 66,445 — — . 66445 °$ 66,445
Other comprehensive income: ~ ) .
Currency translation ddjustment — — — —  ''(22,263) - (22,263) (22.263)
Minimum liability for defined " S sap r e IR
benefit pension and other
postretirement obligations, net of . . "
‘tax of ($653) ........ ..., — — — — © 448" 448" 448
Total comprehensivc income ... .. o o ’ . $' 44,630
) P D T —
ls%uancc of common c-t-:)r.‘k and stock \ aa . - ‘ E
units L. 7L T T 536 18,228 — —_ — 18,228
Share:based compensation expense . .. — 9.673 — — T 9673
Tax benefit from share-based plans . .. — 894 —_ — — 894 '
Repurchase of common stock ......... (1.964) - -— (106,859} —  (106,859)
Retirement of treasury stock . ........ ' —  (23933) (82.926) 106,839 —_ -
Adjustment for initial adoption of ¢ S , W - ,
FINAB .......... e L — — 1,019 — L — 3019
Balance, Octuber 3, 2008 .......... 28917 $356,192 $186,009 $ — $454T1 $ 587,672

Y

Se¢ accomparying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ' STATEMENTS—(Continued)

contracts. Unearned maintenance and service contract revenue is included in" accrued liabilities on the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. Revenue related to incident-based paid service and training
services is recogmzed when the related semceb dre prowded to the customer.

Deferred proﬁt on the dccompanying Consohdated Balance Sheet is comprlsed of the profit (revenue
léss related cost of sales) on certain transactions that has been deferred Junder the Company’s revenue
recognition policy. Deferred profit relates to transactions in the Company’s Scientific Instruments segment

that typically fit one of the following descriptions:
I fl v . - 'l

"« Arproduct has been delivered to'a Gustomer but revenué cannot.yet be recognized, typically due
« - to non-standard specifications or acceptance reguirements that have not yet been demonstrated.
In these cases; the revenue.and related cost:of sale that would ordinarily be recorded in the
" income-statement at the time-of delivery are instead recorded to deférred profit. This accounting
is reversed and the revenue.and related tost of sales are recorded in the income-statement once
the non-standard specifications oracceptance requirements have been demonstrated and all other

revenue recognition criteria have been met.

+ A product has been delivered and 100% of the contract value is billable per the terms of the
arrangement but post-delivery, obhgauons (e.g., installation) remain. In these cases, revenue
equal 1o the fair value of the posl-de]:very obligations is deferred and included in deferred profit
when the product is dehvered”Once the post-delivery obhgauons have been met, the deferred
revenuc is rcversed out of deferred profit and recorded as fevenue in the income statement. Since
installation costs are lyplca]ly not s;gmﬁcant relatwe to 'total product costs and the time to
complelc an installation’ is usually very short, the Company rarely needs to defer installation
costs associated with deferred installation revenue.

.

In certam other cases, products 4re dellvered but post-dellvery obligations (e.g., 1nslallauon) remain

and a portion of the contract valie is not billable until such obligations have been met (the “holdback™). In

these cases, recognition of revenue equal to the greater of the holdback or the fair value of the undelivered
service element is deferred. However, since holdbacks are not, billable until the related undelivered element

{typically mstdllatmn) has been dellvered no invoice 1s lssued and no recewdble is recorded for the

holdback amounl and the related. revenue js not recordcd Accordmgly, 'del"erred revenue relating to

holdbacks is not recorded and does not otherwrse 1mpact the accompanying Consohdated Balance Sheet.

The Company sells producls and accessorles predommamly through its d:reu sales force. As a result,
the use of dl‘itl‘lbU[OI"i is generally limited to geographic, regions where the Company’s direct sales force is
less developed. The Company does not normal]y offer product return or exchange nghls (other than those
relating to non-conforming or defective goods under warranty) or price protection allowances to its
customers, including its distributors. Payment terms granted to distributors are similar to those granted to
gther customers,.and,payments are not depcndem upon the dnlnbu{ors “receipt of payment from their

end-user customers, - o

- I S LN L oy t
The Company’s proclucts are genemlly subjecl to warranues and the Company provides for the

estimated future costs of’ repair or replacemem Jin cost of sales at the time the related sale is recognized.
Fare:gn CurrencyTranslution. The Company uses the local currency as the functional currency in

each country in which it operates subsidiaries. The functional currencies of the Company’s operations are
primarily the U.S. dollar and the Euro, and, to a lesser extent, the British pound, Australian dollar, Japanese

yen and various other: currencies. Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are transiated into U.S.

dollars at.exchange rates at the end of the fiscal year and income and expense items.are translated at

exchange rates prevailing during the year. Translation gains and losses are included in' the cumulative
translation adjustment component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains and losses arising

from, transactions and translation of period:end balances denominated in currencies other than a

subsidiary’s functional currency are reflected in selling, general and .administrative expenses..
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance, September’ 30, 2005
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation adjustment , ., .
Minimum pension liability, net of
tax of ($121)

Total comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock and stock
UNEES . oot e e
Share-based compensation expense . . .
Tax benefit from share-based plans . ..
Repurchase of common stock
Retirement of treasury stock

Balance, September 29, 2006
Neteamnings ............coovunnn.
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation adjustment . . ..
Minimum pension liability, net of
tax of (31.198)

Total comprehensive income

Adjustment for initial adoption of
SFAS 158, net ol lax of $649 ... ...
Issuance of common stock and stock
UNItS ..o
Share-based compensation expense . . .
Tax bencfit from share-based plans . ..
Repurchase of common stock
Retirement of treasury stock

Balance, September 28, 2007
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation adjustment . . . .
Minimum liability for defined
benefit pension and other
postretirement cbligations, net of
tax of ($633)

Total comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock and stock
Units ... e
Share-based compensation expense . . .
Tax benefit from share-based plans . ..
Repurchase of common stock
Retirement of treasury stock
Adjustment for initial adoption of
FIN 48

Balance, October 3, 2008

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)

Accumulated
Treasury Other Total
Common Stock Retained Stock at Comprehensive Comprehensive
Shares Amount  Earnings Cost Income Total Income
31,016 $282,923 $202318 $ —_ $ 14,281 $ 499,522
—_ —_ 50,069 — — 50,069 $ 50,069
—_ _ — —_ 14,381 14,381 14,381
— — — — 106 106 106
$ 64,556
1,369 34,060 — _ — 34.060
— 8,712 — — —_ 8,712
— 8,245 — — — 8,245
(1,515) — — (63,055) — (63,055)
—_ (14,85()  (48,205) 63,055 —_— —
30870 319,090 204,182 — 28,768 552,040
—_ — 63,616 — — 63,616 $ 63616
— — — — 38,264 38.264 38.264
— — — — 2,504 2.504 2.504
$104,384
_ - — - (2.250) (2.250)
1,156 31,897 — — — 31,897
— 9,946 — — — 9,946
— 8,769 — — — 8.769
(1,681) — — (86.699)" — (86,699)
— (18,372) (68.327) 86.699 — —
30,345 351330 199471 — 67,286 618,087
— — 66,445 — — 66,445 3 66,445
— — — —  (22263) (22.263)  (22.263)
— — — — 448 448 448
‘ $ 44,630
536 18,228 — — —_ 18,228
— 9,673 — — — 9,673
_— 894 — — — 894
(1,964) — —  {106,859) — (106,859)
— (23,933) (82,926) 106,859 — —
— — 3019 - - 3,019
28917  $356,192 $186,009 $ —_ $ 45,471 $ 587,672

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Fiscal Years Ended
October 3, September 28, September 29,
2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities
Nelearnings . .....vvni et i e i $ 66445 $ 63616 § 50069
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ...................... 29,346 29,248 27,470
(Gain) loss on disposition of property, plant and
eqUIPMENt .. .. ... ... ... {474) (452) 92
Impairment of private company equity investment ...... 3,018 — —
Purchased in-process research and development ........ 1,703 — 756
Share-based compensation expense . ................. 9673 9,946 8,712
Excess tax benefit from share-based plans .. ........... (894) {9,090) (7,700)
Deferred taxes . ... ovvi it it e (3,122} (9,404) (12,899
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of
acquisitions:
Accountsreceivable,net ....................... (12,205) 1,074 (13,449)
Inventories . ....... ... it (19,428) 400 (7.256)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ......... 3,300 (387 5,234
Otherassers ...t (1,462) (4,110} 415
Accountspayable ............. ... .. ... (1,072) (4,733) 10,004
Deferredprofit ........... .. ... ... ... .. .. (3,526) (176} 1,504
Accrued labilities . . ......... ... ... ... ... . 14,053 8,103 14,367
Other liabilities ... ... e (6,334) 15,822 2,019
Net cash provided by operating activities ., .. ............ 79,021 99,857 79,338
Cash flows from investing activities ’
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment ........ 1,735 4,966 797
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ................ (23,960) {19,396) (20,295)
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired ............... (55,167 (7,115) (72,854)
Private company equity investments ..................... (18) (3,000) (652)
Net cash used in investing activities .................... (77,410) (24,545) (93,004)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repaymentofdebt ......... ... .. ... ... ... ..o (6,250) (2,500) {2,500)
Repurchase of common stock ................ ... .. ..nh, (106,859) (86,699) (63,055)
Issuance of common stock. . ... ..o i i 18,228 31,897 34,060
Excess tax benefit from share-based plans ................. 894 9,090 7,700
Transfers to Varian Medical Systems, Inc. ................. (600} (646) (649)
Net cash used in financing activities . ... ... .. ... ... ... (94,587) (48,858) (24,444)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents ............ e e 475 15,787 3,771
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ... ... (92,501) 42,241 (34,339)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ........... 196,396 154,155 188,494
Cash and cash equivalents atend of period .............. $ 103,895 $ 196,396 $ 154,155
Supplemental cash flow information
Income taxes paid, net of refunds received . ................ $ 38793 % 36317 § 23,276
Interest paid . .. .ot e e $ 1,626 $ 1,765 $ 2,030

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Noté 1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Varian, Inc.,, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company™), designs, develops,
manufactures, markets, sells and services scientific instruments (including analyucal instruments, research
products and related software, consumable products, accessories and services) and vacuum products (and
related accessories and services). These businesses primarily serve life science, environmental, energy, and
applied research and other customers.

Until April 2, 1999, the business of the Company was operated as the Instruments business of Varian
Associates, Inc. (“VAI”). On that date, VAI distributed to the holders of its common stock one share of
common stock of the Company and one share of common stock of Varian Semiconductor Equipment
Associates, Inc. (“VSEA™), which was formerly operated as the Semiconductor Equipment business of
VAI for each share of VAI (the “Distribution™). VAI retained its Health Care Systems business and
changed its name to Varian Medical Systems, Inc. (“VMS™), Transfers made to VMS under the terms of
the Distribution are reflected as financing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year. The Company’s fiscal years reported are the 52- or 53-week periods that ended on the
Friday nearest September 30. Fiscal year 2008 was comprised of the '53-week period ended on October 3,
2008. Fiscal year 2007 was comprised of the 52-week period ended on September 28, 2007. Fiscal year
2006 was comprised of the 52-week period ended on September 29, 2006. Each quarter during fiscal years
2008, 2007 and 2006 was comprised of 13 weeks, respectively. except for the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2008, which was comprised of 14 weeks.

Principles of Consolidation. The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the
Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Ali significant intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Significant estimates in these Consolidated Financial Statements include revenue
recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts receivable, inventory valuation reserves, share-based
compensation, product warranty reserves, environmental liabilities and income taxes. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition. The Company accounts for its revenue recognilion in accordance with the
provisions of U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission {the “SEC™ Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
(“SAB™) 104, Revenue Recognition. The Company’s revenues are derived from product sales (including
accessory sales) and services. For product sales and accessory sales, revenue is recognized when persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, the contract price is fixed or determinable, the product or accessory has
been delivered, title and risk of loss have passed to the customer and collection of the resulting receivable
is reasonably assured. Product sales that do not involve unique customer acceptance lerms or new
specifications or technology with customer acceptance provisions, but that do involve installation services,
are accounted for as multiple-element arrangements, where the larger of the contractual billing holdback or
the fair value of the installation service is deferred when the product is delivered and subsequently
recognized when the installation is complete. For certain other product sales that do invoive unique
customer acceptance terms or new specifications or technology with customer acceptance provisions, all
revenue is deferred uniil all contractually required customer acceptance provisions and product
specifications have been satisfied, In all cases, the fair value of undelivered elements, such as accessories
or services purchased by customers in connection with a product sale, is deferred until the related items are
delivered 10 the customer. Revenue related to service contracts is recognized ratably over the term of the
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VYARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

contracts. Unearned maintenance and service contract revenue is included in accrued liabilities on the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. Revenue related to incident-based paid service and training
services is recognized when the related services are provided to the customer.

Deferred profit on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet is comprised of the profit (revenue
less related cost of sales) on certain transactions that has been deferred under the Company’s revenue
recognition policy. Deferred profit relates to transactions in the Company’s Scientific Instruments segment
that typically fit one of the following descriptions:

* A product has been delivered to a customer but revenue cannot yet be recognized, typically due
to non-standard specifications or acceptance requirements that have not yet been demonstrated.
In these cases, the revenue and related cost-of sale that would ordinarily be recorded in the
income- statement at the time of delivery are instead recorded to deférred profit. This accounting
is reversed and the revenue and related cost of sales are recorded in the income stalement once
the non-standard specifications or acceptance requirements have been demonstrated and ali other
revenue recognition criteria have been met.

* A product has been delivered and 100% of the contract value is billable per the terms of the
arrangement but post-delivery obligations (e.g., installation) remain. In these cases, revenue
equal to the fair value of the post-delivery obligations is deferred and included in deferred profit
when the product is delivered. Once the post-delivery obligations have been met, the deferred
revenue is reversed out of deferred profit and recorded as revenue in the income stalement. Since
installation costs are typically not significant relative to total product costs and the time to
complete an installation is usually very shor, the Company rarely needs to defer installation
costs associated with deferred installation revenue.

In certain other cases, products are delivered but post-delivery obligations (e.g., installation) remain
and a portion of the contract value is not billable until such obligations have been met (the “holdback™). In
these cases, recognition of revenue equal to the greater of the holdback or the fair value of the undelivered
service element is deferred. However, since holdbacks are not billable unti! the related undelivered element
(typically installation) has been delivered, no invoice is issued and no receivable is recorded for the
holdback amount and the related revenue is not recorded. Accordingly. deferred revenue relating to
holdbacks is not recorded and does not otherwise impact the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The Company sells products and accessories predominantly through its direct sales force. As a result,
the use of distributors is generally limited to geographic regions where the Company’s direct sales force is
less developed. The Company does not normally offer product return or exchange rights (other than those
relating o non-conforming or defective goods under warranty) or price protection allowances to iis
customers, including its distributors. Payment terms granted to distributors are similar to those granted to
other customers and payments are not dependent upon the distributors’ receipt of payment from their
end-user customers.

The Company’s products are generally subject to warranties and the Company provides for the
estimated future costs of repair or replacement in cost of sales at the time the related sale is recognized.

Foreign Currency Translation. The Company uses the local currency as the functional currency in
each country in which it operates subsidiaries. The functional currencies of the Company’s operations are
primarily the U.S. dollar and the Euro, and, to a lesser extent, the British pound, Australian dollar, Japanese
yen and various other currencies. Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S.
dollars at exchange rates at the end of the fiscal year and income and expense items are transiated at
exchange rates prevailing during the year, Translation gains and losses are included in the cumulative
translation adjustment component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains and losses arising
from transactions and translation of period-end balances denominated in currencies other than a
subsidiary's functional currency are reflected in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPAN[ES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk include cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and foreign exchange
forward contracis. The Company invests primarily in demand deposits, short-term U.S. Treasury securities
and money market funds. The Company sells its products and extends trade credit to a large number of
customers, who are dispersed across many different industries and geographies, The Company performs
ongoing credit evaluations of these customers and generally does not require collateral from them, although
the Company does utilize letters of credit to mitigate credit risk when considered appropriate. Trade
accounts receivable include allowances for doubtful accounts as of October 3, 2008 and September 28,
2007 of $1.3 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Delinquent account balances are written off when
management determines that the likelihood of collection is no longer probable. No single customer
represented 10% or more of the Company’s total sales in fiscal year 2008, 2007 and 2006 or trade accounts
receivable at fiscal year end 2008 or 2007. The Company seeks to minimize credit risk relating to foreign
exchange forward contracts by limiting its counter-parties to major financial institutions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company includes currenc'y on hand, demand deposits, money
market funds and all highly liquid debt securities with an original maturity of three months or less in cash
and cash equivalents. The cost basis of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short
period of time to maturity. '

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being computed on an
average-cost basis. Provisions are made for potentially excess or slow-moving inventories. When a loss
provision is made, a new, lower-cost basis for that inventory is established, and subsequent changes in facts
and circumstances do not result in the restoration or an increase in that newly established cost basis.

Property, ~Plunt and- Equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Major
improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Property (land) is
not depreciated. Plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-
line method. Machinery and equipment lives vary from three 1o 10 years and buildings are depreciated over
20 to 40 years. Purchased software is depreciated over five to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are
depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives or the remaining term of the
lease, whichever is less. Depreciation expense totaled $20.8 million, $21.1 million and $18.9 million in
fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the assets
and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts.

. Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. (“SFAS”) 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill is not
amortized, but must be tested for impairment annuaily and whenever events or circumstances occur indicating
that goodwill might be impaired. The Company performed annual goodwill impairment tests during the
second quarter of fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006 and determined that there was no impairment of goodwill,

Identifiable intangible assets recorded in connection with acquisitions are amortized on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from two to 20 years. Acquired in-process rescarch and
development is immediately expensed.

Investments in Privately Held Companies. The Company has equity investments in privately held
companies which, because of its ownership interest and other factors, are carried at cost. These investments
are evaluated under the requirements of FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN") 46(R), Consclidation of Variable
Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB No. 51, Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. (*APB”) 18§,
The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock, and other applicable guidance to
determine the appropriate accounting treatment, including whether the Company must consolidate the
investee company. Based on these evaluations, the Company has determined that no consolidation is
required. These investments are included in Other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company
monitors these investments for impairment and will make appropriate reductions in carrying values if the
Company determines that an impairment charge is required based prlmanly on the near-term prospects and
financial condition of these companies.
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VARIAN, INC., AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

During fiscal year 2008, the Company became aware of information which raised substantial doubt
about the ability of a small, privately held company in which the Company holds a cost-method equity
investment to continue as a going concern. Based on this information, the Company determined that the
fair value of its investment had declined and that the decline was other-than-temporary. As a result, the
Company wrote off the entire $3.0 million carrying value of its investment via an lmpalrmcnt charge in the
period. '

Long-Lived Assets. The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully
recoverable. All long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair
market value, less expected selling costs,

Share-Based Compensation. The Company accounts for share-based compensation in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which establishes the accounting for share-
based awards and the inclusion of their fair value in net earnings in the respective periods the awards were
earned, and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. (“SAB”) 107, Share-Based Payment. Consistent with the
provisions of SFAS 123(R) and SAB 107, the Company estimates the fair value of stock options and shares
issued under its employee stock purchase plan using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Fair value is
estimated on the date of grant and is then recognized (net of estimated forfeitures) as expense in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings over the requisite service period (generally the vesting period).

The determination of fair value and the timing of expense using option pricing models such as the
Black-Scholes model require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected forfeiture
rate and life of the option and the expected price volatility of the underlying stock. The Company estimates
the expected forfeiture and expected life assumptions based on historical experience. In determining the
Company’s expected stock price volatility assumption, the Company reviews both the historical and
implied volatility of the Company’s common stock, with implied volatiiity based on the implied volatility
of publicly traded options on the Company’s common stock. Unless the volume or maturity of these
publicly traded options-does not satisfy the conditions to use implied volatility under SAB 107, the
Company determines the expected stock pnce volatility assumption using a combination of historical and
implied volatility. .

In connection with its adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company elected to use the practical transition
option (also known as the “short-cut” method) to calculate its historical pool of windfall tax benefits as
allowed under FASB Staff Position No. (“FSP”) FAS 123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting
Jor the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards. The practical transition option allows the use of a
simplified method to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital pool {the “APIC
pool”), which is available to absorb shortfalls when actual tax deductions are less than the related book
share-based compensation cost recognized sﬁbseque_nt to the adoption of SFAS 123(R).

Research and Development, Research and development costs related to both présent and future
products are expensed as they are incurred.

Advertising Costs.  Advertising -costs ‘are included as part of selling, general and administrative
expense and are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $4.0 mitlion in fiscal year 2008 $3.2
million in fiscal year 2007 and $2. 9 million in fiscal year 2006.

Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance wnth SFAS 109, Accounting
for Income Taxes, which requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax
rales for the effect of temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and
liabitities. SFAS 109 also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance lf it is more
likely than not that the related tax benefits will not be realized in the future. :
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANiES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Effective September 29, 2007 (the first day of fiscal year 2008), the Company adopted FIN 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109, which addresses
accounting for, and disclosure of, uncertain tax positions. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to.be taken in a tax return. Under FIN 48, the Company recognizes liabilities for unrecognized tax
benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions by evaluating whether the weight of available evidence
indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit and then measures the tax
benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The
Company reevaluates these uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis. Potential interest and penalties
associated with such uncertain tax positions is recorded as a component of income tax expense.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemenis. In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value
Measurements. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally
accepted dCCOummg principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies
to previous accounting pronouncements that require or perm:t fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, with certain exceptions which are described
below. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP™) 157-1, Application of FASB
Statement No. 157 10 FASB Statement No. 13 and Other Accounting Pronoducemems That Address Fair
Value Measurements for Purposes of Lease Classification or Measurement under Statement 13, which
amends SFAS 157 to exclude certain leasing transactions from its scope. Also in February 2008, the FASB
issued FSP 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No., 157, which delays the effective date of SFAS 157
for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008,
except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring
basis (at least annualty). In Qctober 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 157-3, Determining the Fair Value of
a Financial Asset When the Market for Thar Asset is Not Active. FSP 157-3 provides an example to
illustrate key considerations in determining the fair value of a financial asset when the market for that
financial asset is not active. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material
impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—including an amendment of FASB Starement 115, which provides companies with an
option to measure eligible financial assets and liabilities in their entirety at fair value. The fair value option
may be applied instrument by instrument, and may be applied only to entire instruments. If a company
elects the fair value option for an eligible item, changes in the item’s fair value must be reported as
unrealized gains and losses in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is évaluating the options provided under
SFAS 159 and their potential impact on its financial condition and results of operations if implemented.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations, (“SFAS
141(R)"). SFAS 141(R) retains the fundamental requirements of the original pronouncement requiring that
the purchase method be used for all business combinations but also provides revised guidance for
recognizing and measuring identifiable assets and goodwill acquired, liabilities assumed, and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. It also requires the recognition of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed arising from contingencies, the capitalization of in-process research and development at fair
value, and the expensing of acquisition-related costs as incurred. SFAS 141(R) also requires that certain tax
contingencies and adjustments to valuation allowances related to business combinations, which previously
were adjusted to goodwill, must be adjusted to income tax expense, regardless of the date of the original
business combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning ufter December 135, 2008. The
Company is currently evaluating the requirements of SFAS 141(R) and does not expect its adoption in the
first quarter of fiscal year 2010 to have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or results
of operations. However, in the event that the Company completes acquisitions subsequent to its adoption of
SFAS 141(R), the application of its provisions will likely have a material impact on the Company’s results
of operations, although the Company is not currently able to estimate that impact.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements—an amendment of ARB No. 51. SFAS 160 requires that ownership interests in subsidiaries held
by parties other than the parent and the amount of consolidated net income be clearly identified, labeled
and presented in the consolidated financial statements. It also requires once a subsidiary is deconsolidated,
any retained noncontrolling equity investment in the former subsidiary be initially measured at fair value.
Sufficient disclosures are required to clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and
the interests of the noncontrolling owners, SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008, and requires retroactive adoption of the presentation and disclosure requirements for
existing minority interests. All other requirements are applied prospectively. The Company does not expect
the adoption of SFAS 160 to have a material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133, which requires additional disclosures about the
objectives and straiegies of the derivative instruments and hedging activities, the method of accounting for
such instruments under SFAS 133 and its related interpretations, and a tabular disclosure of the effects of
such instruments and related hedged items on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.
SFAS 161 1s effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company does not expect
the adoption of SFAS 161 to have a material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP 142-3] Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets,
which amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used
to determine the’ useful life of a recognized intangible asset. The intent of FSP 142-3 is to improve:the
consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the asset under
SFAS 141(R), Business Combinations, and other accounting literature. FSP 142-3 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 13, 2008, and must be applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired
after the effective date. Early adoption is prohibited. Given that FSP 142-3 applies to intangible assets
acquired after the effective date, the Company is not able to determine whether its adoption wilt have a
material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

Note 3. Balance Sheet Detail

October 3, September 28,
2008 . 2007
(in thousands) . . . )
Inventories :
Raw materials and parts .. ............ ... .. viiiiiea .. $ 77447 $ 64.130
Work iIn process . ... i e 25,091 24,842
Finishedgoods ....... ... ... oo 58,501 51,561 °

$ 161,039 $ 140,533

Property, plant and equipment ' .
Land and land improvements .............. ... .ol $. 6,519 § 6415

BUildings . ... e 102,746 102,413
Machinery and equipment . ............ S 174,284 167.655
Construction in ProBresS . ... ee et 8.585 11,102
292,134 287,585
Accumulated depreciation ........... ... . i {181,791) (176,793)

$ 110,343 $ 110,792

Accrued liabilities : |
Payroll and employee benefits ........... ... ...t $ 61,480 $ 64,590

Deferred service revenue ... .. . it e i 35,404 35,815
Contract adVanCES . ..ottt ittt e e e e 20,760 13,309
Product warranty . ... ..o 13,867 12,454
Other . ..o D 35,662 32,941

$ 167,173 $ 159,109
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Note 4. Forward Exchange Contracts

The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to minimize the short-term impact of
foreign currency fluctuations on assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies. These
contracts are accounted for under SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities. Typically, gains and losses on these contracts are substantially offset by transaction losses and
gains on the underlying balances being hedged. During fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, net foreign
currency gains (losses) relating to these arrangements were $2.1 million, $(1.0) million and $(1.3) million,
respectively. These amounts were recorded in §elling, general and administrative expenses.

The Company’s foreign exchange forward contracts generally range from one to 12 months in original
maturity. A summary follows of all foreign exchange forward contracts that were outstanding as of
October 3, 2008:

Notional Notional

Value Value

Soltd Purchased
(in thousands)
Australiandollar . ............. e e $ - 3 46,334
| T o J OO — 39,907
Britishpound ...... ... . ... e — 17,374
Japanese yen . ... ... .. e 4,822 —
Swedishkrona ...... ... ... ... .. ... ...... e — 2,788
Canadiandollar . ... ... .. . . . .. i e 2,460 —
KOrean WOm .ot e e 1.895 —
B 5T 1Y P $ 9177 § 106,403

Note 5. Acquisitions

During fiscal year 2008, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of
Analogix, Inc. (the “Analogix Business™) for approximately $11 million in cash and assumed net debt.
Under the terms of the acquisition, the Company might make additional purchase price payments of up to
$4 million over a three-year period, depending on the future financial performance of the Analogix
Business and certain operational milestones. The Analogix Business designs, manufactures, markets, sells
and services consumnables and instrumentation for automated compound purification using flash
chromatography. and became part of the Scientific Instruments segment.

During fiscal year 2008, the Company also acquired Oxford Diffraction Lid. (“Oxford Diffraction”)
for approximately $39 million in cash and assumed net debt. Under the terms of the acquisition, the
Company might make additional purchase price payments of up to $10 million over a three-year period,
depending on the future financial performance of the Oxford Diffraction business. Oxford Diffraction
designs, manufactures, markets, sells and services instruments and consumables for x-ray crystallography,
an analytical technique used by scientists in pharmaceutical research and other research laboratories to
determine the structure of both small molecules and large molecules such as proteins. Oxford Diffraction
became part of the Scientific Instruments segment. The Company recorded a one-time charge of $1.7
miliion during fiscal year 2008 to immediately expense acquired in-process research and development
related to projects that were in process at Oxford Diffraction but incomplete at the time of the acquisition.

During fiscal year 2006, the Company acquired PL International Limited (“Polymer Labs”) and
lonSpec Corporation (“lonSpec”), both of which became part of the Scientific Instruments segment.
Including contingent consideration payments, the Company has paid an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $47 million for Polymer Labs and approximately $18 million for lonSpec through
October 3, 2008. -
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

None of the acquisitions made during fiscal years 2008 or 2006 was material on either an individual or
an aggregated basis. As a result, pro forma sales, earnings from operations, net earnings and net earnings
per share have not been presented. However, the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Earnings for fiscal
years 2008, 2007 and 2006 include the results of operauons of the acquired companies described above

since the effective dates of their respective purchases

Contingent Cousideration Arrangements. The Company is, from time to time, obligated to pay
additional cash purchase price amounts in the event that certain financial or operational milestones are met
by acguired businesses. As of October 3, 2008, up to a maximum of $43.9 million could be payable
through April 2011 under contingent consideration arrangements relating to acquired businesses. Amounts
subjeci to these arrangements can be carned over the respective measurement period, depending on the
performance of the acquired business relative to certain financial and/or operational targets.

The following table summarizes contingent consideration arrangements as of October 3, 2008:

Remaining

Amount

Availabie Measurement
Acquired Business {maximurm} Period Measurement Period End Date

) (in millions)

PL International Lad. ............ $ 153 3 years December 2008
IonSpec Corporation ............ 14.0 3 years April 2009
Oxford Diffraction .. ............ 10.0 3 years . April 2011
Analogix Business .............. 4.0 3 years December 2010
Other ........................ 0.6 2 years July 2010
Total ... e $ 439

Note 6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Asséts

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for each of the Company’s reportable segments in fiscal

years 2008 and 2007 follow:

(in thousands)

Balance as of September 29,2006 ................
Contingent payments on prior-years acquisitions . ...
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments . . .

Balance as of September 28,2007 ... ... ..........
Fiscal year 2008 acquisitions ..................
Contingent payments on prior-years acquisitions .. ..
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments . . .

Balance as of October 3,2008 . ..................
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Scientific Vacuum Total
Instruments  Technologies Company

.. $ 180,597 $ 966 $ 181,563

4,115 — 4,115
.- 8,082 — 8,082
. 192,794 T 966 193,760
. 29,712 — 29,712
4,057 — 4,057
. (9.321) — (9,321)

L $217242 5966 218,208




VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following intangible assets have been recorded and are being amortized by the Company:

October 3, 2008
Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net

(in thousands)
Intangible assets
Existing technology .. ........... . ..oceiinn.. $ 16,503 $ (9699) § 6,804
Patents and core technology ................... 40,680 (14,253) 26,427
Trade names and trademarks ................... 2,425 (1,946) 479
Customer lists ...t 13,090 (10,278) 2,812
Other ... e e e 2,972 (2,522) 450. a
TOMAl . ettt e $ 75670  $ (38,698) § 36972 2

[y

?

September 28, 2007 =
Accomulated
Gross Amortization Net

(in thousands)
Intangible assets
Existingtechnology ...............cccovian 5 16,611 $ (8235) $§ 8376
Patents and core technology ................... 29,908 {10,752) 19,156
Trade names and trademarks .. ................. ) 2,458 (1,623) 835
Customerlists ...........c0iiinennnntunenn. 11,866 (9,408) 2,458
Other ... . e 3,025 (2,278) 747
Total .. e $ 63,868 $ (32,296) $ 31572

Actual aggregate amortization expense relating to intangible assets recorded in the three most recent
fiscal years as well as estimated amortization expense for the next five fiscal years and thereafter follow:

(in thousands)
Actual amortization expense

Fiscal year 2000 . . .. it $ 8468
Fiscal year 20007 . . . L. et $ 8,141
Fiscal year 2008 . . ... ..o e s $ 8553
Estimated amortization expense
Fiscal year 2000 . ... o e $ 7.878
Fiscal year 2010 . . . ... et 7,376
Fiscal year 2001 .. ... it e 5,150
Fiscal year 2012 . . ... e P 4,185
| Fiscal year 2003 . .. ..o e s 3,628
| B 5T = P 8,755
10 $ 36,972

Note 7. Restructuring Costs

Summary of Restructuring Plans. Between fiscal years 2003 and 2007, the Company committed to
several restructuring plans in order to adjust its organizational structure, improve operational efficiencies
and eliminate redundant or excess costs resulting from acquisitions or dispositions during those periods.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-—(Centinued)

The following tables set forth changes in the Company’s aggregate liability relating to all restructuring
plans (including the Fiscal Year 2007 Plan described below) during fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006 as
well as total restructuring expense and other related costs recorded since the inception of those plans:

Employee-  Facilities-

Related Related Total
(in thousands) o .
Balance at September 30,2005 ... ... ... o 51,002 851,692  § 2,694
Charges tO eXpense, NeL . .. ... v ot e i ens 3 (38) (35
Cashpayments . ..... ... ...t iiaans (772) (814) {1,586)
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments ............... — 22y (22)
Balance at September 29,2006 ... ... cn i i i i 233 818 1,051
Charges 0 eXpense, Bet . ... ..o unvrrinnennnnens EEREEEE 2.321 — 2,321
Cash payments . ... ...t (393) (127) (5200
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments ............... 61 16 71
Balance at September 28,2007 ... ... ... ... 2,222 707 2,929
Charges toexpense, net .. ........... .. ... ooriinieainns 1,291 761 2,052
Cashpayments .. ................. R (1,702) (408) (2,110
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments ............... 29 (16) 13
Balance at October 3,2008 ........... ..., e $1,840 81,044 $ 2,884
Total expense since incébtion of pldns
(in millions)
RESIIUCIUTIIE EXPEISE . o o vttt ettt et e e et a e e et a e in e eeon $ 197
Other restructuring-related costs (2 ... oo oo oo IR $ B8

(1) These costs related primarily to employee retention and relocation costs and accelerated depreciation
of assets disposed upon the closure of facilities. Of the $8.8 million in other related costs, $3.4
million, $2.0 million and $0.2 million was recorded in fiscal year 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Fiscal Year 2007 Plan. During fiscal year 2007, the Company committed to a plan to combine and
oplimize the development and assembly of most of its nuclear magnetic resonance (“NMR”™) and mass
spectrometry products, to further centralize related administration and other functions and to reallocate
certain resources toward more rapidly growing product lines and geographies. As part of the plan, the
Company is creating an information rich detection (“IRD") center in Walnut Creek, California, where
NMR operations currently located in Palo Alto, California are being integrated with mass spectrometry
operations already located in Walnut Creek. The Company is investing in a new 45,000 square foot
building and a substantial remodel of an existing building there to house the IRD center.

As a result of the plan, a number of employee positions have been or will be relocated or eliminated
and certain facilities will be consolidated. These actions primarily impact the Scientific Instruments
segment and involve the elimination of between approximately 40 and 60 positions.

Restructuring and other related costs associated with this plan include one-time termination benefits,
retention payments, costs to relocate facilities (including decommissioning costs, moving costs and
temporary facility/storage costs), accelerated depreciation of fixed assets to be disposed as a result of
facilities actions and lease termination costs.




VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

.. The foltowing table sets forth. changes in the Company’s restructuring liability relating to the
foregoing plan during fiscal year 2008 and 2007:

Employee- Facilities-
Related Related Total
{in thousands) _
Balance at September 29,2006 .................... $ — $ — F§ —
Charges toexpense,net . ... ................. 2,301 — 2,301
Cashpayments .. ......... ... .. .. ......... (145) —_— (145)
' Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments . . 66 — 66
Balance at September 28,2007 ................ T o 2,222 — 2222
Charges toexpense, net ...................... 1,291 761 2,052
Cashpayments .............. ... v, (1,702) (252) (1,954)
Foreign currency impacts and other adjustments . . 29 42 71
Balance at October 3,2008 ............ ... ........ $ 1,840 $ 551 $ 2,391
Total expense since inception of plan '
(in milfions)
Restructuring expense ................. e R $ 44
Other restructuring-related costs ..................c.ocoien.... e $ 54

The restruciuring charges of $2.1 million and $2.3 million recorded during fiscal year 2008 and 2007,
respectively related to employee termination benefits and costs associated with the closure of leased
facilities. The Company also incurred other restructuring-related costs of $3.4 million and $2.0 million
during fiscal year 2008 and 2007, respectively. These costs were related to employee retention costs and
facilities-related costs including decommissioning costs and non-cash charges for accelerated depreciation
of assets to be disposed upon the closure of facilities,

Note 8. Warranty and Indemnification Obligations

Product Warranties. The Company’s products are generally subject to warranties. Liabilities for the
estimated future costs of repair or replacement are established and charged to cost of sales at the time the
related sale is recognized. The amount of liability to be recorded is based on management’s best estimates of
future warranty costs after considering historical and projected product failure rates and product repair costs.
Changes in the Company’s estimated liability for product warranty during fiscal years 2008 and 2007 follow:

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28,

2008 2007
K {in thousands)
Beginning balance .................. R $ 12454 311,042
Charges 10 coS1S and 8XPeNSES . .. ... vveett i, 22,184 21,167
Acquired warranty liabilities . ........... . ... ... ... . 1,098 —_
Warranty expenditures and other adjustments . . .............. .. (21,869) (19,755)

Endingbalance ... ......... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. ... ..., $ 13,867 $12,454

Indemnification Obligations. FIN 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Reguirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, requires a guarantor to recognize a
liability for and/or disclose obligations it has undertaken in relation to the issuance of the guarantee. Under
this guidance, arrangements involving indemnification clauses are subject to the disclosure requirements of
FIN 45 only.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The Company is subject to certain indemnification obligations to VMS (formerly VAI) and VSEA in
connection with the Instruments business as conducted by VAI prior to the Distribution (described in Note
1. These indemnification obligations cover a variety of aspects of the Company’s business, including, but
not limited to, employee, tax, inicllectual property, litigation and environmental matters. Certain of the
agreements containing these indemnification obligations are disclosed as exhibits to the Company’s Annuat
Report on Form 10-K. The estimated fair value of these indemnification obligations is not considered to be
material.

The Company is subject to certain indemnification obligations to Jabil in connection with the
Company’s sale of its Electronics Manufacturing Business to Jabil. These indemnification obligations
cover certain aspects of the Company’s conduct of the Electronics Manufacturing Business prior to its sale
to Jabil, including, but not limited to, employee, tax, litigation and environmental matters. The agreement
containing these indemnification obligations is disclosed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The estimated fair value of these indemnification obligations is not considered to be material.

The Company’s By-Laws require it to indemnify its officers and directors, as well as those who act as
directors and officers of other entities at the request of the Company, against expenses, judgments, fines,
settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any proceedings arising
out of their services to the Company. In addition, the Company has entered into separate indemnity
agreements with each director and officer that provide for indemnification of these directors and officers
under certain circumstances. The form of these indemnity agreements is disclosed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. The indemnification obligations are more fully described in
these indemnity agreements and the Company’s By-Laws. The Company purchases insurance to cover
claims or a portion of any claims made against its directors and officers. Since a maximum obligation is not
explicitly stated in the Company’s By-Laws or these indemnity agreements and will depend on the facts
and circumstances that arise out of any future claims, the overall maximum amount of the obligations
cannot reasonably be estimated. Historically, the Company has not made payments related to these
indemnification obligations and the estimated fair value of these indemnification obligations is not
considered to be material.

As is customary in the Company’s industry and as provided for in local law in the U.S. and other
jurisdictions, many of the Company’s standard contracts provide remedies to customers and other third
parties with whom the Company enters into contracts, such as defense, settlement or payment of judgment
for intellectual property claims related to the use of its products. From time to time, the Company also
agrees to indemnify customers, suppliers, contractors, lessors, lessees and others with whom it enters into
contracts, against loss, expense and/or liability arising from various triggering events related to the sale and
the use of the Company's products and services, the use of their goods and services, the use of facilities
and other matters covered by such contracts. usually up to a specified maximum amount. In addition, from
time to time, the Company sometimes also agrees to indemnify these parties against claims related to
undiscovered liabilities, additional product liability or environmental obligations. Claims made under such
indemnification obligations have been 1n31gmﬁcam and the estlmated fair value of these indemnification
obligations is not considered to be material.

Note 9. Debt and Credit Facilities

Credit Facilities. 'The Company maintains relationships with banks in many countries from whom it
sometimes obtains bank guarantees and short-term standby letters of credit. These guarantees and letters of
credit relate primarily to advance payments and deposits made to the Company’s subsidiaries by customers
for which' separate liabilities are recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements. As of October 3, 2008,
a total of $21.2 million of these bank guarantees and letters of credit were outstanding. No amounts had
been drawn by beneficiaries under these or any other outstanding guarantees or letters of credit as of that
date.
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Long-term Debt.  As of October 3, 2008, the Company had a $18.8 million term loan outstanding

with a U.S. financial institution, compared to $25.0 million at September 28, 2007. As of both October 3,

2008 and September 28, 2007, the fixed interest rate on the term loan was 6.7%. The term 1oan contains

“certain covenants that limit future borrowings and the payment of cash dividends and require the

maintenance of certain levels of working capital and operating results, The Company was in compliance
with all restrictive covenants of the term loan agreement at October 3, 2008.

The following table summarizes future principal payments on long-term debt outstanding as of
Qctober 3, 2008:

Fiscal Years

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total
(in thousands)
Long-term debt
(including current portion) ... $ — % 6250 % — 8§ 6,250 % — % 6,250 % 18,750

Based upon rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining
maturities, the carrying amount of long-term debt approximates the estimated fair value.

Nete 10. Operating Lease Commitments

As of October 3, 2008, the Company was committed to minimum rentals for certain facilities and
other leased assets under long-term non-cancelable operating leases (net of non-cancelable sublease
income) as follows:

{in thousands)

Fiscal Year

2000 e S 8,602
2000 e R 6,473
7 O 3,303
26 P 2,040
20 1,621
Thereafter ... e e __3_38_0
] $25.419

Rent expense for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, was $17.4 million, $16.1 million and $14.9
million. respectively.

Note 11. Retirement Plans

Certain employees of the Company in the U.S. are eligible to participate in the Company’s sponsored,
defined contribution retirement plan. For employee contributions made after certain minimum employment
conditions have been met, the Company is obligated to maich the participant’s contribution up to 6% of
their eligible compensation. Participants are entitled, upon termination or retirement, 10 receive their
account balances, which are held by a third-party trustee. The Company has no defitned benefit plans in the
U.S. In addition to the ULS. retirement plan. a number of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries have
retirement plans for regular full-time employees. Although most of the plans are defined contribution plans,
several of them are defined benefit plans. Total expenses for all retirement plans amounted to $13.0
million, $12.5 million and $12.3 million for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

As of September 28, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 158, Emplovers’ Accounting

Jor Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—an amendment of FASB Statemenis No. 87,
88, 106, and 132(R). SFAS 138 requires an employer to recognize the funded status of defined benefit

F-19




VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

postretirement plans (other than multiemployer plans) as an asset or liability in its consolidated balance
sheet and recognize.changes in the funded status in the year in which the changes occur through
comprehensive income. SFAS 158 also requires the measurement date of the plans funded status 1o be the
same as a company’s fiscal year-end. ' '

Under SFAS 158, the components of the amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive
income at October 3, 2008 and September 28, 2007 were as follows:

October 3, September 28,

2008 2007

(in thousands) :
Components of accumulated other comprehenswe income

(before taxes of $261 and $522 in fiscal years 2008 and 2047,

respectively)
Prior service costs .. ..... ... i, e $ 179 5 204
TranSTHON ASSES « < o o vt e ettt ettt e e et e n s (28) (40)
Net actuarial 1088 . ..o oot it e e it iaa it r e 2,089 2,805
Foreign currency changes and other adjustments ................ 647 —
oAl vt ettt e e e $ 2,887 3 2,969

The portion of this amount expected to be amortized into net periodic pension cost in fiscal year 2009
is not significant.

Changes in the projected benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets and funded status relatmg to the
Company’s defined benefit pension plans follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28, September 29,

2008 2007 * 2006

(in thousands)
Change in projected benefit obligation ‘ :
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of fiscal year ....... $ 53,333 $ 52,071 $ 46,085
Service cost, including plan participant contributions ......... 1,573 1,721 1,680
TNErESt COSL ettt e e e 2,957 2,601 2,138
Actuarial {gain) loss .. ... ... i (5,367) (6,110) (150)
Foreign currency changes ............ ... .l (3,749) 4,161 3,047
Benefit Payments ... .....ourrnteee o (1,094) (1,111) (729)
Projected benefit obligation at end of fiscal year............. $ 47,653 $ 53,333 $ 52.071
Change in fair value of plan assets and funded status ‘ ‘
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of fiscal year .......... C§ 44236 $ 37,279 $ 31,786
Actual returnen plan assets . ..., (2,730 3,163 2471
Employer and plan participant conmbutlom e 1,762 1,617 1,592
Foreign currency changes ................. ... .. ... oa.n. C(2,869) 3,288 2,159
Benefit and expense payments . .........oov e iae. . (1,094) (1,110 - (729)
Fair value of plan assets at end of fiscal year ............... 39,304 44236 37,279
Projected benefit obligation at end of fiscal year .. ........... (47,653) . (53,333) (52,071)
Projected benefit obligation in excess of falr value ofrplan - .

ASSETS  © oot e e T (8,349 (9,097) (14,792)
Unrecognized priorservice cost ........... ... — — 142
Unrecognized net actuarial loss ......... e PO . — — 10,023
Net accrued benefit cost at end of fiscal year . ........ . $ (8349) % 9,097y § (4,627)
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Additional information pertaining to the Company’s defined benefit pension pl.lns as of the end of

fiscal years 2008 and 2007 is outlined below:

(dollars in thousands)

Amounts included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Other (long-term} assets . .. ... .. et e e
Current Habilies . . .. .. .. . i i e
Other (long-term) liabilities ............ ... ... ... ... i ...

Net accrued benefit costatend of fiscal year ......... ... o it
Accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans . .. ...

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations
DISCOUNLTAte . . oo vttt e e e e e

Weighted-average asset allocations by asset category

Equity Securifies . ... ... . i e
Debt securities .. ... .. e
Cash ......... e
Realestate .................. R A
Other . .. .. P

Additional information
Increase (decrease) in minimum liability included in olher comprehensive
income after tax ...............................................

October 3, September 28,
2008 2007
$ 5241 $ 3915
(22) (%
(13,568) (12,993)
b (8,349) $ (9,097)
$ 42,974 $ 48477
6.0% 5.5%
35% 3.6%
35% 48%
52 42
3 2
2 1
8 7
100% 100%
$ 965 $ (2,504)

Information relating to defined benefit pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess

of the fair vaive of plan assets follows:

{in thousands) ‘

Projected benefitobligation ......... ... ... ... il
Accumulated benefitobligation ... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ...
Fairvalueof planassets ... ... . .. . . .. ...

October 3, September 28,
2008 2007

§ 37,367 $ 42,302

$ 32,688 $ 37,446

$ 23,777 $ 29,289

Net Periodic Pension Cosi. Net periodic pension cost for defined benefit pension plans is
determined in accordance with SFAS 87, Emplovers’ Accounting for Pensions, as amended, and is made up
of several components that reflect different aspects of the Company’s pension-related financial
arrangements and the cost of benefits earned by participating employees. These components are determined

using certain actuarial assumptions.
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The components of the Company’s net periodic pension cost relating to defined benefit pension plans
and the weighted-average assumptions used to determine that cost follow:

October 3,  September 28, September 29,

2008 2007 2006
{dollars in thousands)
Components of net periodic pension cost - :
Service cost, net of plan participant contributions . . . .. $ 1,232 -$ 1,387 $ 1,331
INLErest COSt . oottt ettt i e 2,957 2,601 2,138
Expected return on plan assets .................... (2,657) (2,126) (1,702)
Amortization of prior service cost and actuarial gains .

AN TOSSES - . - o\ttt 3) 460 522
Net periodic pension cost ........ OO $ 1,529 $2322 $ 2,289
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine

net periodic pension cost
DISCOUNtTALE ..\ttt eananns 5.5% 4.8% 4.6%
Expected return on plan assets .................... 5.8% 5.4% 5.2%
Rate of compensation increases ................... 3.6% - 4.1% 3.9%

Buasis for Assumptions. The Company utilizes yields on country-specific, long-term Corporate AA
bond indices (typically 10- or 15-year indices based on the expected timing of benefit payments) as the
basis for its discount rate assumptions for each of its defined benefit pension plans. With regard to the
expected return assumption, plan assets in most countries are invested in low-risk, long-term fixed income
investments such as direct insurance policies and guaranteed insurance contracts. For these asset types, the
expected rate of return is established either by reference to yields on comparable long-term corporate bond
indices in that country or the return guaranteed by the issuer of the investment security (net of expenses).
The exception to this is in the United Kingdom, where the majority of plan assets are invested in equity
securities, with the remainder invested typically in corporate bonds, real estate and cash. Due to the nature
of these investments, long-term money and corporate bond yields and an implied equity risk premium are
considered in establishing the asset return assumption for the defined benefit pension plan in the United
Kingdom.

Emplover Contributions. During the fiscal year ended October 3, 2008, the Company made
contributions totaling approximately $1.3 million to its defined benefit pension plans. The Company
currently anticipates contributing an additional $1.2 million to its remaining defined benefit pension plans
in fiscal year 2009, primarily in the United Kingdom.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments. As of October 3, 2008, benefit payments, which reflect
expected future service (as appropriate), are expected to be as follows:

(in millions)
Fiscal Year

10 P $09
2000 e e e $09
7713 18 $10
2002 e s $ 11
200 e e $13
20042008 . e e $ 89

Other Postretirement Benefits. At the Distribution (described in Note 1), the Company assumed
responsibility for certain post-employment and postretirement benefits for active employees of the
Company; the responsibility for all others, principally retirees of VAL, remained with VMS, although the
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Company is obligated to reimburse VMS for certain costs relating to certain VAI retirees. The Company’s
portion of assets and liabilities as well as related expenses for shared post-employment and postretirement
benefits have been included in these Consotidated Financial Statements, As of both Qctober 3, 2008 and
September 28, 2007, the Company had accrued $0.6 million, respectively, in current liabilities relating to
these obligations. The Company also had accrued $5.6 million as of October 3, 2008 and $6.3 million as of
September 28, 2007, in other liabilities relating to these obligations.

Note 12. Contingencies

Environmental Matters. The Company’s operations are subject to various federal, state and local
laws in the U.S. as well as laws in other countries regulating the discharge of materials into the
environmenlt or otherwise relating 10 the protection of the environment. These regulations increase the costs
and potential liabilities of the Company’s operations. However, the Company does not currently anticipate
that its compliance with these regulations will have a material effect on the Company's capital
expenditures, earnings or competitive position,

The Company and VSEA are each obligated (under the terms of the Distribution described in Note 1)
to indemnify VMS for one-third of certain costs (after adjusting for any insurance recoveries and tax
benefits recognized or realized by VMS for such costs) relating to (a) environmental investigation,
monitoring and/or remediation activities at certain facilities previously operated by VAI and third-party
claims made in connection with environmental conditions at those facilities, and (b) U.S. Environmentat
Protection Agency or third-party claims alleging that VAI or VMS is a potentially responsible party under
the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act. of 1980, as amended
(“CERCLA") in connection with certain sites to which VAI allegedly shipped manufacturing waste for
recycling, treatment or disposal {the “CERCLA sites”). With respect to the facilities formerly operated by
VAI VMS is overseeing the environmental investigation, monitoring and/or remediation activities, in most
cases under the direction of or in consultation with federal, state and/or local agencies, and handling third-
party claims. VMS is also handling claims relating to the CERCLA sites. The Company is also undertaking
environmental investigation and/or monitoring dC[lVll]ES at one of its facilities under the direction of or in
consultation with governmental agencies.

Various uncertainties make it difficult to estimate future costs for certain of these environmental-
related activities, specifically external legal expenses, VMS’ internal oversight costs, third-party claims and
a former VAI facility where the likelihood and scope of further environmental-related activities are
difficult to assess. As of October 3, 2008, it was nonetheless estimated that the Company’s future exposure
for these environmental-related costs ranged in the aggregate from $1.2 million to $2.6 million. The time
frame over which these costs are expected 10 be incurred varies with each type of cost, ranging up to
approximately 30 years as of October 3, 2008. No amount in the foregoing range of estimated future costs
is discounted, and no amount in the range is believed to be more probable of'being incurred than any other
amount in such range. The Company therefore had an accrual of $1.2 million as of Qctober 3, 2008 for
these future environmental-related costs.

Sufficient knowledge has been gained to be able to betier estimate other costs for future
environmental-related activities. As of October 3, 2008, it was estimated that the Company’s future costs
for these environmental-related activities ranged in the aggregate from $2.3 million to $13.1 million. The
time frame over which these costs are expected to be incurred varies, ranging up to approximately 30 years
as of October 3, 2008. As 1o each of these ranges of cost estimates, it was determined that a particular
amount within the range was a better estimate than any other amount within the range. Together, these
amounts totaled $5.8 million at October 3, 2008. Because both the amount and timing of the recurring
portion of these costs were reliably determinable, that portion is discounted at 4%, net of inflation. The
Company therefore had an accrual of $4.0 million as of October 3, 2008, which represents its best estimate
of these future environmental-related costs after discounting estimated recurring future costs. This accrual
is in addition to the $1.2 million described in the preceding paragraph. '
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At Qctober 3, 2008, the Company’s reserve for environmental-related costs, based upon future
environmental-related costs estimated by the Company as of that date, was calculated as follows:

Non- Total
Recurring Recurring  Anticipated
Costs Costs _ Future Cost
(in millions)
Fiscal Year
2000 . e e $03 $ 03 $ 06
2000 i 0.2 03 0.5
200l e e 0.2 0.3 0.5
2002 e e e, 03 0.4 0.7
2. 1 1 T A 03 0.2 0.5
Thereafter ... vr et PP 3.6 05 4.1
Total COSES © v v e ot e e e e e e e e $ 49 2.0 6.9
Less Imputed INEETESE . . ... .ot i et (.
RESEIVE AMOUNT . . ...ttt it i i sttt i 5.2
Less CUMrent POITION . . .. oottt e i r e it (0.6)
Long-term (included in Other liabilities) .. ..........veerurreerrnneeeinn.. 46

The foregoing amounts are only estimates of anticipated future environmental-refated costs and the
amounts actually spent in the years indicated may be greater or less than such estimates. The aggregate
range of cost estimates reflects various uncertainties inherent in many environmental- investigation,
monitoring and remediation activities and the large number of sites where such investigation, monitoring
and remediation activities are being undertaken.

The Company has not reduced any environmental-related liability in anticipation of recoveries from
third parties. However, an insurance company has agreed to pay a portion of certain of VAI's (now YMS’)
future environmental-related costs, for which the Company has an indemnification obligation, and the
Company therefore has a long-term receivable of $1.0 miflion (discounted at 4%, net of inflation} in Other
assets as of October 3, 2008, for the Company’s share of that insurance recovery.

The Company believes that its reserves for the foregoing and other environmental-related matters are
adequate, but as the scope of its obligation becomes more clearly deéfined, these reserves may be modified
and related charges against or credits to earnings may be made. Although any ultimate liability arising from
environmental-related matters could result in significant expenditures that, if aggregated and assumed to
occur within a single fiscal year, would be material to the Company’s financial statements, the likelihood
of such occurrence is considered remote. Based on information currently available and its best assessment
of the ultimate amount and timing of environmental-related events, the Company believes that the costs of
environmental-related matters are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse éffect on the Company’s
financial condition or results of operations. ' ‘ '

_ . .

Legal Proceedings. The Company is involved in pending legal proceedings that are ordinary, routine
and incidental to its business. While the ultimate outcome of these legal matters is not determinable, the
Company believes that these matters are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial condition or results of operations. .

Note 13. Stockholders’ Equity )
Stock Rights, Stock Plans and Stock Repurchase Programs

. 1

On April 2, 1999, stockholders of record of VAL on March 24, 1999 received in the Distribution
(described in Note 1) one share of the Company’s common stock for each share of VAl common stock held
on April 2, 1999. Each stockholder also received one preferred stock purchase right (“Right”) for each
share of common stock distributed, entitling the stockholder to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of
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Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, for $200.00 (subject to adjustment),.in the event of
certain changes in the Company’s ownership. The Participating Preferred Stock is designed so that each
one one-thousandth of a share has economic and voting terms similar to those of one share of common
stock. The Rights will expire no later than March 2009. As of October 3, 2008, no Rights were eligible to
be exercised and none had been exercised through that date.

Omnibus Stock Plan. Effective April 2, 1999, the Company adopted the Omnibus Stock Plan
(“OS8P”) under which shares of common stock can be issued to officers, directors and employees. The OSP
has been approved by the Company’s stockholders and is administered by the Compensation Committee of
the Company’s Board of Directors. At October 3, 2008, a total of 4,124,000 shares were avaiiable for
issuance under the OSP. '

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. During fiscal year 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP") which was approved by the Companys
stockholders in February 2003. Under the ESPP, eligible Company employees may set aside, through
payroll deductions, between 1% and 10% of eligible compensation for purchases of the Company’s
common stock. The participants’ purchase price is the lower of 85% of the stock’s market value on the
enrollment date or 85% of the stock’s market value on the purchase date. Prior to fiscal year 2006,
enrollment dates occurred every six months and purchase dates occurred each quarter. Beginning in fiscal
year 2006, the Company reduced the length of each offering period under its ESPP from six months to
three months. At October 3. 2008, a total of 188,000 shares were available for issuance under the ESPP.

Stock Repurchase Programs, In February 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a new
stock repurchase program under which the Company was authorized to utilize up to $100 million to
repurchase shares of its common stock. This repurchase program is effective through December 31, 2009.
During fiscal year 2008, the Company repurchased and retired 1,070,000 shares under this authorization at
an aggregate cost of $55.4 million. As of October 3., 2008,.the Company had rematning authorization to
repurchase $44.6 million of its common stock under this program. :

In January 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program under
which the Company is authorized to utilize up to $100 million to repurchase shares of its common stock.
This repurchase program was effective through December 31, 2008. During fiscal year 2008, the Company
repurchased and retired 876,000 shares under this authorization at an aggregate cost of $50.4 million,
which completed this repurchase program. During fiscal year 2007, the Company repurchased and retired
862,000 shares under this authorization at an aggregate cost of $49.6 millicn,

In November 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program under
which the Company was authorized to utilize up to $100 million to repurchase shares of its common stock.
This repurchase program was effective through September 30, 2007. During fiscal year 2007, the Company
repurchased and retired 820,000 shares under this authorization at an aggregate cost of $37.0 million,
which completed this repurchase program. During fiscal year 2006, the Company repurchased and retired
1,515,000 shares under this authorization at an aggregate cost of $63.0 million.

Other Stock Repurchases. During fiscal year 2008, the Company repurchased and retired 16,000
shares tendered to it by employees in settlement of employee tax withhoiding obligations due from those
employees upon the vesting of restricted stock,

Share-Based Compensation

Stock Options.  Under the OSP, the Company periodically grants stock options to officers, directors and
employees. The exercise price for stock options granted under the OSP may not be less than 100% of the fair
market value at the date of the grant. Options granted are exercisable at the times and on the terms established
by the Compensation Committee, but not later than ten years after the date of grant {(except in the event of
death, after which an option is exercisable for three years), Options granted generally become exercisable in
cumulative installments of one-third each year commencing one year following the date of grant.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity under the OSP for the periods indicated:

. i _ Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Aggregate Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Grant Date  Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Fair Value®™ Life Value
' ‘ (in thousands) {in millions) (in years) (in millions)
Outstanding at September 30, 2005 . ... 3.246 $ 28.80 f
Granted ...... ... .. ... v, 538 $ 41.88 $ 70
BXercised .. ..oveiriniiiinenannns (1,225) $ 24.85
Cancelled orexpired ................ (66) $ 38.99
Qutstanding at September 29, 2006 . ... 2,493 $ 33.30 5.4 $ 314
Granted ......... ... ... ..., 339 $ 46.13 $50
Exercised ... .. e (1,001) $ 28.12
Cancelled orexpired ................ (48) $41.22
Outstanding at September 28, 2007 .. .. 1,783 $ 3843 5.6 $ 449
Granted .. ... 0o 301 $ 66.71 $ 59
Exercised .. ...................... . 410) $ 35.07
Cancelled or expired . ............... (14) $ 59.04 .
Qutstanding at October 3, 2008 ....... £,660 $ 4421 57 $ 240
Exercisable at October 3, 2008 ........ 1,030 $ 38.09 4.6 $ 19.2

(1) After estimated forfeitures.

The intrinsic value of options exercised in fiscal year 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $11.4 million, $26.2
million and $21.8 million, respectively.

Restricted (Nonvested) Stock. Under the OSP, the Company also periodically grants restricted
{nonvested)} common stock to employees. Such grants are valued as of the grant date. These amounts are
recognized by the Company as share-based compensation expense ratably over their respective vesting
periods, which range from one to three years.

The following table summarizes restricted {nonvested) common stock activity under'the OSP for the
periods indicated: '

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Grant Date Grant Date
Shares Fair Value Fair Value
{in thousands) (in millions)
Quitstanding at September 30,2005 .. ..................... 25 $ 36.18
Granted ... ..., R R ‘ 27 5 4251 $12
Qutstanding at September 29,2006 .. ... ... ... ... 32 $ 3951 .-
Granted . . ..o 39 $ 47.83 %28
Qutstanding at September 28,2007 .............. ... ..., 11 $ 4392
Granted . ... ... e e 46 $ 67.55 $ 3.1
Vested .. ....... e (52) $ 43,48
Outstanding at October 3, 2008 ... .......... ... ... ... 105 - § 54.51
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Share-based compensation expense related to restricted (nonvested) common stock was $2.6 million,
$2.2 million and $0.6 million in fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As of October.3; 2008,
there was $2.0 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted (nonvested)
common stock granted under the OSP This expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of .8 years,

Performance Shares. During fiscal year 2008, the Company implemented a long-term performance
share program. Under this program, vested shares of the Company’s common stock could be granted under
the OSP to certain key employees, depending on the Company’s performance relative to pre-determined
long-term earnings per share targets.

As of October 3, 2008, targeted performance shares had been awarded for two performance periods,
key aspects of which are summarized below:

Range of shares ' Timing of share issuance
Performance period issuahle (if earned)
Fiscal years 2008 — 2010 -~ | 0 - 73,000 Fiscal year 2011

Fiscal years 2009 — 2011 0-121,800 Fiscal year 2012

Non-Employee Director Stock Units. . Under the terms of the OSP, on the first business day following
each annual meeting of the Company’s stockhalders, each person then serving as a non-employee director
is automatically granted stock units having an initial value of $45,000 beginning in fiscal year 2008 and
$25,000 prior to fiscal year 2008. The stock units will vest upon termination of the director’s service on the
Board of Directors and will then be satisfied by issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock. Each
non-employee director who holds stock units will not have rights as a stockholder with respect to the shares
issuable thereunder until such shares are paid out: The stock units are not transferable, except to the
non-employee director’s designated beneficiary or estate in the event of his or her death. During fiscal year
2008, the Company granted stock units with an aggregate value of $225,000 to non-employee members of
its Board of Directors (of which there were five) and recognized the total value of $225,000 as share-based
compensation expense at the time of grant. During fiscal year 2007, the Company granted stock units with
an aggregate value of $125,000 to non-employee members of its Board of Directors (of which there were
five) and recognized the total value of $125,000 as share-based compensation expense at the time of grant.
During fiscal year 2006, the Company granted stock units with an aggregate value of $150,000 to
non-employee members of its Board of Directors (of which there were six) and recognized the total value
of $150,000 as share-based compensation expense at the time of grant.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Under the ESPP, employees purchased 79,100 shares for $3.9
million, 96,600 shares for $3.8 million and 114,500 shares for $3.6 million, during ﬁqcal years 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectlvely

During fiscal year 2008, the weighted-average estimated fair value of the option to purchase a share of
the Company’s common stock under the ESPP was $13.88 per share for offering periods during the year.
During fiscal year 2007, the weighted-average estimated fair value of the option to purchase a share of the
Company’s common stock under the ESPP was $10.87 per share for offering pericds during the year.
During fiscal year 2006, the weighted-average estimated fair value of the option to purchase a share of the
Company’s common stock under the ESPP was $8.24 per share for offering periods during the year.

Share-Based Compensation under SFAS 123(R). Share-Based Compensation Expense. The

Company accounts for share-based awards in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R), Share-
Based Payment.
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‘The folowing table summarizes the amount of share-based compensation expense by award type as
well as the effect of this expense on income tax expense, net earnings and net earnings per share:

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28, September 29,
2008 2007 2006

{in thousands, except per share amounts) .
Share-based compensation expense by award type: C )
Employee and non-employee director stock options ....... .. $(5.484)  $(6,653) $(7,005)
Employee stock purchase plan .......................... (1,048) (948) (913)
Restricted (nonvested) stockD .. ... .. . i, {2,916) (2,220) (644}
Non-employee director stock units ... .... e - (225) (125) ¢ (150)
Total share-based compensation expense {(effect on earnings - - .

before ipcomc 12003 IR {9,673) (9,946) (8,712)
Effect on income tax expense . .............vviiiiiiannn 2,686 3,622 3,172
Effect on net earnings ................... e $(6,987) - 5(6,324) $(5 540)

(1) Includes $332,000 in fiscal year 2008 and $128,000 in fiscal year 2007 related to shares granted in
connection with the Company’s fiscal year 2007 restructuring plan.

As of October 3, 2008, the unrecorded deferred share-based compensation balance related to stock
options was $4.4 million. This amount will be recognized as expense using the straight-line atmbut:on
method over an estimated weighted-average amortization period of 1.3 years.

Share-based compensation expense recorded has been included in the Company s Consolidated
Statement of Earnings as follows : '

Fiscal Year Ended

(rctober 3, September 28, Scptember 29,
2008 2007 2006

{in thousands)

Costofsales ....ovviriiii it D $ 463 $ 443 $ 448
Selling, general and administrative . ................... e 8,728 8,970 7,723
Research and development ... ... .. ... ... ..l 482 533 541

O $9,673 $9,946 $8,712

Capitalizable share-based compensation expense relating to inventory or deferred cost of sales (a
component of deferred profit) was not significant at October 3, 2008, September 28, 2007 or September 29,
2006.

.
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Valuation Assumptions. The Company estimates the-fair value of stock options granted under the
OSP and shares issued under the ESPP using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, consistent with the
provisions of SFAS 123(R), SAB 107 and the Company’s prior-period pro forma disclosures of net
earnings, including share-based compensation (determined under a fair value method as prescribed by
SFAS-123). The fair value-of each option-grant under the OSP and each share issuance under the ESPP was
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model with the following welghted average

assumpnom
JER LN . . . . .

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28, September 29,

2008 2007 2006
Employee and-non-employee director stock options: ’ o
Expected dividend yield ....... ... . ... 0.0% 0.0% --0.0%
Risk-free interestrate -............ e 3.4% 4.6% - 4.5%
Expected price volatilil;r ........... U 29%- - - 30% 30%
Expected life (inyears) ,........oooveeiiiiiirann. e 45 4.5 - - 4.5
Employee stock purchase plan purchases '
Expected dividend yield /... o . 0.0% - 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free Interest rate . ............oiiuinrnriniennenanns 2.1% 5.0% 4.5%
Expected price volatility ............ e PR e 39% 28% 30%
Expected life (in years) ... ... ... SUULUUTRRR 03 0.3 ©03

Opuon -pricing models require the input of highly Sl.lb]BCllV& assumptions, including the expected
forfeiture rate and life of the option and the expected price volau]lty of the underlying stock. The Company
estimates the" expected 'forfeiture and expeeted life d‘;sumpnons based on historical experience. In
determining the Company’s expected stock price volatility assumption, the Company reviews both the
historical and implied volatility of the Company’s common stock, with implied volatility based on the
implied vdlatility of publicly traded options on the Company’s common stock. Unless the volume or
maturity of these publicly traded options does not satisfy the conditions to use implied volatility .under
SAB 107, the Company determines the expected stock price volatility assumption using a combination of
historical and implied volatility. The expected stock price volatility assumption for fiscal year 2008 was
determined using the historical volatility of the Company s common stock. For fiscal years 2007 and 2006,
the expected stock pnccﬂvo]anhty assumption was determined using a combination of the historical and
implied volatility of the Company’s common stock.

L
.

Note 14. ' Income Taxes

-y ‘ -
The sources of earnings before income taxes follow:.
. * . ' .

. Fiscal Year Ended: -
K . ta October 3, September 28, September 29,

LT o . 2008 2007 2006
{in thrmsands) . ' '
United State§ . ........ . ........ AR AT $ (7359) , $ (3387 $(731D)
Foreign " ..o e PP oo oo 110,078 0 1002157 - 81,981
Earmngs before income TAXES vt $102,719 $ 96,828 $74.664

A K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following table summarizes the activity related to unrecognized tax benefits:

1
Il .

{in thousana’s) A : . e

Balance at September 29, 2007 (ﬁrst day of ﬁsca] year 2008) ................ $ 6,924

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year .................. 1,501

Expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment of taxes .. ... .. .. RN B (2,514)
© Balance at October 3,2008 ........... SUSNTTTRRR 8N

-

The Company’s U.S. federal, state and 10ca1 and foreign income tax returns are subject to audn by
relevant tax authorities. During fiscal year 2008, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service closed its examination
of .the Company’s fiscal year 2003 U.S. federal tax return.without assessing additional taxes.. The
Company’s income tax reporting periods beginning with fiscal year 2005 for the U.5. and fiscal year 2003
for the Company’s major foreign jurisdictions remain generally open to audit by relevant tax authorities,

Note 15. Net Earnings Per Share "t

Basic eammgs per share are calculated based on net eamings and the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the reported period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated
similarly, except that the weighted-average number of common shares outstandmg during the period is
increased by the number of additional shares of common stock that would’ haye been outstanding, if the
dilutive potential shares of common stock had been issued. The dilutive effect of potential common stock
(including outstandmg stock options, ESPP shares, non-employee director stock units and restricted stock)
is reflected in diluted eamings per share by application of the treasury stock method, which includes
consideration of share-based compensation and the tax benefit thereon as required by SFAS 123(R).

In fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, options to purchase approximately 255,000, 10,000 and 452,000
shares, respectively, were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their effect
was anti-dilutive.

_ A reconciliation of weighted-average basic shares outstanding to welghted average diluted shares
outstanding follows: . B VU . .. v

\ .

Fiscal Year Ended

’ October3,  September 28,  September 29, e
- y C L 2008wl 2007 2006 . v ;
_ (in'thousands) SR e _‘ v : _
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding .. ... "9620° 30,457 ©30929
Net effect of dilutive potential common'stock ... ' 452 " . 547 495 !
v N B T AR el A _—
‘ Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding ... | 30072 ., 31004 31424

Note 16. Industry and Geographic Segments .~ -

' -

Industry Segments.  For financial reporting purposes the Company’s operanom -are grouped into two
business segments: Scientific Instruments and .Vacuum Technologies. The Scientific Instruments segment
designs, develops, manufactures, markets, sells and services equipment and related software, consumable
products,” accessories and services for a broad range of life science, environmental, energy, and applied
research.and other applications requiring identification, quantification and analysis of the composition or
structure of liquids, solids or gases. The Vacuum Technologies segment designs, ‘develops, manufactures,
markets, sells and services vacuum products and related accessories and services used to create, contain,
control, measure and test vacuum environments in a broad range of-life science, environmental, energy,
and applied research and other applications requiring ultra-clean orhigh-vacuum environments. These
segments were determined in accordance SFAS 131, Drsclasures about Segmenrs of an Enrerpnse and
Related Information. : . A : Y :

F-32




VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Valuation Assumptions. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options granted under the
OSP and shares issued under the ESPP using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, consistent with the

. provisions of SFAS 123(R), SAB 107 and the Company’s prior-period pro forma disclosures of net

earnings, including share-based compensation (determined under a fair value method as prescribed by
SFAS-123). The fair value of each option grant under the OSP and each share issuance under the ESPP was
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted-average
assumptions: . '

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28,  September 29,

2008 2007 2006
Employee and non-employee director stock options: '
Expected dividend yield ........ ... ... .. . ... 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interestrate . ............. [ 34% 4.6% 4.5%
Expected price volatility - .. ... 29% 30% 30%
Expected life (inyears) . ............ ... i an.. 4.5 4.5 4.5
Employee stock purchase plan purchases:
Expecteddividend yield . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... 0.0% - 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interestrate ........ ... v ivaiann 2.1% 5.0% 4.5%
Expected price volatility ....... ... .. oo i 39% 28% 30%
Expected life (inyears) ..................... .. ... P 0.3 0.3 0.3

Option-pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected
forfeiture rate and life of the option and the expected price volatility of the underlying stock. The Company
estimates the ‘expected forfeiture and expected life assumptions based on histerical experience. In
determining the Company’s expected stock price volatility assumption, the Company reviews both the
historical and implied volatility of the Company’s common stock, with implied volatility based on the
implied volatility of publicly traded options on the Company’s common stock. Unless the volume or
maturity of these publicly traded options does not satisfy the conditions to use implied volatility under
SAB 107, the Company determines the expected stock price volatility assumption using a combination of
historical and implied volatility. The expected stock price volatility assumption for fiscal year 2008 was
determined using the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. For fiscal years 2007 and 2006,
the expected stock price volatility assumption was delermined using a combination of the historical and
implied volatility of the Company’s common stock,

Note 14. Income Taxes

The sources of earnings before income taxes follow:

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28, September 29,

2008 2007 2006
(in thousands) '
United States . .......... [ $ (7359 8 (3,387) $(7.317)
Foreign ....... ... .. iiiieiiian. e 110,078 100,215 81,981
Earnings before income taxes . .................. ... ... $102,719 $ 96,828 $74,664

F-29




VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Income tax expense on earnings consists of the following:
Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28,  September 29,
2008 2007 2006

{(in thousands)
Current .
US. Federal ............... .. ... iiviine. $(1,670) $ 7,730 $ 5,629
Foreign ...... ..ot 39,909 32,728 30,907
Stateandlocal ....... ... .. ... . . .. .. . ... 1,157 2,158 958
Totalcurrent .. ...... ... .. ... ... ... .. ..... 39,396 42,616 37,494
Deferred
US.Federal .......... .................... (2,753) (8,002) (9.038)
Foreign ....... ... ... . ... ... (442) 422 (1,872)
Stateandlocal ... ... . .. . i 73 (1.824) (1,989)
Total deferved . ... .. o (3,122) (9,404) (12,899)
INCOME tAX EXPENSE . ..o\ urtrinine e $36,274 £33,212 § 24,595

| Deferred income tax expense for fiscal year 2008 includes $0.5 million auributable to changes in tax

rate'[s.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the temporary differences between the tax basis
and| reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and tax loss and credit carry-forwards. Their significant
componenis follow:

October 3, September 28,
2008 2007

(in thousands}

Assets

Capitalized research and developmeritcosts .................. $22,646 $20,071

Deferred compensation . ..................... I 16,154 15,475

VERLOTY oo 12,623 11,898

Deferred profit .. ... . .. 3,564 4,938

Product Warranty ... ... 3.827 3,833

Loss and credit carry-forwards .. ........ ... .. ... . oL 3,623 1,398

133 2,434 4,451

Gross deferred tax assets . ....... ... ... o iiial, S 64,871 62,064

Valuation allowance . ...t (831 —_

Total deferred tax assels ...t iiiiennns 64,034 62,064

Liabilities

Depreciation and amortization .......... ... ... ... 00 18,782 17,431

Currency transfation adjustment .................. ... .. ..., 5,406 5,689

Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries ............... ... 836 —

Total deferred tax habilities ........ ... .. ... ... L. 25,024 23,120

Net deferred tax assets . ... .. ..ottt $39.010 $38.944

| As of October 3, 2008, the Company’s foreign manufacturing and sales subsidiaries had accumulated
apptoximately $120.1 million of earnings that have been reinvested in their operations. The Company has
not provided U.S. tax on these earnings. Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability
on such earnings is not practicable.
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As of October 3, 2008, the Company had a U.S. foreign tax credit carry-forward of approximately
$4.2 million that expires in 2019. If realized, $2.5 million of this carry-forward will be accounted for as a
credit to stockholders’ equity. The balance of this carry forward has been recognized as a deferred tax
asset.

As of October 3, 2008, the Company had U.S. research and development credit carry-forwards of
approximately $1.0 million that begin to expire in 2028 and have been recognized as a deferred tax asset.

As of October 3, 2008, the Company had foreign loss carry-forwards of approximately $3.2 million
that have been recognized as deferred tax assets. A full valuation allowance has been provided on $1.4
million of this loss carry-forward. If realized the associated ‘tax benefit will be recorded as a reduction in
goodwill. In fiscal year 2006, foreign income tax expense included $06 million relatmg to loss carry-
forwards that were recorded as a reducnon to goodwull :

The difference between the reported income tax rate on earnings before income taxes and the federal
statutory income tax rate is attributable to the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
October 3, September 28, September 29,

2008 2007 2006
Federal statutory income tax rate .. .......... e 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit ......0. ... ..... 0.8 0.2 (0.9)
FOrEign [AXES . ..\t oee vt ee e 2y (0.8) 0.1
Other ... P L7 ©.1 (1.3)
Reported income taxrate ........ ... i e 35.3% 34.3% 32.9%

In both fiscal years 2008 and 2007, accumulated other comprehensive income was decreased
approximately $0.6 million due to the tax benefit of certain postretirement liabilities recognized during
those periods.

Effective September 29, 2007 (the first day of fiscal year 2008), the Company adopted FIN 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109, which
addresses accounting for, and disclosure of, uncertain tax positions. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in-atax retun. As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, the Company
reduced its liability for unrecognized tax benefits and increased deferred tax assets by $2.4 million and $0.6
million, respectively. These adjustments were aggregated and accounted for as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle, which resulted in an increase to retained earnings of $3.0 million. In
addition, the Company reclassified certain tax liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits, as well as related
potential penalties and interest, from current liabilities to long-termi liabilities. The total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits excluding interest thereon as of the date of adoption was $6.9 million,
substantially all of which would impact the effective tax rate if realized. The Company’s policy to include
interest and penalties related to income taxes within income tax expense did not change as a result of
implementing FIN 48. As of the date of adoption of FIN 48, the Company had accrued $0.7 million in
income taxes payable for the payment of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits.

At October 3, 2008, the total amount-of unrecognized tax benefits excluding interest thereon was $5.9
million, substantlally all of which would impact the effective tax rate if realized during the year. The
Company accrued $0.2 million and reversed $0.4 million of interest and penalties related to these
unrecognized tax benefits during fiscat year 2008. Income taxes payable at October 3, 2008, included
accrued interest and penalties of $0.5 million. Although the timing and outcome of income tax audits is
highly uncertain, it is possible that certain unrecognized tax benefits could decrease in the next twelve
months due to lapse of certain statutes of limitation and result in a reduction in the annual effective tax rate
of up to 1%. Any such reduction could be impacted by other changes in unrecognized tax benefits.
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following table summarizes the activity related to unrecognized tax benefits:

(in thousands)

Balance at September 29, 2007 (first day of fiscal year 2008) ................ $ 6,924

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year .. ................ 1,501

Expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment of taxes ... .......... (2,514)
* Balance at October 3, 2008 . . .. $ 5911

The Company’s U.S. federal, state and local and foreign income tax returns are subject to audit by
relevant tax authorities. During fiscal year 2008, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service closed its examination
of the Company's fiscal year 2003 U.S. federal tax return without assessing additional taxes. The
Company’s income tax reporting periods beginning with fiscal year 2005 for the U.S. and fiscal year 2003
for the Company’s major foreign jurisdictions remain generally open to audit by relevant tax authorities.

Note 15. Net Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated based on net earnings and the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the reported period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated
éimilarly, except that the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period is
increased by the number of additional shares of common stock that would have been outstanding if the
dilutive potential shares of common stock had been issued. The dilutive effect of potential common stock
(including cutstanding stock options, ESPP shares, non-employee director stock units and restricted stock)
l . . o s
is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method, which includes
consideration of share-based compensation and the tax benefit thereon as required by SFAS 123(R).

|
| In fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, options to purchase approximately 255,000, 10,000 and 452,000

slhares, respectively, were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their effect
was anti-dilutive.

| A reconciliation of weighted-average basic shares outstanding to, weighted-average diluted shares
c%ulstanding follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 3, September 28, September 29,
2008 2007 2006

{in thousands)

| Weighted-average basic shares outstanding . . . .. 29,620 30,457 30,929
Net effect of dilutive potential common stock . . . 452 547 495
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding . . . 30,072 31,004 31424

|

]\llote 16. Industry and Geographic Segments

| Industry Segments. For financial reporting purposes, the Company’s operations -are grouped into two
b:usiness segments: Scientific Instruments and Vacuum Technologies. The Scientific Instruments segment
designs, develops, manufactures, markets, sells and services equipment and related software, consumable
products, accessories and services for a broad range of life science, environmental, energy, and applied
r:esearch and other applications requiring identification, quantification and analysis of the composition or
structure of liguids, solids or gases. The Vacuum Technologies segment designs, develops, manufactures,
markets, sells and services vacuum products and related accessories and services used to create, contain,
c!ontrol, measure and test vacuum environments in a broad range of life science, environmental, energy,
and applied research and other applications requiring ultra-clean or high-vacuum environments. These
segments were determined in accordance SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and

elated Information.

|
|
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General corporate costs include shared costs of legal, tax, accounting, treasury, insurance and certain
other management costs. A portion of the indirect and common costs has been allocated to the segments
through the use of estimates. Also, transactions between segments are accounted for at cost and are not
included in sales. Accordingly, the following information is provided for purposes of achieving an
understanding of operations, but might not be indicative of the financial results of the reported segments
were they independent organizations. In addition, comparisons of the Company’s operations to similar
operations of other companies might not be meaningful.

The Company operates various manufacturing and marketing operations outside of the U.S. In fiscal
years 2008, 2007 and 2006, no single country outside of the U.S. accounted for more than 10% of total
sales (based on the geographic location of the customer). Except for the United Kingdom, no single country
outside the U.S. accounted for more than 10% of total assets in fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006.
Transactions between geographic areas are accounted for at cost and are not included in sales.

Included in the total of Other international sales are export sales recorded by U.S. entities in fiscal
years 2008, 2007 and 2006 of approximately $53 million, $53 million and $62 million, respectively.

Industry Segments

Depreciation
Pretax Identifiable Capital and
Total Sales Earnings . Assets Expenditures Amortization

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2606

(in millions) .
Scientific Instruments . ... $ 839 $762 $686 $ Bl $ 79 $60 $695 $631 $610 $21 $16 %18 %25 %25 $23

Vacuum Technologies ... 174 159 149 34 32 29 57 58 54 3 3 2 4 4 4
Total industry segments .. 1013 921 835 115 111 89 752 689 664 24 19 20 29 29 27
General corporate ....... —_ — — (13 (18 6) 151 248 198 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairment of private

company equity

investment.........,. —_ = - 3y - — —_ = = = = = = —_ -
Interestincome ......... _ = —_ 6 6 4 — — —_— = — — —_ — —
Interest expense ........ _ —_ - 2 @ Q@ - — - - - = = = -
Total company . ........ $1,013 $921 $835 $103 $ 97 $75 $003 $937 $862 $24  $19  $20  $29 29 $27
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VARIAN, INC, AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Centinued)

. Geographic Information

Sales to
UnafTiliated Intergeographic Pretax
Customers(! Sales to Affiliates Total Sales Earnings

2008 2007 2066 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

{in millions) . .
United States .............cooiiiiiiniinn, $ 279 5264 $273 $ 18 % 97 $189% 3973 361% 462 $ 26 $28 § 40

734 657 562 357 304 288 1091 961 830 05 104 68

International ............. ... .. ... .. ...

Tolal geographic segments ................. 1,013 921 835 475 401 477 1488 1322 1,312 131 129 108
Eliminations, corporate and othet ............ —_ - — (473} {401) (477) (475) (401 (477) (28) (32) (33

Totalcompany ............. ... $1013 5921 %835 $§ — % — %5 — 5101389213835 $103 $97 $75
Identifiable Long-Lived
Assets Assets?

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

{in millions)

United States .. ... .ot $462 $551 $515 % 67 % 0% 72
United Kingdom ......................... 112 11 118 12 13 I2
Maly @ o — — — 14 15 4
The Netherlands @ ... .. ... ... ... ..... _ = = 17 12 11
Otherintermational . ...................... 320 275 232 15 17 12
Totat company ...............oioio... $903 $937 $862 $ 125 $127 § 121

(1} Sales to unaffiliated customers are generally reported based on the geographic location of the customer. No single customer

. accounted for morte than 10% of sales in any of the fiscal years presented.
(2) Excludes goodwill, intangible assets and long-term deferred tax assets.
(3) Identifiable assets amounts are included in Other international amounts as they are not individually material,

Note 17. Subsequent Events

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2009, the Company committed to a plan to reduce its employee
headcount in order 1o reduce operating costs and increase margins. The plan involves the termination of
approximately 35 employees, mostly located in Europe, and will result in pretax restructuring and other
related costs totaling between $2.5 million and $3.5 million. These costs will relate primarily to one-time
termination benefits. The Company currently anticipates that these costs will be recorded and that the
related actions will be substantially completed in the first half of fiscal year 2009. The restructuring costs
include no non-cash components and are expected to be settled by the end of fiscal 2011,
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006

SCHEDULE 11

(In thousands)

o - ‘ Balanceat Charged t : Balance at
: Beginning  Costs and. Deductions Endof

Deseription of Period Expenses Description - Amount Period

Allo;w'_ance for Doubtful ;
Accounts Receivable: ]
Fi.s';cé] year 2098 ........... $ 1,748  $ (138) Write-offs & adjustments  $ 358 $ 1,252
Fiscal year 2007 ........... $ 1982 % (167) Write-offs & adjustments § 67 $ 1,748
Fiscal year 2006 ........... - § 1,790 § 391 Write-offs & adjustments  § 199 $ 1,982
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VARIAN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (Unaudited)

Amounts for each quarteﬂy }‘)eri_od in fiscal years 2008 and 2007 follow:

Fiscal Year 2008
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter
(in miilions, excépr_per share ;tzmoums) o ) . _
SalES L e e $ 2374 $ 2482 § 2444 § 2825
Grossprofit ..o, e $107.3 $ 1129 § 106.2 '$ 126.1
Net earnings .............. e e $ 176 $ 158 § 114 $ 21.7
Net earnings per share '
. Basic ............ e e, e $ 058 % 053 % 039 $§ 075
Diluted .. ... . $ 057 % 052 % 038 $ 074
Fiscal Year 2007
First Second Third Fourth
‘ Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter
(in millions, except per share amounts}
Sales ... e e $ 2180 $ 2299 § 2271 § 2456
Gross Profit . ... .oont i e $ 997 $ 1055 $ 1019 § 1084
Net earmings . ...ttt e $ 154 % 163 § 145 § 174
Net earnings per share
Basic .. ... e s $ 050 $ 054 § 048 $ 0.57
$ 053 % 047 % 056

Diluted . ... e $ 049

Net earnings per share for the four quarters of each fiscal year may not sum to the total for the fiscal
year because of the different number of shares outstanding during each period.
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VARIAN, INC.
3120 Hansen Way
Palo Alto, California 94304-1030
(650) 213-8000

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON FEBRUARY 5, 2009

Date, Time and Location

You are cordially invited to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Varian, Inc. to be held on
Thursday, February 5, 2009, at 6:00 p.m. local time, at the Company's principal executive offices at 3120
Hansen Way, Palo Alto, California.

Agenda
The agenda for the Annual Meeting is as follows:
* To elect two Class 1 directors for three-year terms; and

* To ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2009.

In addition, any other business that may be properly brought before the Annual Meeting and any
adjournment of the Annual Meeting may be transacted.

Record-Date

The record date for the Annual Meeting was December 15, 2008. Only stockholders of record at the
close of business on that date are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting. A list of these
stockholders will be available at the Company’s principal executive offices at 3120 Hansen Way, Palo
Alto, California 94304-1030, for a period of at least ten days before the Annual Meeting.

Voting

It is important that you vote or grant your proxy to vote at the Annual Meeting. Therefore, whether or
not you' expect to attend the Annual Meeting, please vote by internet, by telephone or by completing,
signing and dating the enclosed proxy and mailing it promptly in the accompanying return envelope. You
may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted, and you may vote in person at the Annual Meeting
even if you have returned a proxy. These and other voting procedures are explained in the following Proxy
Statemnent.

+

By Order of the Board of Direclors

7

A. W. Homan
Secretary

December 19, 2008
Palo Alto, California




" Varian, Inc.
3120 Hansen Way
Palo Alto, California 94304-1030
{650) 213-8000

INFORMATION REGARDING VOTING AND SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

|
|
!
. ' PROXY STATEMENT
|
|

General -

This Proxy Statement is beéing furnished to you as a stockholder of Varian, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the Company’s Annual Meelmg of Stockholders, to be
held on February 5, 2009, at 6:00 p.m. local time, at the Company’s principal executive offices at 3120
| Hansen Way, Palo Alto, California, and any adjounment of that meeting (the “Annual Meeting”). The
Board of Directors is soliciting your proxy to vote your shares at the Annual Meeting. You may grant your

proxy by internet, by telephone or by signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy in the accompanying
pre-addressed, postage-paid return envelope.

There are two items on the agenda for the Annual Meeting: The first item is to elect two Class |
directors to the Board of Directors. The second item is to ratify the appointment of

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) as the Company’s mdependent registered public accounting firm
for fiscal year 2009.

The Board of Directors does not know of any other matter to be brought before the Annual Meeting. If
any other matter does properly come before the Annual Meeting, the Board intends that the persons named
in the enclosed form of proxy will vote on such matter in accordance with their judgment.

This Proxy Statement and the accompanying form of proxy will be first sent on or about
December 23, 2008 to stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting.

Voting

The Company’s common stock is the only type of voting security issued, and only holders of common
| stock are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vole. Only
stockholders of record at the close of business on December 15, 2008 are entitled to notice of and to vote at

the Annual Meeting. As of that record date, there were 28,959,742 shares of the Company’s common stock
outstanding. '

,

The presence, either in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of
the Company’s common stock is necessary to constitute a4 quorum permitting action to be taken at the
Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as present at the Annual Meeting for the
| purpose of determining the presence of a quorum. A broker non-vote occurs when a bank, broker, nominee

or other holder of record holding shares for a beneficial owner submits a proxy but does not vote on a
particular proposal because that holder does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that
] proposal and has not received instructions from the beneficial owner.

=
=
L
g
<

The affirmative vote of a plurality of the shares of the Company's common stock present or
represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting is required to elect the Class 1 directors. This means that
Richaid U. De Schutier and James T. Glover, the Board of Directors’ nominees to serve as the Class |
directors, must receive the highest numbers of votes cast in order to be elected as the Class I directors.

Therefore, any shares not voted (whether by abstention, broker non-vote or otherwise) will have no effect
Ion the election of the Class I directors.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of the Company’s common stock present or
represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting is required to ratify the appointment of PwC as the Company’s
lindependent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2009. Abstentions will have the same effect as
a negative vote on this proposal.




Your shares will be voted in accordance with: your instructicns set forth on the proxy that you return.
If your proxy provides no instructions with respect to voting on the election of the Class I directors or
voting on the ratification of the appointment of PwC as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm for fiscal year 2009, your proxy will be voted FOR the election of Richard U. De Schutter
and James T. Glover as the Class I directors and FOR the ratification of the appointment of PwC as the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2009.

Even if you return your proxy, you may revoke or change your proxy at any time prior to the Annual
Meeting. You may do this prior to the Annual Meeting by sending to the Company’s Secretary (ar the
Company’s address set forth above) a written notice of revocation or a new proxy bearing a later date. You
may also revoke your proxy by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person.

Solicitation of Proxies

The cost of soliciting proxies will be borne by the Company. Copies of solicitation materials will be
furnished to banks, brokers, nominees and other fiduciaries and custodians to forward to beneficial owners
of the Company’s common stock held in their names, The Company will reimburse such persons for their
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in forwarding solicitation materials. In addition to solicitations by mail,
some of the Company’s directors, officers and other employees, withoul extra remuneration, might
supplement this solicitation by letter, telephone or personal interview. The Company might also retain The
Altman Group, Inc., 1200 Wall Street West, 3rd Floor, Lyndhurst, New Jersey 07071, to assist with the
solicitation of proxies from banks, brokers, nominees and other holders, for a fee not expected to exceed
$1,500 plus reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (not expected to exceed $500), which fees and expenses
would be paid by the Company.

Stockholder Proposals and Nominations

Any stockholder who wishes to submit a proposal to be voted on or to nominate a person for election
to the Board of Directors at the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders in 2010, and who wishes to
have that proposal or nomination set forth in the proxy statement and form of proxy prepared by the
Company for that meeting, must notify the Company’s Secretary (at the Company's address set forth
above) no later than August 23, 2009. Any such notice of & proposal or nomination must include certain
information about the proposal or nominee and about the stockholder submitting the proposal or
nomination, as required by the Company’'s By-Laws, and must also meet the requirements of applicable
securities laws. The submission of a stockholder proposal does not guarantee that it will be included in the
Company’s proxy statement or form of proxy.

Any stockholder who wishes to submit a proposal to be voted on or to nominate a person for election
to the Board of Directors at the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders in 2010 and who is not seeking
to have that proposal or nomination included in the proxy statement and form of proxy prepared by the
Company for that meeting, must notify the Company’s Secretary (at the Company’s address set forth
above) no earlier than September 22, 2009 and no later than October 22, 2009 (unless the date of the 2010
annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after February 5, 2010, in which case the
notice of proposal must be received by the later of October 22, 2009 or the tenth day following the day the
Company publicly announces the date of the 2010 annual meeting). The notice of a proposal or nominaticn
must also include certain information about the proposal or nominee and about the stockholder submitting

the proposal or nomination, as required by the Company’s By-Laws, and must also meet the requirements

of applicable securities laws. Proposals or nominations not meeting these requirements will not be
presented at the 2010 annual meeting.

For more information regarding stockholder proposals or nominations, you may request a copy of the
By-Laws from the Company’s Secretary (at the Company’s address set forth above). The By-Laws are also
posted at the Company’s website, www.varianinc.com (click on Investors, then on Corporate Governance).

Stockholder Communications with the Board

Any stockholder may communicate with the Board of Directors in writing through the Company’s
Secretary (at the Company’s address set forth above), provided that the communication identifies the
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stockholder and the number and type of securities held by that stockholder. The Secretary reviews such
stockholder communications, and forwards them to the Board of Directors unless the Secretary, in
consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, determines that the communication is inappropriate for the
Board’s consideration (for example, if it relates to a personal grievance or is unrelated to the Company’s
business). The Secretary maintains a permanent written record of all such stockholder communications
received by the Secretary. This process was unanimously approved by the Nominating and Governance
Committee of the Board of Directors (which is comprised of all of the Board’s independent directors).

It is the Company’s policy that all members of the Board of Directors are encouraged to attend annual
meetings of the Company’s stockholders. All members of the Board of Directors attended the last annual
meeting of the Company’s stockholders.




PROPOSAL ONE — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Board Structure and Nominees

The Board of Directors consists of seven members. Six of those directors are deemed “independent”
under rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market; the other director is our Chief Executive Officer.

Pursuant to the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the Board is divided into three
classes. Each member of each class is elected for a three-year term and until his or her successor is duly
elected and qualified, unless the director dies, resigns, retires, is disqualified or is removed from office.

The Class I directors are Richard U. De Schutter, James T. Glover and Allen J. Lauer. Their terms of
office will expire at the Aonual Meeting. Mr. Lauer is retiring from the Board at the expiration of his term
at the Annual Meeting. The Board of Directors has approved reducing the size of the Board from seven
members to six members effective at the Annual Meeting.

The Class 1l directors are John G. McDonald and Wayne R. Moon. Their terms of office will expire at
the annual meeting of stockholders in 2010.

The Class 1H directors are Garry W. Rogerson and Elizabeth E. Tallett. Their terms of office will
expire at the annual meeting of stockholders in 2011.

The Board of Directors has nominated Richard U. De Schutter and James T. Glover for election as the
Class I directors for terms expiring at the annual meeting of stockholders in 2012 and when their respective
successors are elected and qualified. Mr. De Schutter and Mr. Glover have each stated their willingness to
serve if elected, and the Company does not contemplate that either of them will be unable to serve,
However, in the event that either Mr. De Schutter or Mr. Glover subsequently declines or becomes unable
1o serve, proxies will be voted for such substitute nominee or nominees as shall be designated by the proxy
holders in their discretion,

Business Experience of Directors and Nominees

Richard U. De Schutter is the former Executive Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of
DuPont Pharmaceutical Company, a position he held from 2000 to 2001. He is Chairman of the Board of
Incyte Corporation and is also a director of Ecolab Inc. and Smith & Nephew plc. Mr. De Schutter has been
a director of the Company since 2001. Age: 68

James T. Glover is Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Financial Officer of Anadys
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (a biopharmaceutical company), a position he has held since 2006. From 2003 to
2006, he was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial officer of Beckman Coulter, Inc. (a biomedical
testing instruments company), where he held a variety of other finance-related positions from 1989 to
2003. Mr. Glover is a certified public accountant. He has been a director of the Company since 2008. Age:
58 ‘

Allen J. Lauer is Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, a position he has held since 2002.
He served as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer from 1999 to 2003. Mr. Lauer is also Chairman of the
Board of Intermec, Inc. He has been a director of the Company since 1999, Age: 71

John G. McDonald is the Stanford Investors Professor of Finance at Stanford University’s Graduate
School of Business, where he has served on the faculty since 1968. He is also a director of iStar Financial,
Inc., Plum Creek Timber Company, Inc., Scholastic Corporation and eight mutual funds managed by
Capital Research & Management Co. Mr. McDonald has been a director of the Company since 1999, Age:
71

Wayne R. Moon is the former Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Blue Shield of
California (a heaith care company), a position he held from 1993 to 2000. He was Chairman of the Board
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of RelayHealth Corporation (2 web-based health services company) from 2002 to 2006. Mr. Moon is also a
director of IntegraMed America, Inc. As Chairman of the Company’s Nominating and Governance

Committee, he also serves as the Board’s lead independent director. Mr. Moon has been a director of the
Company since 1999, Age: 68

Garry W. Rogerson is the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, positions he has held
since 2002 and 2004, respectively. He served as the Company’s Chief Operating Officer from 2002 to
2004, and as Senior Vice President, Scientific Instruments from 2001 to 2002. Mr. Rogerson is the

non-executive Chairman of the Board of Coherent, Inc. He has been a director of the Company since 2003,
Age: 56

Elizabeth E. Tallett is a Principal of Hunter Partners, LLC (which provides management services to
developing life science companies), a position she has held since 2002. She is also a director of Coventry
Health Care, Inc., IntegraMed America, Inc., Meredith Corporation and Principal Financial Group.
Ms. Tallett has been a director of the Company since 1999. Age: 59 '

Meetings and Committees of the Board

The Board of Directors held seven meetings during fiscal year 2008. .

During fiscal year 2008, each director attended at least 75% of all meetings of the Board and

committees of the Board of which the director was a member,

Committee; the Nominating and Governance Commitiee: and the Stock Committee. Each of these

committees has a written charter approved by the Board of Directors. These charters, and the Company’s
| Corporate Governance Guidelines, are available at the Company’s website, www.varianinc.com (click on
‘i Investors, then on Corporate Governance).

|
1| The Board of Directors has four standing committees: The Audit Committee; the Compensation
|
|

Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is comprised of directors De Schutter (Chairman), Glover,
McDonald, Moon and Tallett, each of whom qualifies as an independent director and meets the other
requirements to serve on the Audit Committee under rules of the Nasdag Stock Market and SEC
regulations. This Commiltee’s primary purpose is to oversee the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting processes, the annual audits and quarterly reviews of the Company’s financial statements and the
annual audits of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The Audit
Committee held eight meetings during fiscal year 2008.

The Company's Board of Directors has determined that Mr. De Schutter and Mr. Glover each

qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as that term is defined by applicable Securities and
Exchange Commission regulations.

Compensation Commiitee. The Compensation Committee is comprised of directors Tallent
{Chairman), De Schutter, Glover, McDonald and Moon, each of whom qualifies as an independent director
under rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market, as a non-employee director under Rule 16b-3 of the Securities
lE‘.xchange Act of 1934 and as an outside director under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. This
iCommittee’s primary responsibilities are to consider and approve all compensation to be paid to and
compensatory arrangements with the Company’s officers, and to administer the Company’s Omanibus
iStock Plan, Management Incentive Plan, Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Supplemental Retirement
‘lPlan. The Compensation Commitiee held five meetings during fiscal year 2008.

Nominating and Governance Committee, The Nominating and Governance Commiltee is
Ecomprised of directors Moon (Chairman), De Schuuer, Glover, McDonald and Tallett, each of whom
‘qualifies as an independent director under rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market, This Committee’s primary
rresponsibilities are to (1) make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding composition of the
|B0ard and committees of the Board, (2) identify individuals qualified to become Board members, and
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recommend to the Board qualified individuals to be nominated for election or appointed to the Board,
(3) recommend te the Board the compensation of directors who are not Company officers, (4) develop a
succession plan for the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, (5) develop and recommend to the Board a
process for regular evaluations by the Board of its performance, and (6) establish corporate governance
guidelines applicable to the Company. The Chairman of this Committee also serves as the Board's lead
independent director. The Nominating and Governance Committee held four meetings during fiscal year
2008.

This Committee regularly assesses the appropriateness of the size of the Board of Directors, and
whether any vacancies on the Board are expected due to retirement or otherwise. In the event that a
decision is made to increase the size of the Board or a vacancy is expected, the Committee considers
potential candidates for director. Candidates may come to the attention of the Committee through current
members of the Board, professional search firms, stockholders or others. Candidates are evaluated by the
Committee, typically based on a review of available information and interviews of selected candidates by
members of the Committee. The Committee typically engages in a series of internal discussions before
making final recommendations to the Board.

In evaluating the suitability of individuals to recommmend to the Board for nomination for election or
appointment as directors, the Committee takes into account many factors, including (but not limited to): the
independence requirements of the Nasdag Stock Market and other governing and regulatory bodies; the
individual’s understanding of finance and other disciplines relevant to the success of a publicly-traded
company; the individual’s understanding of the Company’s businesses and technologies; and the
individual's professional experience. The Committee evaluates each prospective nominee in the context of
the Board as a whole, with the objective of recommending nominees who, when considered with the other
directors as a group, can best promote the success of the Company, represent stockholder interests and
fulfill the Board’s legal and fiduciary responsibilities through the exercise of sound judgment, using its
diversity of experience. In delermining whether to recommend a director for re-election, the Committee
also considers the director’s past attendance at meetings and participation in and contributions to the Board
and its committees. '

in recommending to the Board individuals to be nominated for election or appointment as a director,
the Committee will cansider individuals recommended by stockholders. A stockholder may recommend an
individual for the Committee’s consideration by submitting that person’s name and qualifications (along
with the contact information for that individual, the consent of the individual to be considered, the identity
of the stockholder and the number and type of securities held by the stockholder) to the Company’s
Secretary (at the Company’s address set forth above). The Committee will evaluate individuals
recommended by stockholders using the same factors and following the same process as used by the
Committee in evaluating other individuals.

Stock Committee. The Stock Committee is comprised of directors Rogerson (Chairman) and Lauer.
This Committee approves, establishes the terms of and administers nongualified stock options and
restricted shares granted under the Company's Omnibus Stock Plan and administers the Company’s
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, in each case with respect to eligible participants who are not officers of the
Company. The Stock Committee held three meetings during fiscal year 2008.

Director Compensation

Cash Compensation. Each director (other than the Chairman of the Board) who is not a Company
employee is paid an annual retainer fee of $40,000. Each non-employee director (other than the Chairman
of the Board) is also paid $2,000 for each Board meeting attended and $1,500 for each committee meeting
attended. The director who chairs the Audit Committee of the Board is paid an additional annual chair fee
of $20,000, and the directors who chair the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Governance
Committee of the Board are each paid an additional annual chair fee of $10.000. The non-employee
Chairman of the Board is paid an annual retainer fee of $120,000; he is not paid any other annual retainer,
chair or meeting attendance fees. -

¥

Under the Company’s Omnibus Stock Plan, each director who is not a Company employee may elect
to receive, in lieu of all or a portion of the cash retainer, chair or meeting fees described above, shares of
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the Company’s common stock orstock units based on the fair market value of the Company’s common
stock on the date the fees would have been paid. Stock units vest upon termination of the director’s service
on the Board of Directors (although the Board may adopt procedures permitting the issuance.of such shares
to be deferred by. a director to a date following the termination of the director’s service), and are then
satisfied by issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock.

Stock Options. Under the Company’s Omnibus Stock Plan, each director who is not a Company
employee, upon initial appointment or election to the Board, is granted a nonqualified stock option to
acquire 10,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. This stock option for 10,000 shares is grantéd with
an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the grant date, vests in equal
annual installments over three years assuming continued service as a director, and has a ten-year term.

Under the Plan, a non-employee director who serves as Chairman of the Board, upon initial
appointment as Chairman, is granted a nonqualified stock option to acquire 20,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock. This stock option for 20,000 shares is granted with an exercise price equal to
the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the grant date, vests in equal annual installments over
three years assuming continued service as the Chairman, and has a ten-year term.

Each director (including the Chairman) who is not a Company employee is granted annually (for.so
long as he or she continues to serve as a non-employee director) a nonqualified stock option to acquire
4,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. All such stock options are granted with an exercise price
equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date, are immediately vested
and have a ten-year term. These grants are made on the first business day following each annual meeting of
the Company’s stockholders.

Deferred Stock Units. Under the Company’s Omnibus Stock Plan, each diréctor who is not a
Company employee, annually for so long as he or she continues to serve as a non-employee director, is also
granted stock units with an initial value equal to $45,000 {rounded up to the nearest whole share), based on
the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. The stock units vest upon
termination of the director’s service on the Board of Directors (although the Board may adopt procedures
permitting the issuance of such shares to be deferred by a director to a date following the termination of the
director’s service), and are then satisfied by issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock.

Reimbursements. Each director is reimbursed for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses that such
director and his or her spouse incurs attending Board meetings and functions.

The following table shows compensation of our non-employee directors for fiscal year 2008.
Mr. Rogerson, because he is a Company employee, receives no compensation for his services as a director,
and is therefore not shown in this table.

Director Compensation
' Fiscal Year 2008

. Fees Earned or . i
Paid in Cash  Stock Awards  Option Awards. Total
Name % ($30 (S - %

Allen ). Laver................ oo, $120,000 $45,018 $72,000  $237,018
Richard U. De Schutter ..................... $102,000 $45,018 $72,000 - 3219,018
James T.Glover ............... P $ 35000 S 0 $21,817  § 56,817
JohmG.McDonald ............ ... ... $ 82,000 $45.018 $72,000 $199,018
WayneR. Moon ............ oot § 90,000 $45,018° $72,000 $207,018
Elizabeth E. Tallett ............ ... ... ... $ 92,000 $45,018 $72,000 $209,018

() These amounts do not reflect compensation actually received. Rather, these amounts represent the
aggregate expense recognized by the Company for financial statement reporting purposes in fiscal
year 2008, in accordance with FAS 123(R), for deferred stock units and stock options granted in-fiscal
year 2008 under the Company’s Omnibus Stock Plan. The assumptions used to calculate the value of
these stock units and stock options are set forth in Note 13 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2008, filed with
the SEC on November 26, 2008.




The amounts reported in the column Stock Awards represent the expense recognized under FAS 123R
(which is also the grant-date fair value) for 820 shares of deferred stock units that were granted on
February 1, 2008, which stock units will vest and result in the issuance to the director of an equivaient
number of shares of the Company’s common stock upon the director’s termination of service as a
director, The full value of these stock units are recognized as expense in the year of grant because a
director may resign as a director at any time and thus cause the stock units to then vest. The directors’
aggregate holdings of stock units as of the end of fiscal year 2008 were as follows:

Allen 1. Lauer . ... . e 2,564 shares
Richard U. De Schutter . ... ... ... ... ... . . . iiiiiinnn, 2.564 shares
James T. Glover . ... i e e e e e 0 shares
JohnG. McDonald . ... .. ... e 2,564 shares
Wayne R.-Moon ... 2.564 shares
Elizabeth E. Tallett . ... . . i i e vnns 2,564 shares

Except in the case of Mr. Glover, the amounts reported in the column Option Awards represent the
expense recognized under FAS 123R (which is also the grant-date fair value) for an option to purchase
4,000 shares of the Company’s common stock that was granted on February I, 2008, which option has
an exercise price of $54.90 per share (the fair market value per share on the date of grant). was fully
vested on the date of grant and has a ten-year term; the full grant-date fair value of these stock options
are recognized as expense in the year of grant because they are fully vested upon grant, In the case of
Mr. Glover, the amount reported in the column Option Awards represent the expense recognized
under FAS 123R (which is also the grant-date fair value) for an option to purchase 10,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock that was granted on May 7. 2008, which option has an exercise price of
$49.34 per share (the fair market value per share on the date of grant), will vest in three equal annual
installments following the date of grant (assuming continued service as a director) and has a ten-year
term. The directors’ aggregate holdings of stock options as of the end of fiscal year 2008 were as

follows:
Allen I Lauver ... ... e e e 29,000 shares
Richard U. De Schutter . ...... ... .. ... .. ... .. 44 000 shares
James T. Glover . ... e e 10,000 shares
John G.McDonald . ... ... e 56,738 shares
Wayne R-Moon ... ... 44.000 shares
Elizabeth E. Tallett . ..... ... .. . i i e 54,000 shares

Director Stock Ownership Guideline

The Board has adopted a stock ownership guideline for directors (which guideline is set forth in the
Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines). Under this guideline. each non-employee director should
own shares of the Company’s common stock or stock units with an aggregate market value equal to three
times his or her annual cash retainer. Directors have until the later of February 2009 (five years from when
this guideline was first adopted) or five years from their initial appointment or election as a director to
reach this stock ownership position. Except for Mr. Glover, all directors currently meet this stock
ownership goideline; Mr. Glover was appointed to the Board in 2008 and therefore has until 2013 to reach
this stock ownership position,

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR
the election of Mr. De Schutter and Mr, Glover as the Class I directors.




PROPOSAL TWO — RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT
OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Company is asking stockholders to ratify the Audit Committee’s appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm
for fiscal year 2009. The Board is requesting stockholder ratification of the appointment of PwC, which is
not required by the Company’s By-Laws or otherwise, because the Board has decided that it is a good
governance practice to do so. No determination has been made as to what action the Board of Directors or
the Audit Committee would take if stockholders fail to ratify the appointment of PwC. Even if stockholders
do ratify the appointment of PwC, the Audit Committee retains discretion to at any time appoint a different
independent registered public accounting firm if the Committee concludes that doing so would be in the
| best interests of the Company’s stockholders.
|

PwC served as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2008. A
representative of PwC is expected to attend the Annual Meeting. will have an opportunity to make a
statement if he so desires and will be available to respond to appropriate questions from stockholders.

Fees Paid to PwC

Provided below are amounts billed (both fees and out-of-pocket expense reimbursements) to the
Company by PwC for professional services provided to the Company for fiscal years 2008 and 2007.

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

2008 2007
Audit Fees ... . . e $2.361,642  $2,155,031
Audit-Related Fees . ... ... . i e $ 78251 % 185018
Tax Fees « oot $ 354852 $ 1329421
All Other Fees ..... F $ 52865 $ 31100
Total Fees . .. o e e $2,847,610  $2,700,570

Audit Fees. Consists of fees billed to the Company for professional services rendered by PwC for
the audits of the Company’s annual financial statements and assessments relating to the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting, the reviews of the Company’s quarterly financial
statements and services that are normally provided by PwC in connection with statutory and regulatory
filings or engagements.

Audit-Related Fees. Consists of fees billed to the Company for financial accounting and reporting
|services, acquisition-related services and license fees for proprietary PwC software products, in each case
Irendered or provided by PwC and that were reasonably related to the performance of audits or reviews of
the Company’s financial statements but not included in the audit fees reported above.

Tax Fees. Consists of fees billed to the Company for U.S. federal, state and local tax planning.
advice and compliance services, international tax planning, advice and compliance services, transfer
pricing services and tax audit and appeal services, in each case rendered by PwC.

‘| All Other Fees. Consists of fees billed to the Company for professional services rendered by PwC

that are not included in the services reported above, which services related to governmental grant and
'Isubsidized loan program services.

Audit Committee Policies and Procedures on Pre-Approval of Audit, Audit-Related and Permissible
I‘Von-Audit Services. The Audit Committee has adopted policies and procedures requiring that the
Company obtain the Commitiee’s pre-approval of all audit, audit-related and permissible non-audit
éervices to be provided by PwC as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm,
l;’rc-approva] is generally granted on a fiscal year basis, ts detailed as to the particular service or category of
services 1o be provided and is granted after consideration of the estimated fees for each service or category
of service. Actual fees and any changes to estimated fees for pre-approved services are reported to the
Committee on a quarterly basis. All services provided by PwC in fiscal years 2008 and 2007 were
Ire-aq)proved by the Committee pursuant to these policies and procedures.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR
the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2009.




EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table provides information as of October 3, 2008 regarding the shares of the
Company’s common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights under the
Company’s equily compensation plans, which are the Omnibus Stock Plan and the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan. ' '

Plan Category

Equity Compensation Plans Approved
by Stockholders:
Omnibus Stock Plan ............
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Equity Compensation Plans Not
Approved by Stockholders ........,
Total ... . ... ... ...,

(a)

Number of Securities
to be Issued upon
Exercise of
Quitstanding Options,

{¢)
Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
(b) Future Issuance Under
Weighted-Average Equity Compensation
Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding
Qutstanding Options, Securities Reflected in

Warrants and Rights . Warrants and Rights Column (a))
1.672.166 $43.87 4,124,249
oD — 188,174
N/A N/A N/A
1,672,166 $43.87 4,312,423 -

(" Represents shares available for issuance pursuant to stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock, performance unit or performance share awards and stock units. As of October 3, 2008, 640,635
shares in the aggregate were available for issuance pursuant to restricted stock, performance units,

performance shares or stock units.

@ Does not include 27,130 shares issued to participants in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan on
October 6, 2008 under the terms of that Plan. These shares are not reflected in the table because the
amount of shares to be purchased on October 6, 2008 was not determinable as of October 3, 2008.
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STOCK OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table shows certain information as of December 15, 2008 regarding beneficial

ownership of the Company’s common stock by (a) each person who, to the Company’s knowledge,
beneficially owned more than five percent of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock as of
that date, {b) each of the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table on page 25,
{c) each of the Company’s directors and director nominees, and {d) all executive officers, directors and
director nominees as a group.

Amount and
' Nature of Percent of
Reneficial Qutstanding

Name and Address (if applicable} of Beneficial Owner : Ownership" Shares'?

Barclays Global Investors U.K. Holdings Limited ........................ 1,960,060t9 6.77%
I Churchill Place, Canary Wharf, London E14 5HP, England

Bank of America Corporation .. ....... ... 1.573,221¢% 5.43%
100 North Tryon Street, Charlotte, NC 28255

Harris Associates L. .. i e e 1,453,073} 5.02%
2 North LaSalle Street, Suite 500, Chicago. 1L 60602

Garry W. ROBEISON ... e e 266,572 1.02%
President and Chief Executive Officer, Director ’

G. Edward McClammy ... ... . i et 116,585(1 —
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Martin O’Donoghue ............... s S 107,316® —
Senior Vice President, Scientific Instruments

Sergio PITAS . . e e 79,8093 —
Senior Vice President, Vacuum Technologies :

AW o HOmaAN . .. e 48.831010) —_
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary :

Allen L Lauer ... ... . . 122,254 —
Chairman of the Board

Richard U. De Schutter ... .. ... .. ... . ... . e 58,5642 —
Director, Nominee

James T GlOVeT .« . ot e e e 1,000¢13) —_
Director, Nominee

John G. McDonald . . .. ... 60,5640% _
Director

Wayne R_MoOn . .. oo e 51,1715 —_
Director

Elizabeth E. Tallett ... ... . i e e et e e 60,4021 —
Director

All Executive Officers, Directors and Director Nomineesasa Group ......... 1,059,66407  3.57%
(14 persons)

14y

)

For purposes of this table, a person or group of persons is deemed to have beneficial ownership of
shares of the Company’s common stock which such person or group has the right to acquire on or

within 60 days after December 15, 2008. Unless otherwise indicated, to the Company’s knowledge the,

person named has sole voting and investment power, or shares voting and/or investment power with
such person’s spouse, with respect to all shares beneficially owned by that person,

The percentage of cutstanding shares is based on the 28,959,742 shares outstanding on December 15,
2008, However, for purposes of computing the percentage of outstanding shares of common stock
beneficially owned by each person or group of persons, any shares which such person or group of
persons has a right to acquire on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 are deemed to be
outsianding, but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage of
beneficial ownership of any other person. The percentage of outstanding shares of the Company’s
common stock is only reported to the extent it exceeds one percent of the shares of the Company’s
common stock outstanding on December 15, 2008.
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As of September 30, 2008, based on a Schedule 13F Holdings Report filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 12, 2008 reporting defined investment discretion as to all of
such shares, sole voting authomy asto | 692 623 of such shares, and no voting authority as.to 267 437
of such shares.

As of Septeinber 30, 2008, based on a Schedule 13F Combination Report filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 14, 2008 reporting defined investment discretion as to 1,547,852
of such shares, sole voting authority as to 1,329,930 of such shares, shared voling authority as to
19,374 of such shares, and no voting authority as to 2,238 of such shares.

As of September 30, 2008, based on a Schedule 13F Combination Report filed, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 10, 2008 reporting sole investment discretion and shared voting
authority as to all of such shares.

Includes {(a) 8,588 shares of restricted stock granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, (b) 244,000 shares
which may be:acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by exercise of stock options
granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, and (c) 43,318 shares held in a trust of which Mr. Rogerson is
co-trustee Wwith his wife.

Includes (a) 5,233 shares of restricted stock granted under the Omnibus Stock Plun, (b) 90,324 shares
which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by exercise of stock options
granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, and (¢) 19,180 shares held in a trust of which Mr. McClammy
is co-trustee with his wife.

Includes (a) 5,233 shares of restricted stock granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, {b) 88,334 shares
which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by exercise of stock options
granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan,

Includes (a} 4,199 shares of restricted stock granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, (b) 34,918 shares
which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by exercise of stock options
granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan,

Includes (a} 5,233 shares of restricied siock granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, (b) 28,668 shares
which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by exercise of a stock option
granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, and (¢) 14,930 shares held in a trust of which Mr. Homan is
co-trustee with his wife.

Includes (a) 29,000 shares which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by

exercise of stock options granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, (b) 2,564 shares that may be
acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 pursuant to stock units granted under the
Omnibus Stock Plan, and (¢) 90,690 shares held in a trust of which Mr. Lauer is co-trustee with his
wife.

Includes (a) 44,000 shares which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by
exercise of stock options granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, and (b) 2,564 shares that may be
acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 pursuant to stock units granted under the
Omnibus Stock Plan.

All 1,000 shares are held in a trust of which Mr. Glover is co-trustee with his wife.

Includes (a) 54,000 shares which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by
exercise of stock options granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, (b) 2,564 shares that may be
acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 pursuant to stock units granted under the
Omnibus Stock Plan, and (¢) 2,000 shares held in a trust of which Mr, McDonald ts co-trustee with his
wife.

Includes (a) 44,000 shares which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by
exercise of stock options granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, {b) 2,564 shares that may be
acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 pursuant to stock units granted under the
Omnibus Stock Plan, and (c) 4,607 shares held in a trust of which Mr. Moon is the sole trustee.

Includes (a) 54,000 shares which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by
exercise of stock options granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, and (b) 2,564 shares that may be
acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 pursuant to stock units granted under the
Omnibus Stock Plan.

12




-
=
t
=
Wl
2
[
e
-
o
=
o

(7 Includes (a) 33,651 shares of restricied stock granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, (b) 756,078

shares which may be acquired on or within 60 days of December 15, 2008 by exercise of stock options

. granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, (¢) 12,820 shares that may be acquired on or within 60 days of

December 15, 2008 pursuant to stock units granted under the Omnibus Stock Plan, and (d) certain
shares as to which voting and/or investment power is shared (see certain of the foregoing footnotes).

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires that the Company’s directors and
executive officers, and persons who own more than ten percent of the Company’s common stock, file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission reports of their beneficial ownership and changes in beneficial
ownership of Company securities. Based solely on our review of the reports and written representations we
have received from our direciors and executive officers and the reports filed with the SEC by our
ten-percent stockholders, we believe that during fiscal year 2008 all reports required to be filed by our
directors, executive officers and ten-percent stockholders were timely filed, .except as follows:
Mr. Rogerson filed on July 7, 2008 a Form 4 (Statement of Changes in Beneficial Ownership) reporting a
single transaction that was required to be reported on or before July 1, 2008; and Mr. Homan filed on
December 15, 2008 a Form 5 (Annual Statement of Changes in Beneficial Ownership) that was required to

be filed on or before November 17, 2008 to report a single transaction in fiscal year 2008 that was
reportable on a Form 5. ‘ ‘ '
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In this section we provide an explanation and analysis of the material elements of the compensation
provided to our Chief Executive Officer and the four other executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table on page 25 (referred to as the “named executive officers”). The purpose of this
discussion is to provide the context for the specific compensation amounts and arrangemenis paid and
provided to our named executive officers, as described in the tables and narratives following this discussion
and analysis.

The Objective of Our Executive Compensation Programs

The principal objective of our executive compensation programs is to attract, retain, motivate and
reward individuals with the executive experience and skills necessary for us to achieve our ultimate
objective of increasing stockholder value. [n order to do this, our executive compensation programs are
designed to be competitive with our industry and geographic competitors for executive talent, and to
provide near- and long-term financial incentives that reward executives when stockholder value increases,
when important strategic objectives are achieved and/or when individual performance objectives are
accomplished.

How We Determined Executive Compensation

The Compensation Committee Determines Executive Compensation. The Compensation
Committee of our Board of Direclors (the “Committee™) makes all decisions on compensation to our
named executive officers. Information about the Committee is provided on page 5 under the heading
Meetings and Committees of the Board -~ Compensation Committee.

The Cammittee Utilizes a Compensation Consultant. The Committee annually retains an executive
compensation consultant to assist the Committee in making informed decisions on executive compensation.
The compensation consultant engaged by the Committee for purposes of establishing fiscal year 2008
executive compensation was Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. (“FWC”). FWC was identified and engaged
directly by the Committee, and has not provided any other services to the Company (although the
Nominating and Governance Commitiee of our Board separately engaged FWC in 2008 to evaluate
compensation paid to our non-employee directors).

FWC was engaged by the Committee to prepare an executive compensation study that would provide
objective, third-party advice on both the reasonableness of our executive officer compensation levels
compared to that of similarly situated companies and the appropriateness of our executive compensation
programs in accomplishing the Committee’s objectives. FWC was also asked to provide specific
recommendations for consideration by the Committee.

In conducting this compensation study for the Committee, FWC identified a “peer group™ of
companies for executive compensation comparison purposes. FWC selecied companies that it considered
to be major labor- and/or capital-market competitors, broadly similar in revenues and market-capitalization
values, or similar in growth and performance potential 10 Varian. Our management was given an
opportunity to provide input to FWC on the peer group companies, but FWC made the final determination
on the composition of the peer group (which may change from year to year). The peer group companies
identified and used by FWC for executive compensation comparison purposes for fiscal year 2008 were:

Affymetrix, Inc. Invitrogen Corporation
Beckman Coulter, Inc. Mettler-Toledo International Inc.
Cambrex Corporation Millipore Corporation

Charles River Laboratories, Inc. PerkinElmer, Inc,

Coherent, Inc. Steris Corporation

Cytyc Corporation Trimble Navigation Limited
Dionex Corporation Viasys Healthcare Inc.

FEI Company Waters Corporation
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In addition to using publicly-available compensation data on these peer group companies, FWC used data
from a Radford survey covering technology companies and a Watson Wyatt survey covering the
instruments and bio-medical equipment industries.

FWC’s written report to the Committee included a review of our existing executive compensation
programs, practices, levels and arrungements, each named executive officer’s compensation relative to the
comparative data, and our equity grant practices for all employees (not just for the named executive
officers) relative to the comparative data. The report also included an analysis of the Company’s near- and
long-term financial performance compared to the peer group companies. FWC’s report also provided
recommendations on changes that might be made to our executive compensation programs generally, and
to each named executive officer’s compensation. FWC provided its written report in advance of a
Committee meeting, at which the lead FWC consultant presented an oral report and responded to questions
from members of the Committee.

The CEQ Makes Recommendations. In connection with advising the Commitiee on executive
compensation for fiscal year 2008, the lead FWC consultant met with our Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer and General Counsel, to solicit input on our executive compensation programs. The CEO
then presented to the Committee his recommendations on executive compensation programs, objectives
and levels for the named executive officers other than himself. Following completion of fiscal year 2008,
he also provided his assessment of the performance of those named executive officers generally, and with
specific reference to the operational objectives previously established by the Committee. The CFO reported
to the Committee on the Company’s results, forecasts and budgets relative to financial metrics used by the
Committee for executive compensation purposes. The General Counsel advised the Committee on
governance and regulatory aspects of our executive compensation programs, and maintained Committee
records as Secretary to the Committee.

The Committee Makes Compensation Decisions. The Committee determined the structure of
named executive officer compensation programs for fiscal year 2008 at the beginning of the year, after
receiving FWC’s report and recommendations, receiving the CEO's recommendations on compensation for
the named executive officers other than himself, and deliberating in executive session (with the Chairman
of the Board). After completion of fiscal year 2008, receiving the CF(Q’s report on the Company’s
performance relative to the pre-determined financial objectives for those performance periods, and
receiving the CEO’s report and recommendations on the individual performance of the other named
executive officers, the Committee made its final determinations on the cash incentive compensation earned
for the fiscal year 2008 and fiscal year 2005-2008 performance periods. The Committee’s deliberations and
decisions on the CEO’s compensation occurred in execulive sessions, attended by the Chairman of the
Board and, for portions of those sessions, the lead FWC consultant.

Executive Compensation for Fiscal Year 2008

The six key elements of our executive compensation programs are: base salaries; annual cash bonuses;
long-term incentive compensation; deferred compensation; perquisites and other personal benefits; and
termination of employment arrangements.

Base Salaries. Base salaries are intended to compensate our named executive officers for serving as
the senior members of our management team, regardless of stockholder returns or Company performance
relative to financial objectives. Salaries are also considered an important element of compensation
necessary to retain the named executive officers in a competitive marketplace. To accomplish these
objectives, the Committee reviews and sets base salaries annually, generally targeting the competitive
median specific to each named executive officer’s position, which the Committee considers appropriate to
accomplish the purposes of this element of executive compensation. FWC determined the competitive
median of base salaries for 2008 using a composite of data from the peer group and the Radford and
Watson Wyatt surveys discussed above,

In determining base salaries for fiscal year 2008, the Commiitee considered the competitive data
provided by FWC, and also made subjective assessments of each named executive officer’s relative
position, experience, responsibilities, performance and work location. As a result of these considerations,
the Committee set annual base salaries for our named executive officers that were at or somewhat above
the median of FWC’s comparative data.




Annual Cash Bonuses. Annual cash bonuses are intended principally to motivate executive officers
to achieve pre-determined annual financial and operational improvement objectives set by the Committee
to promote achievement of our business strategies and drive increases in stockholder value. Whether a
named executive officer receives an annual cash bonus, and if so the amount of that bonus, depends on how
well the Company and the executive officer perform relative to financial and individual objectives. The
Committee believes that broader financial objectives are appropriate to ensure all of the named executive
officers are working together toward those goals, and that individual operational objectives are appropriate
to measure and reward different contributions of the executives toward achievement of those goals. These
cash awards are made under our stockholder-approved Management Incentive Plan (*MIP”), and are
described under the heading Grants of Plan-Based Awards beginning on page 27.

In determining the amount of the targeted annual cash bonus for each named executive officer, the
Committee considered for each executive officer FWC’s comparative data for annual cash bonuses and
total annual cash compensation (both targeted and actval). The Committee considered and compared
against the 75" percentile of the comparative data for total annual cash compensation (base salary plus
annual cash bonus) for comparable positions, although it did not necessarily target that 75" percentile.
Rather, the Committee considered the position, experience, responsibilities and performance of each named
executive officer, along with the FWC reference data, As a result, the named executive officers’ targeted
annual cash compensation were somewhat above, the 75" percentile for comparable positions.

Targeted annual cash bonuses are expressed as a percentage of annual base salary. For fiscal year
2008, the CEQ¥'s targeted cash bonus was 100% of his base salary, and the other named executive officers’
targeted cash bonuses were 75% of their respective base salaries. The maximum cash bonus that could
have been earned by the CEO was 200% of base salary, and the maximum cash bonus that could have been
earned by the other named executive officers was 187.5% of base salary. The Committee established a
higher target and maximum bonus opportunity for the CEQ. relative to the other named executive officers,
because of his position and responsibilities, as well as the comparative data supplied by FWC. The
Committee determined to use the same bonus opportunities (as a percentage of base salary) for all other
named executive officers because it felt that differences in their base salaries were sufficient to distinguish
between their relative positions, experience and responsibilities.

Actual annual cash bonuses earned by each named executive officer depend on (1) the Company’s
performance relative to pre-determined financial targets and (2) in the case of executive officers other than
the CEO, the executive officer’s performance relative to pre-determined operational objectives, in each
case as established by the Committee.

For fiscal year 2008, the Committee selected Company and business segment revenue, return on sales
(“ROS”} and operating cash flow {as measured by dividing operating cash flow by net income) as the
financial performance measures that would determine annual cash bonuses for the named executive
officers. The Commitiee selected these measures to link bonuses to achievement of our business strategies,
to establish appropriate checks and balances among our financial objectives, and 1o provide the strongest
composite of indicators of our overall annual performance. The Committee specified items that would be
included or excluded in calculating these metrics, in order to ensure the closest possible alignment with the
reasons for selecting those measures, Revenue and ROS were each weighted at 45% (although in the case
of Mr. Piras, they were weighted 50% and 40%, respectively, for his business segment} and operating cash
flow was weighted at 10%, reflecting the relative importance the Commiuee placed on these measures as
drivers of the Company’s strategies and objectives. The weighting between Company and segment
performance for these measures varied by executive officer, to reflect the emphasis the Commitice wanted
each executive officer to place on specific strategies.

The Commiliee set specific targets for the revenue, ROS and operating cash flow measures, as well
the minimum levels required to earn any bonus and the levels that would earn a maximum bonus. The
Commitiee determined these minimum, target and maximum levels of revenue, ROS and operating cash
flow after considering comparable historical and budgeted revenue, ROS and operating cash flow as well
as how targeted levels would translate into operating earnings and earnings per share, The Committee
established targets that would require significant improvement from the prior year — through a
combination of achieving “organic” growth in revenues consistent with industry growth expectations and a
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consistent relative tevel of operating cash flow, but a significant improvement in operating profit margins.
The Committee felt that the targeted levels of revenue, ROS and operating cash flow should be achievable
absent a change in overall economic conditions, and that achievement of the maximum levels of these
metrics would be unlikely without extraordinary efforts and results.

For fiscal year 2008, the Committee determined that annual cash bonuses otherwise earned (based on
Company and/or business segment performance relative to the financial metrics discussed above) by the
named executive officers other than the CEQ, could be increased or decreased by as much as 25% based on
the Commitiee’s subjective determination of the extent to which those executive officers met
pre-determined operational objectives. Those operational objectives related to improving the quality of the
Company’s products and services, improving gross margins (including by improving teamwork within and
between business segments and implementing plans to reduce the Company’s high cost structure in the
U.S.), and implementing plans to reduce the Company’s taxes in higher tax areas. The CEQ’s annual cash
bonus was not linked to these objectives because of the limitation on tax deductibility that would result for
the Company under Section 162(m) of the [nternal Revenue Code discussed helow.

For fiscal year 2008. the achieved levels of revenue significantly exceeded the Commitiee’s targets,
the achieved levels of cash flow were mixed, und the achieved levels of ROS were significantly below the
Committee's targets. Under the Committee’s pre-determined formula based on those financial metrics,
actual Company and business segment performance ranged from 83% to 119% of the weighted aggregate
targeted levels, However, based on the CEO’s assessment and report to the Commiittee on performance
relative to the operational objectives set for the other named executive officers, the Commilttee reduced the
annual cash bonuses otherwise earned for those executive officers by 10% to 25% (reducing payouts to
84% to 91% of the weighted aggregate targeted levels). The Committee also determined, based on a
recommendation from the CEQ and using its discretion to reduce any award, that the CEO’s annual cash
bonus for fiscal year 2008 should also be reduced, by 25% (1o 89% of the weighted aggregate targeted

‘level), to reflect the lower than targeted ROS achieved for the year.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation. Long-term incentive compensation is an important element of
our executive compensation program that we use primarily to motivate our named executive officers to

lincrease stockholder value, and secondarily to retain executive officers. The Committee believes that long-

term incentive compensation also encourages our executives to identify, pursue and invest in appropriate
fong-term strategies for increasing stockholder value. Our long-term incentives have been primarily in the
lform of stock option and restricted stock grants under our stockholder-approved Omnibus Stock Plan. The
Committee has also used long-term cash incentives under our MIP, but determined to begin using
performance shares awards under the Omnibus Stock Plan beginning with a fiscal year 2008-2010
performance period in lieu of continuing long-term cash incentives.

[

In determining the total long-term incentive compensation targeted for each named executive officer,
the Committee considered for each the 75% percentile of FWC’s comparative data for total long-term
mcenuve compensation and total targeted compensation (annual cash compensation plus total long-term
mcentwe compensation), although the Committee did not necessarily target the 75t percentile. Rather, the
Committee considered the position, experience, responsibilities und performance of each named executive
officer, along with FWC’s reference data. As a result, targeted total long-term incentive compensation for
some named executive officers was below, and for others was above, the 75" percentile for comparable
%)osilions.

Stock Options. We use stock options to link executive officer compensation directly o increases in the
price of our common stock, which reflects increased stockholder value. All stock options to named
éxecutive officers are granted with an exercise price equal to or greater than the market price of our stock
on the grant date, and generally require continued employment for three years in order to vest fully. Stock
opuons therefore compensate our named executive officers only if our stock price increases after the date
of grant and the executive officer remains employed for the periods required for the stock option to become
exercisable. The Commitiee thus considers stock options a particularly effective incentive and retention
tél)ol because it motivates our executive officers to increase stockholder value and remain with the

Ciompany.

| We are sensitive to the dilutive impact and accounting expense of stock options. Therefore, in
determining the number of stock options to grant to the named executive officers, the Committee
|

|
!
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considered various stock dilution analyses, assessed share usage and equity compensation practices of
FWC’s peer group companies, estimated accounting expenses, and considered other forms of equity-based
incentive compensation. The Committee alsc assessed the named executive officers’ individual and
collective equity ownership in our stock (including stock options) relative to the peer group data. After
these constderations, in fiscal year 2008 the Committee granted our named executive officers stock options
to acquire an aggregate of 114,750 shares, or less than 0.4% of our total shares outstanding.

The Committee determined the size of each named executive officer’s stock option after considering
other long-term incentive compensation to be utilized (restricted stock and performance shares), the
executive officer’s relative position, experience, responsibilities and performance, and FWC’s comparative
data for total long-term incentive compensation and total targeted compensation (targeted annual cash plus
targeted long-term compensation), The Committee’s objective was to deliver each executive officer’s total
targeted long-term incentive compensation through stock options, resiricted stock and performance shares
in amounts of roughly equal value (as calculated under FAS 123(R)).

Restricted Stock. We use restricted stock to link executive officer compensation directly to the price of
our cominon stock, but we use it primarily as a retention tool. Restricted stock generally requires continued
employment for three years in order to vest fully; the executive earns greater compensation if our stock
price increases, but is assured of some level of compensation even if our stock price declines. Therefore,
unlike stock options, restricted stock provides some level of deferred compensation, and thus encourages
executive officers to remain with the Company, during economic or market ¢ycles when our stock price
might decline. ’ :

As with stock options, we are sensitive to the dilutive impact and the accounting expense of restricted
stock. Therefore, in determining the number of shares of restricted stock to grant to the named executive
officers, the Commitiee considered the current value of our common stock, various stock dilution analyses,
and share usage and equity compensation practices of FWC’s peer group companies. The Committee also
assessed our named executive officers’ individual and collective equity ownership in our stock relative to
the peer group data. After these considerations, in fiscal year 2008 the Committee granted our named
executive officers an aggregate of 34,000 shares of restricted stock, or approximately 0.1% of our total
shares outstanding.

The Committee determined the size of each named executive officer’s restricted stock grant after
considering other long-term incentive compensation to be utilized (stock options and performance shares),
the executive officer’s relative position, experience, responsibilities and performance, and the FWC’s
comparative data for total long-term incentive compensation and total targeted compensation (targeted
annual cash plus targeted long-term compensation). The Committee’s objective was to deliver each
executive officer’s total targeted long-term incentive compensation through stock options, restricted stock
and performance shares in amounts of roughly equal value.

Long-Term Cash Bonuses. In fiscal year 2005, the Committee implemented a long-term cash bonus
program under our MIP. This program was designed to motivate our named executive officers to achieve
long-term financial objectives consistent with our longer-term business strategies, and to serve as a retention
tool. At the time, the Committee had determined that executive officers’ total cash compensation was
somewhat low relative to the market data it examined, and decided that a long-term cash bonus program
would best address this deficiency. This long-term cash incentive program has comprised of three overlapping
multi-year performance periods, for fiscal years 2005-2007, 2006-2008 and 2007-2009. In fiscal year 2008,
the Committee determined to replace this long-term cash bonus program with a new performance share award
program for the performance period of fiscal years 2008-2010, as discussed below.

In determining the targeted long-term cash bonus for each named executive officer for the fiscal years
2006-2008 performance period, the Committee considered FWC’s comparative data for total targeted long-
term incentive compensation for each executive officer. and other long-term incentive compensation to be
utilized (stock options and restricted stock),

Targeted long-term cash bonuses are expressed as a percentage of annual base salary as of the end of
the first year of the performance period. The CEQO’s targeted cash bonus is 100% of his base salary, and the

18

-
E
=3
>
<
R}
"B
>
m
. -
m
=z
=]




other named executive officers’ targeted cash bonuses.are 60% of their respective base salaries. The
maximum long-term cash bonuses are twice the targeted bonus. The Committee established a higher target
and maximum bonus opportunity for the CEOQ, relative to the other named executive officers, because of
his - position, experience and responsibilities, as well as FWC's comparative data. The Committee
determined to use the same bonus opportunities {as a percentage of base salary) for all other- named
executive officers because it felt that differences in their base salaries were sufficient to distinguish
between their relative positions, experience and responsibilities.

Actual long-term cash bonuses earned by each named executive officer depend on the Company’s
performance relative to pre-determined financial targets established by the Committee. For the {iscal years
2006-2008 performance period, the Committee established objectives for shareholder return relative to the
S&P MidCap 400 Index {weighted 75%) and relative to an .absolute shareholder return target (weighted
25%). The Committee selected these measures of shareholder return in order to link long-term cash
bonuses more directly to shareholder returns. The Committee selected a mix of relative and absolute
measures of shareholder return in order to reward and retain executives who achieve a certain relative
shareholder return and a targeted level of absolute shareholder return. The Committee felt that the
combination of relative and absolute shareholder return objectives would appropriately account for the
effects of any economic cycles during the threc-year period. ,

The Committee determined the relative and absolute shareholder return targets after considering our
historical sharcholder return on an absolute basis as well as in comparison to various market indexes,
including the S&P MidCap 400 Index. The Committee established targets under these relative and absolute
measures of shareholder return that required the Company to meaningfully improve its relative stockholder
return (within the S&P MidCap 400 Index) and achieve an absolute shareholder return equal to the ten-year
average and median annual return of the various indexes, in order for the named executive officers to
receive their targeted long-term cash bonuses. The Committee pre-determined the beginning and end dates
of the performance period, which were Lhe ﬁrst business day of fiscal year 2006 and the last busmeq% day
of fiscal year 2008.

For the fiscal years 2006-2008 performance period, the Company achleved levels of absolute and
relative shareholder return that collectively exceeded the target levels established by the Committee. Under
the Committee’s pre-determined formula based on those financial metrics, actual performance was 126%
of the aggregate weighted targeted level of shareholder return.

Performance Shares. In fiscal year 2008, the Committee decided to replace our long-term cash
incentive program with a long-term performance share program for the performance period covering fiscal
years 2008-2010. Under this program, vested shares of our common stock could be granted after fiscal year
2010 to our named executive officers depending on the Company’s performance relative o a
pre-deterniined earnings per share (“EPS”) target for fiscal year 2010.

The Committee determined that EPS is an appropriate long-term performance measure in light of the
emphasis our investors and the financial community place on this measure, due to its correlation to stock
price. The Committee also determined to pay any earned awards'in stock rather than cash because of the
additional incentive and compensation that delivery of shares would provide if stockholder value i increases

with achlevemenl of a higher EPS,

As with stock options and restricted stock, -we are sensitive to the potential dilutive impact and
accounting expense of performance shares. Therefore, in determining the number of performance shares to
award to the named executive officers, the Committee considered the current value of our common stock,
various stock dilution analyses, and share usage and equity compensation practices of FWC’s peer group
companies. The Committee also assessed our named executive officers’ individual and collective equity
ownership in our stock relative to the peer group data. After these considerations, the Committee awarded
our named executive officers an aggregate of 34,000 targeted performance shares, or approximately 0.1%
of our total shares outstanding, for the fiscal year 2008-2010 performance period.

The Committee determined the size of each named executive officer’s targeted performance share
award for the fiscal years 2008-2010 performance period after considering. other long-term incentive
compensation to be utilized (stock options and restricted stock), the executive officer’s relative position,
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experience, responsibilities and performance, and FWC’s comparative data for total long-term incentive
compensation and total targeted compensation (largeted annual cash plus targeted long-term
compensation). The Committee’s objeclive was to deliver each executive officer’s total targeted long-term
incentive compensation through stock options, restricted stock and performarice shares in amounts of
roughty equal vatue. -

The maximum number of performance shares that could be issued to each named executive officer (if
the maximum specified level of EPS is achieved) is twice the targeted number of performance shares, and
the fewest number of performance shares that could be issued to each executive officer (if the minimum
specified level of EPS is achieved) 1s 30% of the targeted number of performance shares. The Committee
established a higher minimum, target and maximum performance share opportunity for the CEOQ, relative to
the other named executive officers, because of his position, experience and responsibilities, as well as
FWC’s comparative data,

The Committee determined the minimum, target and maximum EPS for fiscal year 2010 after
considering the compound annual growth rate in EPS through fiscal year 2010 that each level would
require and the effect such an EPS should have on shareholder value. The Commitiee established a target
EPS that should be achievable absent a change in overall economic conditions during the three-year
performance period, and established a maximum EPS that would be very difficult to achieve without
extraordinary efforts and results.

Deferred Compensation. Executive officers (other than Mr. Piras, who cannot participate because
he is a resident of Italy) are eligible to participate in our tax-qualified (401(k)) Retirement Plan on the same
terms as all other U.5. employees. However, because it is tax-qualified, the plan is subject to certain
Internal Revenue Code limitations on the dollar amounts of deferrals and Company contributions that can
be made to plan accounts, These limitations apply to our more highly-compensated employees (including
the named executive officers). ' '

in order to compensate these more highly-compensated employees for retirement contributions that
they are not able to make to their 401(k} plan accounts due to Internal Revenune Service limitations, the
Committee established a Supplemental Retirement Plan (“SRP”) under which these employees may make
elective deferrals of certain compensation and will receive unfunded Company contributions equivalent to
what they would have received in their 401(k) plan account were it not for the Internal Revenue Code
limitations on deferrals and Company contributions to their 401(k) accounts.

Account balances (individual deferrals plus Company contributions) are credited quarterly with
imputed interest at a rate determined by the Committee. That rate is currently set at 120% of the long-term
applicable federal rate, compounded quarterly. The Commiuee determined that this rate is an appropriate
market-based rate that also takes into account the inability of participants in the SRP to select how to invest
their deferrals and Company contributions (as they may with their 401(k) plan accounts).

FWC reviewed the SRP and assessed it 1o be comparable to what is generally offered within the peer
group used by FWC for comparative purposes. The Committee considers the SRP to be a reasonable and
appropriate program because it allows the named executive officers to accumulate retirement benefits at a
rate, relative to their overall income, that is comparable to the rate that other employees are able to
accumulate retirement benefits, and promotes executive officer retention by. offering. a deferred
compensation and supplemental retirement plan that is comparable to and competitive with what is offered
by other companies in FWC’s peer group of companies,

As a senior executive of our wholly-owned subsidiary in Italy, Mr. Piras is covered under a national
labor agreement {(“CCNL™) for “Industrial Dirigenti” (industry executives) in ltaly. Under this union
agreement, Mr. Piras and the Company contribute to, and Mr. Piras is eligible to receive supplemental
retirement benefits under, a defined contribution plan (Previndai). In addition, the Company is required
under Italian law to accrue and eventually pay to Mr. Piras a lump-sum amount (TFR} when his
employment terminates (regardless of the reason for that termination). These benefits are described under
the heading Nonqualified Deferred Compensation beginning on page 31 and under the heading Potential
Payments Upon Termination of Employment beginning on page 33.
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Perquisites and Other Personal. Benefits. Our named executive officers are provided with an
automebile that is leased or purchased by the Company (and replaced every three years or 60,000 miles,
whichever occurs first). There is a “cap” on the Company-paid portion of the purchase price for the car,
That “cap” is currently $81,500 for the CEO, €61,000 for Mr. Piras and $62,000 for the other named
executive officers. The Company insures the car under its insurance programs, pays all registration, license,
taxes and other fees on the car, reimburses the executive officer for all gas and maintenance costs on the
car, and reimburses the executive officer for taxes (by way of “gross up”) on income imputed for perscnal
use of the car,

The individual “caps’™ were established by the Committee after considering the type of cars that those
amounts would allow the executive to select and the general rate of inflation on the price of those cars, and
those “caps” vary because the Commitiee determined that they should take into account the executive
officer’s relative position and responsibilities (and, in the case of Mr. Piras, the relative cost in local
| currency of a comparable vehicle in Italy).

| For our named executive officers who frequently drive on business (for example between our two
facilities in Northern California), use of a Company-provided car serves a business purpose. Executive
officers’ use of a Company-provided car is otherwise a perquisite that the Committee has determined is
reasonable and consistent with FWC’'s comparative data, and reasonable in the context of the overall
compensation levels of our named executive officers.

Termination of Employment Arrangements.

In the Event the Company Terminates Employment. Other than Mr. Piras and except for certain
circumstances relating to a change in control of the Company (both discussed below), none of our named
executive officers have an employment agreement or termination of employment arrangement. instead,
those named executive officers are employed “at will”, which means that the Company may terminate their
employment at any time with or without cause and without advance notice. Therefore, other than in the
context of a change in control of the Company, those named executive officers may receive only the same
severance benefit as would be provided to other salaried (“exempt”) U.S. employees, under a discretionary
severance plan, if their employment is terminated by the Company as part of a “reduction in force™. That
severance benefit is four weeks of base pay plus one week of base pay for each full year of service beyond
four years.

Mr. Piras is entitled 1o certain employment protections and severance benefits under the CCNL (the
national labor agreement described above) and Italian law. These protections and benefits are described
under the heading Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment beginning on page 33. Mr. Piras
is provided with no more employment protections or severance benefits than are required under the CCNL
or Italian law (except under his change in control agreement, which is discussed below).

Retirement, Death and Disability Arrangements. 1f a named executive officer retires (as. defined
pursuant to our retirement policies applicable to other employees in the same location), dies or becomes
disabled, his or her outstanding incentive compensation will be treated as follows (which in each case is the
| same as for other employees participating in the same incentive compensation programs):

* Any unvested stock options granted during or prior to fiscal year 2007 will vest in full, and any
' unvested stock options granted in fiscal year 2008 will vest in full if the retirement, death or
disability occurs at least one year after the grant date (if not, only a pro rata portion of the unvested
stock option will vest) — and such stock options will be exercisable for three yeafs following the
date of retirement or disability (unless the option term ends sooner) and for three years following
the date of death regardless of the option term;

* Any unvested restricted stock granted in fiscal year 2006 will terminate without vesting, any
‘ unvested restricted stock granted in fiscal year 2007 will vest in full, and any unvested restricted
stock granted in fiscat year 2008 will vest in full if the retirement, death or disability occurs at least
one year after the grant date (if not, only a pro rata portion of the unvested restricted stock will
vest);

« A pro rata amount of any annual cash bonus earned for the fiscal year in which the retirement. death
or disability occurs (calculated on the basis of the actual results for that year, as determined by the
Committee after the year) will be paid;
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* The full amount of any long-term cash bonus earned for any long-term performance period pending
when the retirement, death or disability occurs (calculated on the basis of the actual results for that
period, as determined by the Committee after the period) will be paid; and

* Any unvested performance shares granted for the fiscal years 2008-2010 performance period will
vest in full if the retirement, death or disability occurs at least one year afier the grant date (if not,
only a pro rata portion of the unvested performance shares will vest), calculated on the basis of
actual results for that period, as determined by the Committee after the period.

The Committee considers these terms relating to retirement, death or disability to be reasonable and
customary. Some of these terms were recently established by the Committee, based on FWC’s
recommendations, in order to minimize the incentive for an executive officer or other key employee who is
eligible for retirement to time their retirement at the end of the calendar year when incentive compensation
vests or becomes payable, ensure that an executive officer or other key employee eligible for retirement
does not receive the full benefit of incentive compensation unless he or she remains for at least one year,
encourage executive officers and other key employees to remain with the Company long enough 10 become
eligible for retirement, and provide additional death and disability benefits reflecting the executive officer’s
incentive compensation (which compensation may not be fully addressed under our standard life and
disability benefit programs). Only two of our named executive officers are currently eligible for retirement
— Mr. Rogerson and Mr, Piras. :

Change in Control Agreements, We have entered into a change in control agreement with each of our
named executive officers. These agreements provide certain severance benefits in the event of a change in
control of the Company, such as a tender offer or merger resulting in the Company being acquired by
another company, that results in the termination of the executive’s employment or a material change in his
or her responsibilities, compensation or work location. The Committee and our Board of Directors believe
that the prospect of such a change in control would likely result in our executive officers facing personal
uncertainties and distractions from how a change in controi might affect them. The Commiitce and our
Board therefore determined to offer change in control agreements to our named executive officers that
would allow them to focus solely on the best interests of our stockholders in the event of a possible,
threatened or pending change in control, and encourage them to remain with the Company despite the
possibility that a change in control might affect them adversely. These change in control agreements
therefore serve as an important retention tool and ensure that personal uncertainties do not dilute our
executive’s complete focus on promoting stockholder value,

The change in control agreements with our named executive officers accomplish this by providing for
reasonable severance benefits in the event that a change in control of the Company occurs and within
I8 months thereafter the executive officer’s employment is terminated without cause or the executive
officer resigns due to a material change in responsibilities, compensation or work location, The primary
severance benefit is a lump-sum cash payment calculated from a multiple of the executive officer’s annual
cash compensation. That multiple, which ranges from 2.5 to 2.99, was determined by the Committee based
on FWC’s comparative data. See page 34 (under the heading Change in Control Agreements) for more
details on these change in control agreements.

FWC reviewed our change in control agreements as part of its overall executive compensation review,
and provided the Committee with a competitive comparison and assessment. Based on this review, the
Committee recommended and the Board approved (in fiscal year 2008) amendments to these agreements so
that they are no more or less competitive than what was indicated by FWC’s comparative data.

Other Compensation-Related Policies and Practices

Stock Ownership Guidelines. The Committee adopied in February 2004 stock ownership guidelines
for our named executive officers, in order to further align their personal interests with those of
stockholders. Under these guidelines, our CEQ is expected to hold shares of our stock (which include
unvested restricted stock but not stock options) with a market value egual to three times his annual base
salary. The other named executive officers: are expected to hold shares of our stock with a market value
equal to their respective annual base salartes. Qur named executive officers have five yvears from when they
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first become subject to these guidelines to achieve these levels of stock ownership. The current value of
stock holdings (including restricted stock and targeted performance shares) of each of our named executive
officers exceeds their applicable stock ownership guideline,

Stock Option and Restricted Stock Approval and Grant Practices and Procedures. Since we
became a separate company in 1999, all stock options and restricted stock have been approved by one of
two committees of our Board of Directors — the Compensation Committee for grants to executive officers,
and the Stock Committee for grants to other employees. Grants by the Stock Committee (comprised of our
CEO and our non-executive Chairman of the Board) are pursuant to specific delegations of authority from
i the Compensation Committee, which delegations include individual grant limits, aggregate grant limits and
specification of grant terms.

Stock options approved by these Committees have always been subject to a requirement that they be
granted not earlier than the date of approval and with an exercise price that is not less than the fair market
value (as defined the Omnibus Stock Plan) on the date of grant. Prior to September 2006, the
Compensation Committee on rare occasions, and the Stock Committee as a regular practice, approved
grants by unanimous written consent of the Committee. These commitiees adopted new procedures in
September 2006 whereby all stock option and restricted stock approvals are, except in rare and special
circumstances, approved only in an actual meeting of the Committee, which meetings are held once each
quarter, In those unusual circumstances where it is decided that an approval will be made by unanimous
written consent, the approval will not be considered made until the final signed written consent is received
by the Committee’s Secretary.

Although the Commiuee does not have a formal policy against approving or granting stock options or
restricted stock during periods when the Committee or our management are in possession of material,
non-public information (e.g., during our quarterly “black-outs™ on trading in Company stock}, as a matter
of practice the regular meetings of the Compensation Committee and the Stock Committee at which they
approve stock option and restricted stock grants are held after we have publicly announced our quarterly
financial results.

Except in the case of a promoted or new executive officer, stock option and restricted stock grants to
executive officers are approved and made annually at the same time that annual grants are made to other
key employees, typically in November or December after the public announcement of our fourth fiscal
quarter (full year) financial resulis.

Tax Considerations. Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally limits a company’s
ability to deduct for tax purposes compensation in excess of $1,000,000 paid in any single tax year to the
chief executive officer or any of the next three most highly compensated executive officers other than the
CFO, unless that compensation is deemed to be performance-based in accordance with Section 162(m). Our
Omnibus Stock Plan and Management Incentive Plan are designed and approved by stockholders so that
incentlive compensation may be performance-based in accordance with Section 162(m), and most of our
incentive compensation programs for executive officers are structured to preserve tax deductibility under
Section 162(m). However, the Committee considers it essential to structure a compensation program that will
attract, retain, motivate and reward executives with the experience, skills and proven ability to maximize
stockholder retums. Accordingly, the Committee considers the tax deductibility of executive officer
compensation programs, but has chosen to approve certain compensation that has limited tax deductibility
under Section 162(m) where such compensation serves the Committee’s compensation objectives.

In particular, the Committee has granted restricted stock that was not granted and will not vest based
on pre-determined performance objectives meeting the requirements of Section 162(m). Therefore, for cach
named executive officer, the value of that restricted stock when it vests will count toward the $1,000,000
deductibility limit under Section 162(m). The Committee determined that restricted stock is nonetheless a
valuable retention tool and important component of the overall compensation program for our named
executive officers. The Committee also determined that it is appropriaie to establish individual
performance objectives for our pamed executive officers other than the CEO, and to subjectively assess
performance relative to those objectives, for purposes of determining annual cash bonuses. This means that
annual cash bonuses to these executive officers will count toward the $1,000,000 deductibility limit under
Section 162(m).
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These elements of compensation that are not qualified under Section 162(m} will only be
non-deductible to the Company if, as to any particular named executive officer, the total amount of that
compensation, when combined with that executive’s salary and imputed income for certain benefits,
exceeds $1,000,000 in any given vear.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT®

The Compensation Committee reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis included in this Proxy Statement. Based on those reviews and discussions, the
Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be
included in this Proxy Statement.

Elizabeth E. Tallett (Chairman)
Richard U. De Schutter James T. Glover
John G. McDonald Wayne R. Moon

) The information contained in this Compensation Committee Report shall not be deemed to be
“soliciting material”, “filed” or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates
that information by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange
Act of 1934.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Provided below is certain information on compensation camed by the Company’s executive offtcer,
jprincipal financial officer and three other most highly compensated executive officers and on compensatory
arrangements with those executive officers (our “named executive officers”) during fiscal years 2008 and 2007.

[ Summary Compensation Table
| Change in
Pension Value
and
) Nonqualified
| Non-Equity Deferred
I Stock Option  Incentive Plan Compensation  All Other
Salary  Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation  Total

: Name and Principal Position ~ Year $) ($n (M (LI 3y ($y= %)
;Garry W. Rogersen ......... 2008 $703,297 $1,033,001 $ 864,511 51,308,299 $2.288 $170,281] $4,081.677
! President and Chief 2007 $606,924 $1,069.669 $1.863,648 3$1.443,650 — $121,489  $5.105.380
! Executive Officer

G. Edward McClammy ... ... 2008 $352,885 $ 438264 § 566,782 § 476,008 — $ 86,262  $1.920,261
Senior Vice President 2007 $332478 $ 195013 3 379894 5 570,204 — § 68822 315346411
and Chief Financizl .

Officer

Martin O'Donoghue . ....... 2008 $329.056 § 244998 § 465550 3% 410,193 — $ 77723 $1,527.520
Senior Vice President, 2007 $297905 § 166,765 $ 484,671 % 481,073 — $ 61909  $1.492.323
Sctentific Instruments ‘

Sergio Piras® ... ..., 2008 $371.075 § 276,717 § 244945 § 442,528 — $342,524  $1,677.789
Senior Vice President, 2007 $314.669 § 285587 § 344511 § 547,227 _ $120.857  $1,612.851
Vacuum Technologies

A, W, Homan ............. 2008 $302.630 $ 244998 § 356,828 § 405941 — $ 90482 51400879
Senior Vice President, 2007 $284.241 § 166,765 § 346,190 § 486,760 — $ 78337  §1.362.,293
General Counsel and
Secretary

h Consists of restricted stock granted under our Ommibus Stock Plan. These amounis do not reflect compensation actually received.

Rather, these amounts represent the aggregate expense recognized by the Company for financial statement reporting purposes in fiscal
years 2008 and 2007 in accordance with FAS 123(R) for restricted stock granted in fiscal years 2005 through 2008. The amounts
shown for Mr. Rogerson and Mr. Piras reftect that they were eligible for retirement during fiscal years 2008 and 2007 and the amount
shown for Mr. McClammy reflects that he will become eligible for retirement in fiscal year 2009, which increased the amounts reported
since retirement would result in acceleration of all unvested restricted stock. The assumptions used to calculate the value of these
restricted stock grants are set forth in Note 13 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in cur Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year 2008, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2008, and Note 14 of the Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2007, filed with the SEC on November 21, 2007.

received. Rather, these amounts represent the aggregate expense recognized by the Company for financial statement reporting
purposes in fiscal years 2008 and 2007 in accordance with FAS 123(R) (but disregarding for this table the estimate of forfeitures
related to service-based vesting conditions), for stock options granted in fiscal years 2004 through 2008. The amounts shown for
Mr. Rogerson and Mr. Piras reflect that they were eligible for retirement during fiscal years 2008 and 2007 and the amount shown for
Mr. McClammy reflects that he will become eligible for retirement in fiscal year 2009, which increased the amounts reported since
retirement would result in acceleration of all unvested options. The assumptions used to calculate the value of these stock options are
set forth in Note 13 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal
year 2008, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2008, and Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2007, filed with the SEC on November 21, 2007.

|
|
\
¢ Consists of nongualified stock options granted under our Omnibus Stock Plan, These amounts do not reflect compensation actually
I
1
!

——t-:— —_—  ——

Consists of the following cash bonuses paid under our Management Incentive Plan (the “MIP”) for the performance periods indicated:
Performance Period
Annual Long-Term

Name Fiscal Year 2008 Fiscal Years 2006-2008%
Garry W.ROZETSON ..ot it v e e $614,859 $693,440

G, Bdward McClammy ... ... $231,392 $244,676

Martin O'Donoghue . .. ..ot i e $202,691 $207,502

Sergio Piras . ..o s $216,862 $225,666

AW HOMAN | et i e e $198,439 $207.502

@ For an explanation of the material terms of this annual cash bonus under our MIP, see footnote (1) to the Grants of Plan-Based
Awards table on page 27.

%  For an explanation of the material terms of this long-term cash bonus award under our MIP, sce the explanation under the
heading Long-Term Cash Bonuses beginning on page 18 in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis.
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Performance Period

Annual Long-Term
Name Fiscal Year 2007  Fiscal Years 2005-2007
Gamy W, ROZEISON L.\ttt i e e e e i $1,165,500 $278.150
G. Edward McClamimy ... ... . i e $ 466,398 $103.806
Martin O’'Donoghue ... ... . e $ 394,290 $ 86.783
Serglo PIras ... .. e e $ 436,525 $110,702
AW HOMAD ..o e $ 399977 $ 86,783

Consists only of Mr. Rogerson's pension entitlement under the Varizn Limited Pension & Life Assurance Plan (further described
under the heading Pension Benefits beginning on page 31). No amount is reported for Mr. Rogerson for fiscal year 2007 because
there was a negative change of £1,200 (equal to $2,472, at an exchange rate of $2.06/£1.00) in the value of Mr, Rogerson's
pension entitlement during that year.

Consists of the following amounts for fiscal year 2008:

Company- Reimbursement
Matching ‘ . of Taxes
Contributions Company {*Gross-Up™)
to Tax- . Contributions Aggregate on Imputed
Qualified to Incremental Income for
401(k) Nonqualified - Cost for Personal Use of
Defined Defined Company- Company-
Contribution Contribution Leased Leased
Name Plan® Planst®t Automobile'® Automobile Otheri®
Garry W. Rogerson ............ $12.669 $114,150 $29.905 $13,557 —
G. Edward McClammy ......... $13.312 § 41,174 $19.823 $11,953 —
Martin O’Donoghue ........... $13.457 $ 34417 $17.979 $11,870 . —
SergioPiras ......... ... iu — $114,182 546,212 — $182,130
AW Homan ................ $13,464 $ 33.047 $27.408 $16,563 —

@ The named executive officers (other than Mr. Piras, because he is not a U.8. resident) are eligible to participate in this plan
and receive Company-matching contributions {subject to certain IRS limitations) on the same terms as other eligible U.S.
employees.

i Consists of certain amounts described and also reported under the heading Nongualified Deferred Compensation beginning
on page 32.

) Consists of the Company’s total incremental cost of providing to the named executive officer a Company-leased or
-purchased car (including reimbursement of all gas and maintenance costs), which the executive officer may use for both
business and personal travel. To the extent the car is used for business travel, providing the car serves a business purpose and
does not provide a personal benefit. However, because executive officers are not required w separately record their business
and personal use of the car, the total incremental cost of providing the car is reported here as a personal benefit.

@ The amount reported for Mr. Piras consists of $17.973 in Company-paid premiums for supplemental medical, disability and
life insurance: $6.471 in supplemental per diem compensation for business travel: and $157,686 for previously accrued and
unused vacation time, which amount was paid to Mr. Piras in fiscal year 2008 (and’would vtherwise have been paid to him
upon termination of his employment). These amounts were incurred or paid because Mr. Piras is employed by our wholly-
owned subsidiary and resides in ltaly, and as a senior executive in haly is covered under a national lubor agreement
{*CCNL"} for “Indusinial Dirigenti” (industry executives) in Ialy that requires these compensatory arrangements.

Because Mr. Piras is emploved by our wholly-owned subsidiary and resides in Italy, his compensation other than equity-based
compensation is paid in Euros. The amounts reported in this table for Mr. Piras are converted from Euros to U.S. Dollars using an
exchange rate on or about the payment dates for such amounts (which exchange rates ranged from $1.29 /€1.00 10 $1.39 /€1.00
for fiscal year 2008 and from $1.26/€1.00 to $1.48/€1.00 for fiscal year 2007).
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table shows all plan-based awards granted to our named executive officers during fiscal

year 2008. The stock option, restricted stock and performance share awurds shown in this table are also
reported in the Quistanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End table on page 29, and certain of these
awards are also shown in the Summary Compensation Table on page 25.

Glfams of Plan-Based Awards

Fiscal Year 2008
All
Crther Al Other
Stock  Option Grant
W R . Awards: Awards:  Exercise Date Fair
Estimated ll}rﬂs[:?le Payouls hsllmatedlf:dl::e Payouts Number Number o Base Vglue of
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Equity Incentive Plan of  of Price  Stock
Awnards "Awards\d Shares  Securities of and
of Stock Underlying Option  Option
Grant Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum or Units  Options  Awards  Awards
Name Date  Period (§) ($) 5 #) w #y #yw (§/5h) (5
Garry W, .
Rogerson . ... 911407 2008 $207.000  3690,000 $1.380.000
11/8/07 2008-2010 4500 15000 30,000
127707 2008 15,000 45000  $69.44 352,092,800
G. Edward
McClammy ... 9/11/07 2008 S 58,426 $259670 $ 649.176
11/8/07 2008-2010 1,500 5,000 10,000
1277707 2008 : 5,000 16,000 $69.44 3 720,960
Martin
O'Doneghue ., %1107 2008 $ 54,481  $242.135 § 605339
1I/8/07 2008-2010 1,500 5000 10,000
127007 2008 5.000 25000  $69.44 § 931,200
Sergio Pims ... 91/07 2008  § 57.986® $2577176)5 644,293
1B 2008-2010 1,200 4,000 8,000
127707 2008 4,000 12750 $69.44 $ 575,600
A.W_Homan .. 91107 2008 $ 50,105 $222,690 $ 556,725
11/8/07 2008-2010 1,500 5.000 10000 ’
127707 2008 5,000 16000  369.44 $ 720,960

iy

These are cash bonus awards under our Management Incentive Plan (the “MIP”). Under these awards, the named executive
officers were eligible to receive a cash payout depending upon Company andfor business segment performance relative to
pre-determined targets for pre-defined measures of revenue, return on sales ("ROS") and operating cash flow (operating cash
flow divided by net income. “Cash Flow"} for fiscal year 2008. For the execulive officers other than Mr. Rogerson. the
Committee also established individual operational objectives for fiscal year 2008 that could have resulted in a determination by
the Committee to increase individual payouts otherwise earned (based on revenue, ROS and Cash Flow) by up to 25% (subject to
the maximum award permitted under the Plan) or decrease individual payouts by up to 25%. The amounts shown in the Threshold
‘column are those that would have been paid if the exact minimum or threshold levels of revenue, ROS uand Cash Flow established
by the Committee had been achieved, and assume that those amounts were then reduced by the maximum 25% for performance
relative 1o the individual operational objectives; these amounts equal 309% of annual base salary in the case of Mr. Rogerson and
approximately 17% of annual base salary in the case of the other named executive officers (in each case, annual base salary at the
end of fiscal year 2008). The amounts shown in the Target column are those that would have been paid if the exact targeted levels
of revenue, ROS and Cash Flow established by the Committee had been achieved, and assume that those amounts were not then
adjusted for performance relative (o the individual operational objectives: these amounts equal 100% of annual base sulary in the
case of Mr. Rogerson and 75% of annual base salary in the case of the other nuned executive officers, The.amounts shown in the
Muaximum column are those that would have been paid if the maximum fevels of revenue, ROS and Cash Flow established by the
Committee had been achieved or exceeded. and assume that those amounts were then increased by the maximum 25% for
performance relative to the individual operational objectives: these amounts equal 200% of annual base salary in the case of
Mr. Rogerson and 187,5% of annual base salary in the case of the other named executive officers. If the revenue, ROS and Cash
Flow had not at least equaled the minimum (threshold} 1argeted levels, no payout would have been earned. Even if the maximum
payout had otherwise been earned, the amount payable would have been reduced if the aggregate payouts under the MIP to all
participants for fiscal year 2008 would have exceeded 8% (before incentive compensation) of the Company’s earnings before
interest and taxes (“EBIT™) for fiscal year 2008: if this limit would have been exceeded. all annual MIP payouts would have been
reduced on a pro-rata basis. In addition, regardless of actual performance relative to the pre-determined targets and objectives. the
Committee retained discretion to reduce or eliminate any amount that otherwise would be payable. An otherwise eamed and
approved MIP payout would only have been made if the named executive officer was employed on the payment date approved by
the Committee (although, in the cases of Messrs. Rogerson and Piras, a pro rata award based on actual results would have been
made had they retired during fiscal year 2008, since both were eligible for retirement during fiscal year 2008 under the
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Company's retirement policy). The amounts reported in this table are “estimated future payouts” as they existed at the time the
award was made; the actual cash payouts to each executive officer are included in the amounts reported in the Summary
Compensation Table on page 25 and are further described in footnote (3) to that table,

These are shares of the Company's common stock that may be issued and vest after fiscal year 2010 under performance shares
granted under our Omnibus Stock Plan. Under these performance shares, the named executive officers are cligible to receive
shares of common stock following fiscal year 2010 depending upon Company performance rclative te a pre-determined target for
earnings per share (“EPS™) for fiscal year 2010. The number of shares shown in the Threshold column are those that will be
issued and vested if the exact minimum or threshold level of EPS established by the Committee is achieved, The number of
shares shown in the Targer column are those that will be issued and vested if the exact targeted level of EPS established by the
Committee is achieved, The number of shares shown in the Maximum column are those that will be issued and vested if the
maximum level of EPS established by the Committee is achieved or exceeded. If the EPS does not at least equal the minimum
(threshold) targeted level, no shares will be issued. An otherwise earned and approved issuance of shares will only be made if the
named executive officer is employed on the issuance date approved by the Committee {except in the event of termination of

. employment due to death, disability or qualifying retirement, in which case all shares actually carned based on fiscal year 2010

performance will be issued and vest following fiscal year 2010 if the employment so terminates after fiscal year 2008, or a pro
rata portion of such shares actually earned based on fiscal year 2010 performance will be issued and vest following fiscal year
2010 if the employment so terminates during fiscal year 2008). Dividends, if any, will only be paid on any actual shares issued
pursuant (0 these performance shares. Payment of taxes relating to the issuance of actual shares will be satisfied by withholding a
portion of the shares, unless the Company requires or otherwise permils the recipient to make allernative arrangements
satisfactory to the Company.

These are restricted shares of the Company’s common steck granted under our Omnibus Stock Plan. Assuming continued
employment, these restricted shares will vest in three equal annual installments over three years from the grant date (exeept in the
event of termination of employment due to death, disability or qualifying retirement. in which case all such shares will vest on the
date that employment so terminates if such termination occurs on or after the first anniversary of the grant date, or & pro rata
portion of such shares will vest on the date that employment so terminates if such termination occurs before the first anniversary
of the grant date). Dividends, if any. are paid on such shares while subject 1o restrictions. Payment of taxes relating to the
issuance of actual shares will be satisfied by withholding a portion of the shares, unless the Company requires or otherwise
permits the recipient 1o make alternative arrangements satisfactory to the Company.

These are shares of the Company’s common stock that may be acquired by exercise of nonqualified stock options granted under
our Omnibus Stock Plan. Assuming continued employment. these stock options will vest in three equal annual installments over
three years from the grant date (except in the event of termination of employment due {o death, disability or gqualifying retirement,
in which case all of such option will vest on the date that employment so terminates if such termination occurs on or after the first
anniversary of the grant date, or a pro rata portion of such option will vest on the date that employment so terminates if such
termination occurs before the first anniversary of the grant date). These stock options have an exercise price equal to or greater
than the closing market price per share of the Company’s common stack on the grant date and expire no later than ten years after
the grant date (except in the event of death, in which case they expire three years after the date of death). Payment of taxes due
upon exercise and. at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors, payment of the
exercise price may be made by delivery of already-owned shares.

These amounts do not reflect compensation actually received. Rather, these amounts represent the grant-date fair value calculated
in accordance with FAS 123(R). The assumptions used to caiculate the vatue of these restricted stock and stock option grants are
set forth in Note 13 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal
year 2008, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2008.

These amounts reported for Mr. Piras are converted from Euros 16 U.S, Dollars using an exchange rate on the last day of fiscal
year 2008, which exchange rate was $1.39/ €1.00.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS

The following table shows all outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers at the

end of fiscal year 2008 (which ended on October 3, 2008). Certain of the stock option and restricted stock
awards shown in this table (those granted in fiscal year 2008) are also reported in the Grants of Plan-Based
Awards table on page 27. '

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

Fiscal Year 2008
Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Equity Incentive
Incentive Plan
Plan Awards:
Awards:  Market
Number or Payout
of Value of
Unearned Unearned
) - Market Shares,  Shares,
Number of  Number of Numher of Value of Unitsor Units or
Securities Securities Shares or Sharesor  Other Other
Underlying  Underlying Units of Units of Rights . Rights
Unexercised Unexercised Option Stock That  Stock That  That That
Options Options Exercise = Option Have Not Have Not Have Not Huve Not
[£53) # Price Expiration’ Vested Vested Vested Yested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable - ($) Date # o (&3] (S
Garry W. Rogerson ... ... 99,000 0 $38.14 111072013 11,0000 $448.250 4,5000 $183,375
60,0000 30,000 $42.51 1171072012 6,328 $257.866

20,000 40,000 $45.04  12/04/2016 9.85208  $401.469
0D 45,000 $69.44  12/07/2017

G. Edward McClammy . .. 30,000 0 $38.14 11/1072013 4,00018! $163.000 1,50000 § 61,125
1,656 LY $36.18 1171172011 3,800 $154.850 )
20,0001 10,000 %4251 11102012 500000 $203.750
6,667 13,333 $45.04  12/04/2016 -
015 16,000 $69.44  12/07/2017
Martin O'Donoghue ... 5,000 0 $38.14 11/10/2013  4,000® $163,000 1,500041 § 61,125
25,000 0 $41.88 05/10/2014 3.800 $154,850

20,0004 10,000 $42.51 11/1072012 500000 $203,750
10,000t 20,000 $45.04  12/0472016

0 25,000 $69.44  12/G7/2017
SergioPiras . ........... 16,6673 8,333 $42.51 1171072012 3.000® $122.250 120010 § 48,500
& 11,333 $45.30 12/0472016 3.066% $124.940
0 12,750 $69.44  12/07/2017 40000100 $163,000
A.W.Homan .......... o3 10.000 $42.51 11710/2012 4,000 $163.000 1,50010 % 61,125
6,667 13,333 $45.04 12/04/2016 3,800 $154.850

m

@

3

)

)

0}

(o))

05 16,000 $69.44  12/07/2017 500000 $203,750

Amounts shown are based on the closing per share price of the Company's common stock on Qctober 3, 2008, the last day of
fiscal year 2008, which price was $40.75.

“This stock option was granted on November 10, 2003, and vested in three equal annual installments over three years from that
date.

This stock option was granted on November 10, 2005, and vested in three equal annual installments over three years from that
date.

This stock option was granted on December 4, 2006, and assuming continued employment vests in three equal annual
installments over three years from that date (except in the event of termination of employment due to death. disability or
qualifying retirement, in which case all such shares will vest on such the date that employment so terminates).

This stock option was granted on December 7, 2007, and assuming continued employment vests in three equal annual
installments over three years from that date (except in the event of termination of employment due to death. disability or
gualifying retirement, in which case all such shares will vest on such the date that employment 5o terminates).

This stock option was granted on November 11, 2004, and vested in three equal annual installments over three years from that
date.

This stock option was granted on May 10, 2004, and vested in three equal annual installments over three years from that date.
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®  These restricted shares were granted on November 10, 2003, and vested on the third anniversary of that date.

9 These sestricted shares were granted on December 4, 2006, and assuming continued employment vest in three equal annual
installments over three years from that date {except in the event of termination of employment due to death, disability or
qualifying retirement, in which case all such shares will vest on the date employment so terminates).

(0 These restricted shares were granted on December 7, 2007, and assuming continued employment vest in three equal annual
installments over three years from that date {except in the event of termination of employment due to death, disability or
qualifying retirernent. in which case all such shares will vest on the date employment so terminates).

ah  These targeted performance share awards were granted on November 8, 20007. Shares actually earned (based on Company
performance refative to a pre-determined target for eamings per share (“EPS™) for fiscal year 2010} will be issued and vest
following fiscal year 2010. The number of shares shown is the threshold or minimum number of shares of that will be issued and
vested if the exact minimum or threshold level of EPS established by the Committee is achieved. An otherwise eaned and
approved issuance of shares will only be made if the named executive officer is employed on the issuance date approved hy the
Committee {except in the event of termination of employment due to death, disability or qualifying retirement, in which case all
shares actually earned based on fiscal year 2010 performance will be issued and vest following fiscal year 2010 if the
employment so terminates after fiscal year 2008, or a pro rata portion of such shares actually earned based on fiscal year 2010
performance will be issued and vest following fiscal year 2010 if the employment so terminates during fiscal year 2008). These
performance share awards are further described under the heading Granis of Plan-Based Awards beginning on page 27.

r

OPTIONS EXERCISED AND STOCK VESTED

The following table shows all stock options that were exercised and all restricted stock that was
vested, and the aggregate values that were realized on those exercises and vestings, for each of the named
executive officers during fiscal year 2008 (which ended on October 3, 2008).

Options Exercised and Stock Vested

Fiscal Year 2008
Option Awards Stock Awards
Number Number
of Shares Value of Shares Value
Acquired Realized Acquired Realized
on on on on
Exercise Exercise Vesting - Vesting
Name : # ($yn (#) ($yn
Garry W ROBeIson . ... i 84,000  $2,372213 16334 $1,122,800
G.Edward McClammy .. ... ... ... i 64,344  $2,070,207 5250 § 360,934
Martin O’Donoghue ... ... oo i 21,000 § 549,879 5,250 % 360934
Sergio PITas . .. ... e 44666  §1,350,420 4534 % 311,500
AW Homan ... ... e e 28,000 § 765,130 5250 § 360,934

) The value realized equals the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of
the Company’s common stock on the date of exercise, multiplied by the number of shares acquired by
exercise.of the option.

2 The value realized equals the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of
vesting, multiplied by the number of shares vested.
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PENSION BENEFITS

Except for Mr. Rogerson, none of our named executive officers participates in any defined benefit or
pension plan. Mr. Rogerson participates in the defined benefit (pension) plan described below only because
of his employment with Varian, Ltd., our wholly-owned subsidiary in the UK., from September 1979 to
September 1983. The Varian Limited Pension & Life Assurance Plan, in which Mr. Rogerson is a deferred
participant, provides for pension benefits payable to Mr. Rogerson upon reaching age 65. Pension benefits
are based primarily on his compensation and years of creditable service with Varian Ltd., as specified in
the Plan, The funding policy is consistent with requirements in the U.K.

Pension Benefits

Fiscal Year 2008
Number Payments
of Years Present During
of Value of Last

Credited Accumulated Fiscal

Service Benefits Year
Name Plan Name # ($n- (%)
Garry W. ROZEISON . ......ooiiiiiiiniene s Varian Limited 4 $42,064 50

Pension & Life

Assurance Plan
G.Edward McClammy . ............ . ...t — —
Martin O'Donoghue . ... i _ — — — —
SergioPiras ....... ... . i — —
AW.Homan ........... ... iy — —

(L Mr. Rogerson’s vested pension, payable upon reaching age 65, will be British Pounds (£) 2,517 per
year. The present value of accumulated benefits is valued using assumptions consistent with those
adopted for determining the pension scheme disclosures under FAS 87 (as discussed in Note 11 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for fiscal year 2008, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2008), except that it allows for
retirement at age 65. That present value was £23,900 as of the end of fiscal year 2008, which amount
is converted to U.S. Dollars for purposes of this table using an exchange rate as of the last day of
fiscal year 2008, which exchange rate was $1.76/£1.00.

NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Except for Mr. Piras, all of our named executive officers participate in our Supplemental Retirement
Plan (the “SRP”), which is an unfunded nonqualified defined contribution plan. All amounts contributed or
credited to named executive officers’ SRP accounts (whether through their own deferrals or through
Company contributions) are unfunded general obligations of the Company.

Participants in the SRP may voluntarily elect to defer (subject only to FICA tax) up to 15% of eligible
earnings (salary and cash bonus compensation) to the SRP. Such elections are irrevocable for the tax year
for which the election is made. The Company contributes/credits amounts to named executive officers’
SRP accounts after the executive officer reaches IRS limits on contributions to the Company’s qualified
defined contribution (401(k)) Retirement Plan; no voluntary deferral or contribution is required to be made
by the named executive officer to receive this Company contribution/credit. The Company crediis interest
quarterly to the named executive officer’s SRP accounts, at a rate equal to 120% of the applicable long-
term federal rate, compounded quarterly, for the last month in the quarter for which interest is being
credited.

Distributions under the SRP are generally not permitted until after termination of employment,
although the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, authorize
earlier distributions in the event of an executive officer’s unforeseeable emergency or with a 6% penalty,
but only for amounts contributed, deferred or earmed prior to January 1, 2005 and otherwise in accordance
with the SRP. With respect to amounts contributed, deferred or earned prior to January 1, 2005,
distributions may not be made until after termination of employment, and then must be made lump-sum or
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in quarterly installments for up to five years, in the discretion of the Compensation Committee.. With
respect to amounts deferred, contributed or earned on or after January 1, 2005, distributions to the
executive officer may not be made until six months after termination of emp]oymem and then must be
made lump-sum and otherwise in accordance with the SRP and Internal Revenue Code regulatlons under
Section 409A of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

]

As a senior executive of our wholly-owned subsidiary in Italy, Mr. Piras is covered under a national
labor agreement (“CCNL”) for “Industrial Dirigenti” (industry executives) in ltaly. Under this union
agreement, Mr. Piras is required to contribute to a defined contribution:-plan in Italy (referred' to as
“Previndai”) an amount equal to approximately 4% of his base salary (up to a maximum of €6,000); most
of which is on a tax-deferred basis, which contribution the Company is required to match. Mr. Piras may
elect to contribute up to an additional 2% of his base salary and variable compensation {on an afier-tax
basis). The Previndai plan is administered by third-parties (appointed by Previndai’s governing board), and
Mr. Piras chooses from available investment options how to invest his and the Company’s contributions to
his Previndai plan account. Mr. Piras may receive distributions from his Previndai plan account only after
his employment with the Company terminates and he ceases any other employment (i.e., he fully “retires”).

Under Italian law, the Company is also required (under a government-mandated program, referred to
as “TFR”, for all Italy employees} to accrue and eventually pay to Mr. Piras a lump-sum amount when his
employment terminates (regardless of the reason for that termination). The annual amount required to be
accrued for Mr. Piras’ TFR is equal to his annual base salary plus annual cash bonus and certain other
elements of his compensation, all divided by 13.5. Under Italian law, Mr. Piras may elect to transfer all or a
portion of his TFR entitlement to his Previndai plan account. ' -

The following table shows voluntary participant deferrals, Company contributions/credits and interest
credits to, and the fiscal year-end balances of, SRP accounts for each named executive officer other than
Mr. Piras. The table shows Mr. Piras’ and the Company’s contributions to, and the fiscal year-end balances
of, Mr. Piras’ Previndai plan account and TFR entitlement. e

Nongqualified Deferred Compensation

Fiscal Year 2008
Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate
Contributions  Coniributions  Earnings Balance

In Last £Y In Last FY ImLast FY atLast FYE
Name . HHw T ($)y ($y& ()
Garry W. Rogerson . .........o0iiiiiiiiienns — $114,150  $19.715  $400,620
G.Edward McClammy ........................ — $ 41,174 $12,371  $245,465
Martin O'Donoghue .. ........ ... ... ........ C— $ 34417 $ 7.697 $152,663
Sergio Piras .. ...... T $8,997 114,182 - —  $711,9736
AW. Homan ......... ... ... ... ... cccu..... — $ 33047 % 8548 5168710

' Amounts reported in this column are also reported in the Salary column of the Summary
Compensation Table on page 25.

@ Amounts reported in this column are also included in the amounts reported’in the All Other
. Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table on page 25.

(3  Amounts reported in this column are not considered under SEC disclosure rules as “above-market or
preferential carnings”, and are therefore not included in the Summary Compensation Table on
page 25. No amount is reported for Mr. Piras because the earnings within his Previndai plan account
for the fiscal year are not determinable.

;

@ Amounts reported in this column were previously reported as compensation to the named executive
officers in the Company’s Summary Compensation Tables for previous years.

%  Consists of $8,997 in Company contributions to Mr. Piras’ Previndai plan account and $105 185
accrued by the Company for Mr. Piras’ TFR entitlement (397,827 of which Mr. Piras elected to
transfer to his Previndai plan account). These amounts are converted from Euros to U.S. Dollars using
an exchange rate on or about the time of each contribution and ‘accrual {which exchange rates ranged
from $1.41/€1.00 to $1.59/€1.00).

®  Consists of $478,679 for Mr. Piras’ Previndai plan account and $233 294 for Mr. Piras’” TFR entitlement
(which amounts are converted from Euros to U.S. Dollars using an' exchange rate as of the lml day of
fiscal year 2008, which exchange rate was $1.39/€1.00). -
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Each Agreement provides that-upon termination or resignation under the circumstances described
above, the executive officer be’ paid a pro rata portion of the targeted cash bonus for the fiscal year in
which that termination or resignation occurs, and the full amount of any targeted cash bonus for a multi-
year performance period not yet completed. Each Agreement also provides that all stock options gramed by
the Company become exercisable in full according to their terms; that restricted stock subject 1o vesting
restrictions be released from all such restrictions; and that targeted performance shares for any outstanding
performance period be vested and delivered. Each Agreement further provides that the executive officer
will receive a continuation of all medical, dental, vision, disability and life insurance on the same terms as
if he remained an employee (or equivalent benefits will be provided) until the earlier to occur of
(a) commencement of substantially equivalent full-time employment with a new employer or {b) 24 months
after the date of termination of employment with the Company. v

. : ot ' .o oot

Each Agreemem provides that o the extent the named executive’ officer is a “specified employee”
under final regulations issued under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, any payment or
benefit due to the executive officer will not, to extent subject to such Section 409A, be paid until six
months and one cldy followmg the termination of the executive officer’s employment Each Agreemenl also
providés that in "the event that any payments. and benefits received by the executive ‘officer from the
Company subject that person to an excise tax pursuant to Section 4999 of the lmemal Revenue Code of
1986, the exccutive officer will be entitled to receive an additional payment so as to place the executive
officer in the same after-tax economic. position as if such excise tax had not been imposed. The Agreement
with Mr. McGlammy- also provides that a termination- or resignation occurring under the circumstances
described above will qualify -as a. “retirement” for purposes of the Company’s retirement-related benefits
(i.e., group-retiree medical insurance), even though he -might not yet have reached the age and years of
service otherwise reqmred to be eligible for retirement-related benefits. .+

b . . oot | T . ., ' o
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in quarterly installments for up to five years, in the discretion of the Compensation Committee. With
respect to amounts deferred, contributed or earned on or after January |, 2005, distributions to the
executive officer may not be made until six months after termination of employment, and then must be
made lump-sum and otherwise in accordance with the SRP and Internal Revenue Code regulations under
Section 409A of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004,

As a senior executive of our wholly-owned subsidiary in [taly, Mr. Piras is covered under a national
labor agreement (“CCNL”) for “Industrial Dirigenti” (industry executives) in Italy. Under this union
agreement, Mr. Piras is required to contribute to a defined contribution plan in ltaly (referred to as
“Previndai”) an amount equal to approximately 4% of his base salary (up to a maximum of €6,000), most
of which is on a tax-deferred basis, which contribution the Company is required to match. Mr. Piras may
elect to contribute up to an additional 2% of his base salary and variable compensation (on an after-tax
basis). The Previndai plan is administered by third-parties (appointed by Previndai’s governing board), and
Mr. Piras chooses from available investment options how to invest his and the Company’s contributions to
his Previndai plan account. Mr. Piras may receive distributions from his Previndai plan account only after
his employment with the Company terminates and he ceases any other employment (i.e., he fully “retires™).

Under Italian law, the Company is also required {under a government-mandated program, referred to
as “TFR”, for all Italy employees) to accrue and eventually pay to Mr. Piras a lamp-sum amount when his
employment terminates (regardiess of the reason for that termination}. The annual amount required to be
accrued for Mr. Piras’ TFR is equal to his annual base salary plus annual cash bonus and certain other
elements of his compensation, all divided by 13.5. Under Italian law, Mr. Piras may elect to transfer all or a
portion of his TFR entitlement to his Previndai plan account,

The following table shows voluntary participant deferrals, Company contributions/credits and interest
credits to, and the fiscal year-end balances of, SRP accounts for each named executive officer other than
Mr, Piras. The table shows Mr. Piras’ and the Company’s contributions to, and the fiscal year-end balances
of, Mr. Piras’ Previndai plan account and TFR entitlement.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Fiscal Year 2008

Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate
Contributions Contributions  Earnings Balance

In Last FY In Last FY in Last FY  at Last FYE
Name ($yu (5)(1) Sy (S
Garry W.Rogerson ............cccoiiuiinnann. — $114,150 $19,715  $400,620
G.Edward McClammy ........................ — $ 41,174 $12,371  $245.465
Martin O'Donoghue .......................... — § 34417 $ 7697 $152,663
SergioPiras ....... . ... ... . $8,997 $114,182 —  $711,973@®

AW Homan................... ..o, — § 33,047 § 8548 $168.710

Y Amounts reported in this column are also reported in the Salary column of the Swummary
Compensation Table on page 25.

@ Amounts reported in this column are also included in the amounts reported in the All Other
Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table on page 25.

) Amounts reported in this column are not considered under SEC disclosure rules as “above-market or
preferential carnings”, and are therefore not included in the Summary Compensation Table on
page 25. No amount is reported for Mr. Piras because the earnings within his Previndai plan account
for the fiscal year are not determinable.

“)  Amounts reported in this column were previously reported as compensation to the named executive
officers in the Company’s Summary Compensation Tables for previous years,

% Consists of $8,997 in Company contributions 1o Mr. Piras’ Previndai plan account and $105,185
accrued by the Company for Mr. Piras’ TFR entitlement ($97,827 of which Mr. Piras elected to
transfer to his Previndai plan account). These amounts are converted from Euros to U.S. Dollars using

an exchange rate on or about the time of each contribution and accrual (which exchange rates ranged
from $1.41/€1.00 to $1.59/€1.00).

®  Consists of $478,679 for Mr, Piras’ Previndai plan account and $233,294 for Mr. Piras’ TFR entitlement
(which amounts are converted from Euros to U.S. Dollars using an exchange rate as of the last day of
fiscal year 2008, which exchange rate was $1.39/€1.00).
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PO’I“ENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

The following table shows the potential payments and benefits that the Company would be obligated
to make or provide upon termination of employment of each of our named executive officers. For purposes
of this table, it is assumed that each named executive officer’s employment terminated at the close of
busiﬁess on the last day of our fiscal year 2008 (i.e., on October 3, 2008). The amounts reported below do
not include the pension or nonqualified deferred compensation distributions that would be made to the
named executive officers following a termination of employment (for those amounts and descriptions, see
the information provided under the headings Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
begihning on page 31). '

‘Termination by Company Termination by Executive Termination

Nature of Due to For Any Due to Due to Due to Following

Payment or For Reduction Other Voluntary  Qualifying  Disability Changein

Name Benefit Cause in Force(® Reason' Resigration'® Retirement® or Death  Controk®

Garry W. Rogerson .. ... Severance — § 384,808 — — — — $5,547,945

"'3[ Accelerated Bonus® —  $ 630,000 § 630,000 — $ 630,000 $ 630,000 § 630.000

Accelerated Equity™ —  $1,107.585  $1,107.585 — $1.107.585 $1.107.585 51,107,585

, Welfare Benefits® — — — — — — § 55719

Tax Gross-Up® — — — — . — — —

‘ Total - $2,122393  $1,737,585 — $1,737,585 $1.737,585 $7.341,249

G. Edward McClammy . . Severance — 3§ 59924 e — — — $2,031,563

J Accelerated Bonus'® — — — —_ $ 201686 $ 201,686 $ 201.686

| Accelerated Equity® — — — — $ 521600 $ 521600 § 521,600

| Welfare Benefis® — - S — — —$ 47187

' Tax Gross-Up® — - — — — — —

l Total — § 59924 - — $ 723286 $ 723,286 52.802.036

Marfin O'Donoghue . . . . Severance — § 124072 R — — — 51792843

l Accelerated Bonus® — — -— — $ 184,484 % 184,484 5§ 184,434

Accelerated Equity™ — — — — $ 521,600 § 521,600 § 521,600

I Welfare Benefits® — — — — — — §  29.264

' Tax Gross-Upt” — — - — — - -—

| Total — 124172 - = $ 706084 $ 706,084 $2,528,191

Sergio Piras® ... ... ... Severance — § 3436230mF 34362340 — — — $1.888.319

f Accelerated Bonus® —  § 200,733 § 200,733 — $ 200,733 § 200733 § 200,733

| Accelerated Equity™ —  § 410,190 § 410,150 — $ 410,190 $ 410,190 $ 410,150

| Welfare Benefits® — — - — — — % 21870

Tax Gross-Up® — — — - - — —

’ Total — 5§ 954,546 § 934.546 — $ 610923 $ 610923 $2,521,112

A\IV Homan.......... Severance — § 108,490 - — — — §$1,742,243

! Accelerated Bonus®h — — — —— $ 172963 § 172,963 $ 172,963

| Accelerated Equity? — — — — $ 521.600 $ 521,600 § 521,600

I Welfare Benefus® — — — — — — $ 27422

i Tax Gross-Up® — — — - — _ —

! Toal — % 108,490 — — $ 694,563 $ 694563 $2,464.228
——————

m ; Because Messrs. Rogerson and Piras are eligible for retirement (under the Company’s retirement policies for U.S. and [taly
| employees, respectively), they would be permitted to elect to retire if the Company terminated their employment for any reason
| other than for cause. For Messrs. McClammy, O Donoghue and Homan, the severance amount shown is based on one week of

base pay for each year of service. which is calculated in accordance with the Company’s discretionary “reduction in force™ palicy

for all salaried (“exempt”} U.S. employees.

@ | Because Messrs. Rogerson and Piras are eligible for retirement, a voluntary resignation would be treated as a retirement.

{

|

|

i

) I Messrs. McClammy. O'Donoghue and Homan were not eligible for retirement as of the last day of fiscal year 2008. Information
i is nonetheless provided as if they were.
\
I
I

2)
) | See the narrative description below under the heading Change in Control Agreements.

)| The amounts reported for Mr. Piras are converted from Euros to U.5. Dollars using an exchange rate on the last day of fiscal year
2008, which exchange rate was $1.39/ €1.00.

(h) ! In the event of a termination of employment due to retirement, disability or death, the full amount earned for any long-term cash
| bonus for the fiscal years 2007-2009 long-term performance period will be paid. but calculated on the basis of the actual results
| for that performance period, which actual result is not determinable. In the event of covered termination following a change in
i control, the targeted amount for the fiscal years 2007-2009 long-term performance period will be paid. Therefore. the amount
: reported for each executive officer is the targefed long-term cash bonus for the fiscal years 2007-2009 long-term performance

I

|

I

\

period that was pending as of October 3, 2008.
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@ Cansists of the in-the-money value of certain unvested stock options, the value of certain unvested restricted stock and the valug
of targeted performance shares for the fiscal years 2008-2010 performance period, in each case as of October 3, 2008 at the
closing stock price on that date ($40.75). The value of accelerated stock options are calculated by maliiplying the number of
unvested shares subject 10 acceleration by the difference between the exercise price per share and the closing stock price on
Qctober 3, 2008; the value of accelerated resiricied stock is caleulated by muliiplying the number of unvested shaves subject to
acceleration by the closing stock ‘price on QOctober 3, 2008; and the value of targeted performance shares is calculated by
multiplying the number of rargeted performance shares subject 10 issuance by the closing stock price on October 3, 2008. For
more details, see the footnotes to the Quisianding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End table on page 29.

1 An estimate of what the Company would pay in premiums for continued medical, dental, vision, disability and/or life insurance
for two years after a covered termination of employment tollowing  change in control; the reported amount does not include the
portion of the, premiums that the execulive officer would be required to continue to pay and assumes thai the executive officer
does not commence substantially equivalent employment during those two years.

®  Reimbursement (by way of a tax “gross-up™) for a 20% excise tax. if any, under Section 4999 of the internal Revenue Code of
1986 on any portion of the amounts reported under the column Yermination Following Change in Control.

ao This amount is equal 10 12 months of Mr. Piras’ base salury, which amount would be required (under the CCNL and ltatian law)
to be paid to Mr. Piras in lieu of 12 months’ notice of termination of his employment by the Company. Under the CCNL and
. Italian law, Mr. Piras may claim a termination of his employment by the Company is “wnjustified” and petition an lalian labor
court or arbitration panel to therefore order the Company to pay him an additional amount ranging from 14 months to 22 months
of his base salary plus monthly variable compensation; whether Mr, Pitas could successfully claim a termination is “unjustified”

and if so the amount that a court or panel might order be paid to Mr. Piras ¢annot be determined.

Change in Control Agreements. The Board of Directors has approved Change in Control
Agreements (the “Agreements™) between the Company and the named executive officers which provide for
the payment of specified compensation and benefits upon certain terminations of their employment
following a change in control of the Company. A change in control of the Company is defined in each
Agreement to occur if (a) any individual or group becomes the beneficial owner of 30% or more of the
combined voting power of the Company’s outstanding securities, (b) “continuing directors” {defined as the
directors of the Company as of the date of the Agreement and any successor to any such directors who was
nominated by a majority of the directors in office at the time of his nomination or selection and who is not
associated in any way with an individual or group who is a beneficial owner of more than 10% of the
combined voting power of the Company’s outstanding securities) cease to constitute at least a majority of
the Board of Directors. {c) there occurs a reorganization, merger, consolidation or other corporate
transaction involving the Company in which the Company’s stockholders do not own more than 50% of the
combined voting power of the Company or other corporation resulting from such transaction, or {(d) all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets are sold, liquidated or distributed. In their respective Agreements,
the named executive officers agreed to not voluntarily leave the Company’s employ during a tender or
exchange offer, proxy solicitation in opposition to the Board of Directors or other effort by any party to
effect a change in control of the Company, This is intended 1o assure that management will continue to act
in the best inlerests of the Company’s stockholders rather than be affected by personal uncertainties during
any attempt to effect a change in control of the Company, and to enhance the Company’s ability to attract
and retain executives.

Each Agreement provides that if within 18 months after a change in control the Company terminates
the executive's employment other than by reason of his death, disability, retirement or for cause, or the
executive officer terminates his employment for “good reason,” the executive will receive a lump sum
severance payment equal to 2.99 (in the case of Mr. Rogerson) or 2.5 (in the case of Messrs. McClammy,
O'Donoghue, Piras and Homan) times the executive’s annual base salary and highest annual bonus paid to
him in any of the three years ending prior to the date of termination. “Good reason” is defined in each
Agreement as any of the following that occurs after a change in control of the Company: certain reductions
in compensation; certain material changes in employee benefits and perquisites; a change in the site of
employment; the Company’s failure fo obtain the written assumption by its successor of the obligations set
forth in the Agreement; atiempted iermination of employment on grounds insufficient 1o constitute a basis
of termination for cause under the terms of the Agreement; or the Company’s failure to promptly make any
payment required under the terms of the Agreement in the event of a dispute relating to employment
terroination. In the case of Mr. Rogerson, “good reason” is defined also to exist if he is not appointed as
chief executive officer of the combined or acquiring entity. In the cases of Messrs. McClammy and
Homan, “good reasen” is defined also to exist if they are not given “an equivalent position” as defined in
their Agreements. In the case of Messrs. O’Donoghue and Piras, “good reason” is defined also to exist if
there is a material change in duties and a material reduction in authority and responsibility.
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E Each Agréement provides that upon termination or resignation under the circumstances described
above, the executive officer be paid a pro rata portion of the targeted cash bonus for the fiscal year in
\\)hich that termination or resignation occurs, and the full amount of any targeted cash bonus for a multi-
yédr performance period not yet completed. Each Agreement also provides that all stock options granted by
the Company become exercisable in full according to their terms; that restricted stock subject to vesting
restncuons‘ be released from all such restrictions; and that targeted performance shares for any outstanding
performance period be vested and delivered. Each Agreement further provides that the executive officer
will receive a continuation of all medical, dental, vision, disability and life insurance on the same terms as
1fl he remained an employee (or equivalent benefits will be provided) until the earlier to occur of
(ab commencement of substantially equivalent full-time employment with a néw employer or (b) 24 months
after the date of termination of employment with the Company '

] Each Agreement provides that to the extent the named executive officer is a “specified employee”
under final regulations issued under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, any payment ot
benefit due to the executive officer will not, to extent subject to such Section 409A, be paid until six
months and one day following the termination of the executive officer’s employment. Each Agreement also
provides that in the event that any payments, and benefits received by the’ executive officer from the
Company subject that person to_an excise tax pursuant (o Section 4999 of the Imema] Revenue Code of
1986 the executive officer will be entitled to receive an additional payment so as to place the executive
officer in the same after-tax economic position as if such excise tax had not been imposed. The Agreement
wuh Mr. McClammy: also prowdes that a termination or resignation occurring under the circumstances
descnbed above will qualify as a “retirement” for purposes of the Company’s retirement- related benefits
(i.e., group retiree medical insurance), even though he might not yet have reached the age and years of

|
sewrwce otherwise required 1o be eligible for retirement-related benefits.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related Party Transactions Policy and Procedures

Excluding compensation (whether cash, equity or otherwise), any related party transaction involving a
Company director or executive officer must be reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors. Any member of the Audit Committee who is a related party with respect to a
transaction under review may not participate in the deliberations or vote on the approval or ratification of
the transaction. Related parties include any director or executive officer, certain stockholders and any of
their “immediate family members” (as defined by SEC regulations). To identify any related party
transaction, the Company requires each of director and executive officer to complete each year a
questionnaire requiring disclosure of any transaction in which the director, executive officer or any
immediate family member might have an interest and instructing each director and executive officer to
immediately notify the Company’s General Counsel of any such transaction that arises subsequently during
the year. In addition, the Board of Directors determines on an annual basis which of its directors are
“independent” under the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market and reviews any director relationship that would
potentially interfere with his or her exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of
a director.

Certain Related Party Transactions

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws contain provisions that limit the liability of
directors and require the Company to indemnify directors and executive officers against expenses,
judgments, fines, settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any
proceedings arising out of their services to the Company. Under that Certificate of Incorporation, as
permitted under the Delaware General Corporation Law, directors are not liable to the Company or its
stockholders for monetary damages arising from a breach-of -their fiduciary duty of care as directors. In
addition, the Company has entered into an indemnity agreement with each director and executive officer
that provides for indemnification of the directors and executive officer ugainst certain liabilities that may
arise by reason of their status or service as a director or executive officer. The Company purchases
insurance ,to cover claims or a portion of any claims made against its directors and executive officers.
These provisions and arrangements do not, however, affect liability for any breach of a director’s duty of
loyalty to the Company or its stockholders, liability for acts or omissions not in good faith or involving
intentional misconduct or knowing violations of law. liability for transactions in which the director derived
an improper personal benefit or liability for the payment of a dividend in violation of Delaware law. Such
limitation of liability also does not limit a director’s liability for violation of, or otherwise relicve our
directors or executive officers from the necessity of complying with, federal and state securities laws or
affect the availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission.

Other than these indemnification arrangements and the compensation of directors and named
executive officers as described elsewhere in this Proxy Statement, to the Company’s knowledge there has
not been since the beginning of fiscal year 2008 and there is not currently proposed any transaction in
which the Company was or is to be a participant, in which the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and in
which any direcior. executive officer or 5% stockholder had or will have a direct or indirect material
interest. ) '
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT!!

The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to oversee the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting process and the annual audits and quarterly rewews of the Company’s financial statements, as
further detailed in the Committee’s Charter.

The Company’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Company’s financial statements. as
well as its accounting and financial reporting process and internal controls for compliance with applicable
accounting standards, laws and regulations. The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”), is responsible for performing an independent audit of the
Company’s financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and expressing
an opinion in its report on those financial statements, and for expressing an opinion on the effecuveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing these processes, as well as the
independence and performance of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. The
Audit Committee does not conduct auditing or accounting reviews or procedures. The Audit Commiitee
has relied in undertaking its monitoring and review responsibilities, without independent verification, on
management’s representation that the financial statements have been prepared with integrity and in
conformity with generally accepted accounting procedures in the U.S. and on the independent registered
public accounting firm's representations included in its report on the Company’s financial statements and
in its opinion on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s mtemal control over
financial reporting.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with management the Company’s audited financial
statements for fiscal year 2008. The Committee discussed with the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm, PwC, the matters required to be discussed by the Codification of Statements on
Auditing Standards 61, Communication with Audit Committees (as modified or supplemented). In addition,
the Audit Committee received the written disclosures and the letter from PwC required by
PCAOB Rule 3256. Conmunications with Audit Committees Concerning Independence, discussed with
PwC its independence from the Company, and considered whether the providing of non-audit services to
the Company by PwC is compatible with maintaining PwC’s independence.

Based on these reviews and discussions and in reliance thereon, the Audit Committee recommended to
the Board of Directors that the audited financial statements for the Company be included in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 3, 2008.

Richard U. De Schutter {Chairman)
James T. Glover John Gi. McDonald
Wayne R. Moon : Elizabeth E. Tallett

3 The information contained in this Audit Committee-Report shall not be deemed to be “soliciting
_ material”, “filed” or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates that
information by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act

of 1934,
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COMPANY STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE"

The following graph compares the cumulative total return of the Company’s common stock with the
Standard & Poor’s MidCap 400 Index and an index comprised of public companies using SIC Code 3826
Laboratory Analytical Instruments (the “SIC Code 3826 Index”)®. The comparison covers the period from
the beginning of the Company’s fiscal year 2004 on October 4, 2003 (based on closing stock price on the
previous trading day) through the end of the Company’s fiscal year 2008 on October 3, 2008. The graph
assumes that the value of the investment in the Company’s common stock and in each index on October 4,
2003 was $100, and assumes reinvestment of dividends. The comparisons in this graph are not intended to
represent a forecast of possible future performance of the Company’s common stock or stockholder retutns.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN BETWEEN THE COMPANY,
THE STANDARD & POOR’S MIDCAP 400 INDEX, AND
SIC CODE 3826 LABORATORY ANALYTICAL INSTRUMENTS INDEX
200

150 1
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—— VARIAN, INC. — & — STANDARD & POOR'S MIDCAP 400 INDEX - - @ - SIC CODE 3826 INDEX

October 4, October 1, September 30, September 29, Septemmber 28, October 3,

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Varian,Inc .......... . .. L $100.00 $113.04  3101.69 $13591 518847  $120.74
Standard & Poor’s MidCap 400 [ndex ... $100.00 $117.55 $143.60 $153.02 FI8L.73  $151.42
SICCode 38261Index ................ $100.00 $113.24 $126.27 $143.80 $192.32  $169.04

1  The information contained under this heading Company Stock Price Performance shall not be deemed
to be “soliciting material”, “filed” or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, except to the extent that the Company specifically
incorporates that information by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act of 1933 or
the Exchange Act of 1934,

@ Upen written request of a stockholder, the Company will provide a list of the companies comprising
the SIC Code 3826 Index (which includes the Company). In accordance with SEC rules, the return of
companies included in the SIC Code 3826 Index are weighted according to their respective market
capitalizations at the beginning of each period for which a return is indicated.

By Order of the Board of? Directors

A. W, Homan
Secretary

December 19, 2008
Palo Alto, California
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Board of Directors

Allen J. Lauver*: Chairman of the Board, Varian, Inc.

Garry W. Rogerson®; President and Chief Executive Officer, Varian, Inc.

Richard U. De Schutter: Former Executive Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, DuPont Pharmaceutical Company
James T. Glover'23: Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Financial Officer, Anadys Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

John G. McDonald"#: The Stanford Investors Professor of Finance, Graduate School of Business, Stanford University

Wayne R. Moon'??: Former Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, Blue Shield of California
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STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

Principal Executive Office:  Varian, Inc, 3120 Hansen Way, Palo Alto, California 94304-1030, Telephone 650.213.8000.

Stockholder Relations:  Copies of Varian, Inc's annual report on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q are
available without charge by contacting Investor Relations, Varian, Inc., 312C Hansen Way, M/S D-105,
Palo Alte, California 94304-1030; Telephone 650.424,5471, or at www.varianinc.com. Those reports are
also available on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's EDGAR system at www.sec.gov.

Listing: Varian, Inc. is traded on The Nasdag Giobal Select Market. The trading symbol is VARI.

Transfer Agent and Registrar: Computershare Trust Company, N.A., P.Q, Box 43068, Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3089,
Telephone 800.756.8200, Hearing Impaired Number, TDD 201.222.4955; www.computershare.com.

Stockholder Meeting:  The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held on February 5, 2009, at 6:00 p.m.,
at Varian, Inc,, 3120 Hansen Way, Palo Alto, California 94304-1030.

Stockholders of Record:  There were 2,502 holders of record of the Company's common stock on December 8, 2008,

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The letter to stockholders included in this Annual Report contains forward-locking statements that are based on our current expectations, estimates and projections. These forward-
‘ooking statements are based on management's current expectations, are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks and uncertainties that could cause the
Company's actual results o differ materially fiom the management's cusrent expectaticns and these forward-looking statements, Those sisks and uneertainties inclue those sex forth
in the Form 10-X included in this Annual Report, which should be carefully read. We undertake no special obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether in response 1o
new information, future events or otherwise.

Yariun, the Varian logo, and Inspiring Excellence are trademarks or registered trademarks of Varian, Inc. in the US. and other countries.
© 2008 Varian, Inc.
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